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The subject matter and personalities considered
in the second fascicle were outlined l)y the author
and the greater part written l)y him. It was neces-
sary for the sake of unity, for the editor to make
interpolations and complete the writing of some of
the chapters. It was not practical, even if desirahle,
to differentiate.

The editor realized, that in using Mr. Phillips’ -
notes, direct'quotations might inadvertently be used
without proper aclmowledgments, which would be
very regrettal)le and we hope it has not happened.

The reader should bear in mind that 1941 was
the date set for the ending of the history. Only
occasional foot notes -will record more recent
developments.

Mr. Phillips often spoke of the co-operation of the
School Department and partieularly of the assistance
of Mrs. Florence Chaplow Webb, at the time a clerk
in the office of the Superintendent of Schools. The
editor has sought information and advice from many
individuals, all of whom have given freely of their
time and assistance. Many Imotty prol)]ems were
settled for him l)y Mr. Thomas R. Burrell. To M.
Edward S. Adams, he is much indebted for I(indly
criticism and advice and the painstaking review of
the manuscript on education.

NormaAN S. EASTON,/
, Joint Author and Editor
‘Septeml)er 28, 1944 ’
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FASCICLE 11

THIS PART DEALS WITH THE ECCLESIASTICAL,
EDUCATIONAL, FINANCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL
STRUCTURE OF FALL RIVER.

It includes a sketch of the status of the Pilgrim or State
church, and its relation to the several sects and religious
movements which supp]ementecl it, as well as the increase
in the number of church edifices and the efficiency of chris-
tian influences in our city; it reviews the development of our
modern sectarian and non-sectarian schools and educational
institutions; it cifes the growth and reviews the develop-
ment of our banl(ing facilities and the activities of a few
leading financial men; it discusses the rise and decline of
the cotton industry; it deals with the history of some long
time business firms and gives ‘brief accounts of pub]fc
utilities.

®
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ORIN FOWLER

Ori~x FowLer was Fall River's leading historian. His history of Fall
River, published in 18602, is a classic upon which subsequent historians
must largely rely. He had fitted for and entered Williams College in the
autumn of 1811, but he soon decided to study for a term at Colchester
Academy. He entered the sophomore class of Yale College in 1812. Before
graduating he became a teacher in the Academy at Fairfield, Connecticut
and taught there until 1816, when he decided to devote himself exclusively
to theological studies under the direction of Dr. Humphrey who afterwards
became president of Ambherst College. He was licensed to preach in
October 1817 and after spending a year of missionary labor in Ohio and
other midwestern states, he accepted a call to become a pastor at Plainfield,
Connecticut. He was installed there in 1820 and was married October 16,
1821. In 1831, he was called to preach in Fall River and was installed here
as pastor of the First Congregational Church on July 7th of the same year.

The Rev. Mr. Fowler was much interested in historical matters. In 1841
he delivered three discourses containing an historical sketch of Fall River.
He was asked to defend the interests of Fall River before the boundary
Commissioners (See Fascicle I p. 143) appointed to settle the line between
Massachusetts and Rhode Island, and after an unfavorable decision l)y
the commissioners, he pul)lished a series of papers which were printed in
Boston, in favor of the claims of Massachusetts. The capacity which he
had shown in this series of papers resulted in his election as a Senator of
the Commonwealth in 1847. His influence secured a rejection of the report
of the Commissioners; whereupon he was elected to represent his district
before the Thirty—first Congress in Washington. He was influential in
Washington in securing the passage of a cheap postage bill. In May 1850
he was released from his pastoral charges in Fall River, but he often sup-
plied pulpits while in Washington. In 1852 he was taken seriously ill and
he died on Septeml)er third of the same year. He was buried in Fall River.
He left no children.

A miniature of him, loaned to me, has been reproduced under my direc-
tion, and is published herewith. It shows the sturdy, forceful yet I(indly
countenance of him who, in addition to the performance of important
pastoral duties and pu]olic offices, will ever be known as our first efficient
historian.
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EARLY CHURCH HISTORY —~ BAPTIST BEGINNINGS

Early Church History

The early church history of Fall River coincides with the llistory of that
portion of its territory which was a part of Freetown where the first colonial
church was built, but in Freetown the influence of the first Baptist Church
of Swansea antedated that of its own colonial church, and when the ortho-

-dox church was organized, the Baptists and Qual(ers were each of equal

or superior numerical strength, and the Unitarian section of the Orthodox
church soon became of importance. There were also many Tory church-
members who believed that opposition to political separation from England
was ‘more important than religion. Harmony seemed impossible.

The earliest public action towards organizing a church was a vote of
the town meeting on June 10, 1699. At the end of the three years, which
followed the mere vote, little or notlling having been accomplished, the
town resolved that “no building of a meeting house should be undertaken
until the services of a minister, who would act also as a school teacher, had
been engaged”. In January 1705 Job Winslow was chosen agent of the
town to act with Samuel Banford, minister in Taunton, to have William
Way of Norton approved as a “‘minister qualified according to law”. Two
years later William Way consented to act as minister and school teacher in
Freetown for such consideration as the people should willingly offer, but the
Colonial Council of Plymoutll did not consider W ay to be a “learned and
orthodox minister” and a complaint was made to, and an indictment was
teturned l:)y, the Grand Jury, against the town, for delinquency in church
maintenance. In 1707 Way was dismissed and the Court issued a per-
emptory writ requiring the town to provide itself with a minister. A town
meeting was then held, and it seeming to the voters that the town migllt
be excused from selecting a minister (and also from the indictment) by
voting that the Bishop of England should send them a “Church of England”

minister, it was so voted. In this course of action the Quaker element seemed
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to be predominant, they believing that there should l)e no paicl ministry.
No minister came from England, so that in 1710 the town began to build its
first meeting house on the land which had been deeded for its use to Josiah
Winslow, Ralph Earle and William Winslow, Selectmen of Freetown,
by Samuel Lynde June 5, 1710. The record is in book 2 at page 226 of the
Fall River copied records.

The consideration named is “for that he Woui_cl have the word of God
preached in said town". The description is of two and a half acres of land,
for the use of the town, to build a substantial meeting house, a training tielcl,
a school house, and a l)urying place and for no other use whatsoever, l)eing
a part of the 13th and a part of the 14th lot, lying westerly along the highway
sixteen rods, and twenty-tive rods deep l)y other land of Lyncle.

The General Court grantect twenty-tive pounds to Joseph Avery when
he had been selected as minister. Although Avery became the first pastor
in Freetown he resigned almost immediately, and when, after strong debate,

the town voted to call Recompense Wadsworth, at a salary of twenty
" pounds a year, the opposition led by one John Read was so great that he
declined the call. .

"The new meeting house was very roughly built; it needed repairs within
three years and was not occupied until these repairs were completeci in 1713.
There were ol)jections to control of the church l)y the town. The Baptists
were the strenuous champions of this principle, and the Quai(ers also pro-
tested against a paicl mini‘stry. There was constant turmoil until a Quai(er
meeting house was built about 1725. Then the Quakers became numer-
ically the largest worshipping congregation in the town, and included the
men of “first minds, most money and best manners”. In 1725 they built a
church of their own at Quai(er Hili, near what is now known as Crystal
Springs, and that then became the predominating religious center and
parish church of the town.

For this and other reasons the original Freetown church did not have its
formal dedication until 1747. In December of that year, Silas Brett from
Bridgewater formally opened the church and caused to be entered upon
the town records his formal covenant, which is often referred to, viz: that
he would neither ciirectly nor inctirectly take advantage of the laws of the
Province to get a salary settled upon him, and that he would look for and
expect his support l)y the free will otfering of the people. Mr. Brett's min-
istry was successful, and in 1748 three of the selectmen donated a farm of
fifty-three acres for the use of the ministry, yet the town still refused to repair
the meeting house, voting that those who were “disposed to repair it have
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full liberty to do so at their own cost and charge”. Pastor Brett had a small
stipend from the Protestant Missionary Society and another small income
for his pastoral work among the Indians at their church in Indiantown.
Although he was deemed to have been very successful he resigned in 1776,
giving as reason that altllougil he had “some appearance of success and
exercised great patience yet with repeated disputes and want of support,
the prevailing of sectarian principles and especially the pu]:)lic disputes of
the country made him so unhappy that he believed it to be his duty to ask
for a dismission”. These troubles referred to were largely brought about
because at this time (The American Revolution) the Tory and Whig dis-
putations rendered church harmony impossible. Mr. Brett was an American
patriot. Col. Gilbert, an English officer, was a disturbing element. At a
later time he fled from the Province and his lands in Freetown were con-
fiscated. ,

During the War of Independence the worshippers in this church were
Widely scattered and the old meeting house at Mother's Brook had begun
to decay after February 1781 when the First Baptist Church of Fall River
was organized in the southern part of the town. When the final vote, which
caused dissolution, was passedthere were only twenty-one church mem-
bers, almost equally divided between those who had Whig and Tory
sentiments. The last bitter wrangle was due to Col. Gilbert's opposition to a
vote that December 15, 1774 should be observed as a day of Thanksgiving
as had been recommended by the Provincial Congress at Cambridge.

In 1793 the Baptists built a house of worship in Assonet Village. In
1809 a “First Congregational Church” was built in the village (Fall River
had been set off as a separate town six years before that) . The location of
the meeting house at Mother’s Brook, then ceased to be at the geographical
center of the town, but in the memory of some who are now living the decay-
ing old church was still standing.

Baptist Beginnings

The history of the First Baptist Church in Swansea is of controﬂing
interest. It was the earliest church established in the territory actually con-
tiguous to Fall River, and its organization was in violent contrast to that of
the colonial chnrches.

In Plymouth the Puritans desired to follow their own religious convic-
tions and to conduct their own search for the truth. They had passed
through a violent church disruption, they feared further dissensions; they
came to America to continue their studies and to there more fully formulate



6 - THE PHILLIPS HISTORY OF FALL RIVER

their own creed. In their new home those who became freemen also therehy
became church members. It was their State and their Church; others might
come and go and agree or disagree with their theology, and so long as these
others had no nuisance value (as did the early Quakers) the Pilgrims
remained at peace and maintained in their midst freedom of action and
allowed a free discussion of religious ideas.

Rehoboth was a large township, it had a feeble Orthodox church and
when (in 1607) John Myles and his congregation came to live in Rehoboth,
he (although a Baptist) was allowed to preach in the Orthodox church, as
Roger Williams had done in Plymouth. When, however, he attempted to
form a new Baptist society in the same town, the colonists would have none
of it.

As early as 1646 (Ply. Col. Book II, page 106) the Plymouth Court
had ordered that something be done to maintain the liberties of the churches
without intermeddling with or wronging each other, “so that they may live
in peace’ .

On June 10, 1650 the Court further ordered that whosoever shall there-
after set up any church or pul)lic meeting, diverse from those already set
up and approved. shall, unless the government consent thereto, be sus-
pended from town meetings and presented to the next General Court, to .
receive such punishment as the Court shall think meet.

In 1644 it was ordered (Book IV, page 86) that “all men and women of
orthodox opinions, with competent l{nowledge and of civil lives, not scan-
dalous, may be admitted to the sacrament of the Lord’s Supper and their
children to baptism, either by admitting them into a congregation already
gathered or l)y permitting them to gather themselves into such other con-
gregations as they shall select, where they may enjoy the benefit of the
sacrament; that difference in opinion shall not break the bonds of peace
and charity

A sub-division of parishes was not approved of in Plymouth, espec1ally
where, as in Rehoboth, the place could barely support a single learned
preacher. About this same time the Colonial Commissioners requested
that all colonies make special provisions for a “comfortably settled”” min-
istry in every plantation. Upon complaint therefore by the Rehoboth
freemen to the Plymouth Court, the Baptist Assembly at Rehoboth was
prohibited for a month, and Myles and his co-organizer John Brown were
each fined five pounds for setting up their separate church. Complaints
against others of the society were dismissed. The Court at Plymouth then
asked the Baptists to transfer their church to some place “not already in
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' parish relations’ and so they removed to Wanamoisett. At a later time in
the same year the colony incorporated the town of Swansea, and included
with it the part of Wanamoisett, where the church was located, for the
sole purpose of creating a separate plantation as the seat of this first localized
Baptist church. Swansea was named after “Swansea in Wales, from -
which town Rev. John Myles and his followers had come”. They brought
with them their original church book of records which is still in existence
and is now deposited for safe keeping with the B. M. C. Durfee Trust Co.
in Fall River. Thus Congregationalists and Baptists were joined into a
new and a State church, with church members and town freemen as a
single entity.

The pastor John Myles had been a learned preacher of the Church of
England, but while at Swansea in Wales during Cromwell’s rule, his
church became a strong Baptist body. In 1662, upon the accession of
Charles II, Myles fled with many others and several of his own flock and
landed in Dorchester, whence they went to Rehoboth, and there Myles
became an assistant pastor in the regular Congregational church.

Thomas Willet, an eminent founder of this Baptist Church, was a son
and grandson of eminent clergymen in England. (See Goodwin page 521).
He was reared in Holland, came to Plymouth in 1630 at the age of twenty
and had many Dutch habits and sympathies. He married John Brown's
daughter Mary in 1636. He entered the colonial service at the Kennebec
trading post for & short time and then engaged in the Manhattan Dutch
trade. In 1651 he was chosen to the Board of Assistants at Plymouth, and
held that position for fourteen years, being succeeded by his father-in-law
John Brown. He was chosen captain of the train-band in 1648. He was
a member of the Brown household at Wanamoisett. In 1664 when the
English captured Manhattan, the Dutch requested that he be chosen the
first mayor of New York City and he served in that capacity for two terms.
He was an incorporator of Swansea in 1067 when Wanamoisett became
a part of that town. He led the Congregational element which supported
the first Baptist church in Swansea, and died in Swansea in 1674, his wife
having pre-deceased him in 1669.

Another eminent founder of the Swansea church, John Brown, was
also a Congregationalist. He had been an English ship builder. He knew
the Pilgrims at Leyden. In 1634, his age being about fifty, he and his wife
Dorothy with three children, came to Plymouth. He became a freeman in
1636 and was on the Board of Assistants for eighteen years. He was one
of the original purchasers of Taunton and in 1645 was a purchaser at
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Wanamoisett, now Swansea, to which place he moved his family. The
- Indians had great confidence in him and he arbitrated many perplexing
questions relating to the Indian lives and many periodical disputes between
Plymouth and the Bay Colony. In 1652 he sued Pastor Newman for slander
(the first colonial slander suit of which I am informed). The jury awarded
him a hundred pouncls, but he remitted the damage. Both he and his son
James were held in high regard by the Indians and Massasoit enjoined its
continuance upon his sul)jects. Afew clays before the Indian war broke out,
when Brown urged Philip to keep the peace, Philip was very insolent to him.

We should learn a lesson from two votes passed in the town of Swansea
in 1667, one by the town itself and the other by the Baptist Church.

Bearing in mind that important Orthodox creeds were, first the church
and the State should be a single entity; and, second that the mode of
l)aptism as an evidence of faith was optional. while the Baptists believed
that proper baptism could be by immersion only and that church and state
activities should be absolutely divorced, — these two’ religions lived in
harmony in the same church for many years because each gave prominence
to the irenics of its creed, and discarded the polemics, which would lay stress
on small differences. ,

The church voted (see documentary history of Swansea PP 47 et seq) ,
- “the minister may take liberty to baptise as the Lord shall persuade their
consciences’ and “‘that with relation to non-admission to the town, we agree
that no man of evil behavior or contentions shall be admitted which is to
be understood to mean that we shall not hinder a godlay man to come
among us . X

This was agreed to at a town meeting cluly called, and fifty-five persons
then signed the agreement and thus became the town’s first voters and
freemen.
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BAPTIST AND CONGREGATIONAL CHURCHES
THE SOCIETY OF FRIENDS

22224 2292239933539

First Baptist Church — Temple Baptist Church
Third Baptist Church — Portuguese Baptist Church

On February 15, 1781 “The Second Baptist Church in Freetown” was
established. Organization was in the house of Jonathan Brownell at what
is now the northeasterly corner of North Main and Brownell Streets. There
were thirty constituent members, sixteen men and fourteen women, of whom
there were six Boomers, six Bordens and four Warrens. On May 22, 1783,
Amos Burrows was ordained as pastor by a council of ministers from nearby
towns. On account of a dispute between the pastor and church members,
the church withdrew its fellowship from Mr. Burrows and he removed to
Vermont in 1784.

Five years after Mr. Burrows left, the church chose two of their own
young men to conduct the public services and three years later they were
ordained as pastors by a council of ministers and it was voted that one of
them, Job Borden, who had been blind since he was eighteen years old,
should “improve” one half of the Lord’s Day and Nathaniel Boomer the
“other half”’ and that Boomer should lead the singing. Boomer was grantecl
a dismission and Job Borden remained as pastor of the church until his
death in December 1832. “Father” Borden was a familiar figure in the
vi“age of Fallriver as he made his pastoral calls, riding an old white horse,
which took his blind master, with almost human intelligence, to his des-
tinations. For many years Job Borden occupied his own house situated on
South Main Street near Borden Street.

A meeting concerning the building of an house of worship was held
June 13, 1789. The authorized house was opened about 1800, near the

“Narrows” on what is now the park grounds at the northeasterly corner of
Pleasant and County Streets. The baptist folk were evidently not very
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highly regarded l)y some of their neighl)ors from “over the pond" for soon
after the church was opened, it is reported that wags posted on the church
door the following —
“Great house
No steeple
Blind guide
Ignorant people”
~ This, the first meeting house, was just over the line and the name of the
church was changed to the Second Baptist Church of Tiverton.

When this plot of land was sold to the City of Fall River in 1908, the
First Baptist Society removed the remains in the old burial grounds to
Oak Grove Cemetery and there erected a monument.

The church increased in membership and usefulness and a new church
building was erected on South Main Street in the village. The church was
then known as the First Baptist Church of Troy. The dedication of this
building was on July 30, 1828. Enoch French and John Davol were
ordained as younger deacons. A Baptist Female Charitable Society was
organized and directed to procure “trimmings” and “dress” the meeting
house. Candlesticks were purchased for the evening meetings.

When in 1834 the name of Troy was changed to Fall River, the church
changed its name to the Baptist Church of Fall River. It was at this time
that the Rev. Asa Bronson was pastor. The lay men and women began
the work carried on by them and their successors for many years, of estab-
lishing religious centers and Sunday schools in outlying districts.

On Sept. 16, 1840 another house of worship called the Baptist Temple
was completed and dedicated. The old church ]oulldmg on the corner of
South Main Street and Chanty Lane was conveyed to the Church of the
Ascension for $4,500.

In 1847 one hundred and seventy persons, by agreement were dlsmlssed
from the church to become members of the Second Baptist Society. The
“First Church” sold the Baptist Temple to the “Second Church”, for
$7,000. The deed, not recorded till April, 1848 describes the land as
“bounded easter[y l)y South Main Street; southerly l)y land of John And
Jesse Eddy; westerly by land of Seth Darling and northerly by land of
James Ford and others”. The sale included many specified pews.

The “First Church” then started to build its presently occupied edifice
on North Main Street. Pending its completion in 1850, when the Rev. A. P.
Mason was the pastor, meetings were held in Union Hall at the north-
westerly corner of North Main and Bank Streets. Union Hall had been a
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place for pul)lic meetings and entertainments and was also used as a pul)lic
school. It was sul)sequently removed to Portsmouth, R. I.

The Rev. A. P. Mason was a descendant of Samson Mason, who had
been an officer in Cromwell's army and came to America in 1650, joining
with Rev. John Myles in organizing the,‘“First Swansea Church”.

In 1855, Rev. P. B. Haughwout became pastor. Just before and during
the Civil War, he was an influential local leader. His marked abilities
extended beyond his pastoral duties and his community leadership. He
was a natural philosopher. He, together’with his friend Norman Easton,
{a boss engraver in the American Print Works) discovered a fossil which
was of great importance in its relation to the geological history of the Narra-
gansett basin. The discovery was pul)lished in the scientific periodicals
and Norman Easton was elected an honorary member of the Boston Society
of Natural History. ,

Pentacost the evangelist was connected with a very extensive revival in
Fall River in 1879, during which many members were added to the “First
Church” and its debt of twenty thousand dollars was cancelled. In continu-
ation of this revival, a very successful one was conducted in the Baptist
Temple by Moody and Sanky. Mr. Moody himself led the services which
were attended day and evening l)y very large congregations. The sacred |
songs were very popular and were sung in the homes and on the streets as
well as in the religious meetings.

The First Baptist Church has been enlarged and renovated several
times. During the pastorate of Dr. E. C. Herrick (1914-1926), a finely
equipped parish house was erected on Pine Street, west of the church.* At
' ‘ the time of the influenza epidemic, the parish house was opened for the
care of children, who could not receive proper care at home on account of
the illness of their elders. Dr. Herrick is now President of the Andover-
Newton Theological School.

Stores have been built in front of the Temple Baptist Church.- The
interior of the church has been reconstructed and beautified.

The history of the Baptist churches would not be complete without
. some mention of their local commitments. In the early fifties the “First
Church” assumed the care of a mission on lower Spring Street. Here a

1 The church vestry and the parish house, now known as “Herrick House” did not provide adequate quarters
for the large Bible School connected with the church. The corporation has purchased the land and building
next north of the church edifice, which was the homestead of Stephen Davol, and remodeled the interior of
the dwelling to accommedate children’s classes. The building has been named “Davol House” in honor of
members of the Davol family who, over a long period of time have faithfully served the parish.
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small chapel was built. This l)uilding was moved to a lot on Brownell
Street and a mission school conducted. In this same building, in 1871, the
Mechanicsville Baptist Church was organized and incorporated as the
Third Baptist Church in 1874. The land and building was deeded to them
by the “First Church” as a Christmas gift. This church disbanded in
1881 and the “First Church” again assumed charge. Later a much larger
chapel was erected on the same lot, east of the old ]ouilding.

To replace the Spring Street mission, a chapel was erected on Columbia
Street, on a site now occupied by the Church Santo Christo. The work was
continued for a time on the second story of the Ferry Street Railroad Station;
then the Broadway Chapel was constructed in 1894 and services continued
until 1916.

A Harrison Street development began in 1885 and for thirty-four years
served that community, The Harrison Street Chapel is now occuplecl by
the Syrian Presbyterian Church.

The Portuguese Baptist Church on Rodman Street was assusted in its
formative stages ]oy the “First Church” and volunteer workers from its
membership.

The Temple Baptist Church was responsx]ole, ]oy its assistance and
support of chapels on Tucker Street and on Foster Street, for the establish-
ment of the Third Baptist Church on Brayton Avenue. The “Temple”,
by giving assistance to a neighborhood‘ effort helpecl to establish the

Temple Chapel in North Tivel_'ton. now known as the North Tiverton
Baptist Church.

The First Congregational Church

The First Congregational Church of Fall River, then Troy, was organ-
ized ]oy a council of pastors from neighboring towns at the home of Deacon
Richard Durfee, on January 9, 1816. There were five members, four of
whom were Durfees. The members met at the homes of Deacon Durfee
and others and occasionally in the school house or at the Line Meeting
House until 1823. (“The Line Meeting House” was built in 1798, on the
easterly side of South Main Street, at the line which separated Massa-
chusetts from Rhode Island. It was erected through the efforts of various
denominations llvmg near]oy in both states as a “house common to all but
controlled ]oy none”. With the exception of an Indian meeting house east
of North Watuppa Pond, this was the only church building in Troy and
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there had been none since Fall River was incorporated in 1803. The old
Freetown church built in 1714 near Mother’s Brook was in ruins.)

The congregation gradually increased in numbers and by 1822, with -
help from outside, the fellowship was able to erect its first church and call
a pastor; the Rev. Augustus Reed, a native of Rehoboth and a graduate
of Brown CoHege. His yearly salary was fixed at four hundred and fifty
dollars. The meeting house located on Anawan Street near South Main
was enlarged in 1827 and later sold to the Unitarian Society, who in turn
sold the building to the town for a school house. It was destroyed in the
fire of 1843. ‘ ‘

Rev. Orin Fowler was the third pastor of the church and served from
July 7, 1831 until November 1849 when he resigned to take his seat in the
National House of Representatives. :

By 1832, the congregation had outgrown its church building and a
new edifice, at a cost of $16,000 was erected on the corner of North Main

land Elm' Streets, where the Masonic Temple now stands. As was the
custom at that time, the masons worked from five o’clock in the morning
until seven at night, with three quarters of an hour for breakfast and one
hour for dinner but contrary to custom, they were served no quuOr. They
received one dollar and eight cents for a day’s work, As was usual in Iargerr
churches, special pews were placed in the side gallery for the use of colored
people. ~ :

The vestry of the church was used for relief quarters after the 1843 fire.
The bui]ding itself caught fire under the eaves but the flames were extin-
guished by Mr. Tripp the janitor. ‘ ,

This bui]ding known as the “Stone Church” was a landmark for many
years. The clock in the tower recorded the official time. The sweet toned
bell, a “Revere Bell”, probably came from the foundry of Paul Revere,
the son of the Revolutionary hero. It continues to call the parishioners to
worship from its position in the belfry of the new church on Rock Street.

In its early years the church maintained a chapel on Bank Street which
was later moved to Hanover Street and for many years was known as the
Fowler Congregational Church of which Rev. Payson W. Lyman was
pastor. It is now used by a colored congregation. ,

The Rev. William Wisner Adams, D.D. came to the First Congrega-
tional Church as acting pastor, October 1, 1863 and was installed Septem-
ber 14, 1864. He was the son of a Presbyterian minister and remained a
member of the church where his father was pastor until his death. He
studied at Williams College but never matriculated. He received his
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honorary degree from “Williams” and was a trustee of the institution.
Dr. Adams was liberal minded, a forceful preacher and devoted pastor.
He served the church and community for‘nearly fifty years. His last pul)lic
service was the preaching of the Christmas sermon in 1911. Dr‘. Adams
was allowed to select his successor. He chose the Rev. Willard L. Sperry,
now dean of Harvard Theological School. Dr. Adams died October 12,
1912. He lived to take a prominent part in the laying of the cornerstone of
the stately structure on Rock Street presented to the society by Miss Sarah
S. Brayton for a fature church home. The new church and parish house,
built of granite, along gothic lines was dedicated January 9, 1913.

The Central Congregational Church

In 1840, because of disagreements, a group of seventy members sepa-
rated from the “First Church” and organized the Central Congregational
Church. Their organization was completed Nov. 16, 1842, Pocasset Hall
was selected as a place best suited for holding their Sabbath Day meetings.
The Pocasset Block was destroyed by the fire of 1843. The Baptist Temple
was without the fire area and the “Central Church” accepted the invitation
from the Baptists to worship with them and share the use of the “Temple",
until the church which they were erecting was completed. The framework
of this church, which was under construction on the corner of Bedford
and Rock Streets was l)adly scorched but saved from destruction. The

."Temple" was shared l)y both congregations until the completion of the
new l)uilding in November.

The Rev. Samuel Washburn was chosen as the first regular pastor
and served from 1844 to 1849. Rev. Eli Thurston, D.D. was pastor from
1849 until his death in 1869. Dr. Thurston and the Rev. P. B. Haughwout
of the First Baptist Church, with their powers of oratory and promot'ion
rendered valuable aid during the Civil War period.

244

“Are there no heathen about us, who need to be saved?”” This simple
question propounded by Mrs. Borden, wife of Col. Richard Borden, in a
women's prayer meeting, for foreign missions, held in the vestry of the old
Central Church on Bedford Street, in 1849 was the primary cause of the
establishment of the Pleasant Street Mission and in procedure and time to
the organization of the Boys’ Club. Through the activities of these two

centers, the names and deeds of Rev. Edwin Augustus Buck and Thomas
Chew live in the hearts of many a Fall Ri\(er citizen.
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The efforts of interested members of the Central Church to reach the
neg]ected children of the community attracted the attention of other denom-
inations and a number of people from the several churches organized' the
Fall River Domestic Missionary Society. After a few years the _l)urden of
finance fell upon the Superintendent and teachers of the mission school.
With the help of friends and the use of a lot of land given by the Troy
Cotton and Woolen Manufactory, they erected, in 1860, a building which
stood on the corner of Pleasant and Sixth Streets. The religious and chari-
table activities continued for a time as a united effort but ﬁnaﬂy the care
devolved almost entirely upon the Central Church.

On October 27, 1867, the Mission School called Rev. E. A. Buck to
be their missionary. Mr. Buck’s motto was — '

“Help whomever,
Whenever you can!
Man forever,

Needs help from man.”

The doors of the building were open every day in the week. The chapel
became a Christian home for all nationalities. There were sometimes as
many as eight different services on a Sabbath. The building was opened
for relief at the time of the Granite Mill fire. Over two thousand dollars
was raised l)y a dramatic club of the Sacred Heart Church and the money
was committed to the care of two priests and Missionary Buck. The dis-
tribution was chiefly made under Mr. Buck’s direction. The operatives
never forgot his kindly care.

The Boys' Club

It cannot be said that the Boys’ Club is a direct outgrowth of the Pleasant
Street Mission but in an indirect way the two are interestingly associated.
The Boys' Club was established I)y the National Association of Boys’
Clubs, in 1890. Mr. Buck was the first president and Mr. Thomas Chew,*
a partial product of the “Mission”, the superintendent; a position he still
maintains with skill and vigor. Matthew C. D. Borden, the son of Mrs.
Richard Borden, one of the founders of the Pleasant Street Mission was the
donor of the two superbly equipped buildings, one on Anawan Street for
bpys and one on Pocasset Street for older l)oys and men. These two build-
ings, together with the masterly management of Mr. Chew have become
patterns for similar efforts all over the country.

2 Died, August 10, 1944,
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The French Congregational Church

The French Congregational Church® first assembled in the Pleasant
Street Mission in 1886 and somewhat later the church on Harrison Street
was erected. It has continued to be a mission church under the supervision
of a joint committee from the First and Central Congregational Churches.

The Pilgrim Congregational Church

The Pilgrim Congregational Church® on Center Street started as a mis-
sion under the supervision of the Congregational Churches of the city.
“Through the generosity of Simeon B. Chase and Leonard N. Slade, a
chapel, dedicated on Jan. 13, 1893 was built and furnished on Broadway.” |
It was known as the Broadway Congregational Church. The present
structure on Center Street was erected in 1910 and was dedicated under its
present title. During the nearly fifty years of its existence the “Pilgrim
Church” has remained a mission church.

The Society of Friends

Friends held their first meeting in Fall River in 1819. Previous to that,
local Friends had been a part of the Swansea Society. In 1821, they erected
a meeting house on North Main Street. This was replaced by the present
edifice in 1836. In 1834 there was a division of the Society and part of
them worshiped in a meeting house on Franklin Street, known as the Green
School House. The Franklin Street meeting house was discontinued prior
to 1870 and the lot was then sold by Israel Buffington to James Davis and
the meeting house was removed to High Street.

In 1861 when the Wilburite branch of the Society was located on
Franklin Street, there were seventy members but no minister. At that time
the Gumeyite branch, located on North Main Street had one hundred
fifteen members. Forty-five scholars attended the Sabbath schools.® The
Monthly Meeting was then held in Swansea. It was a comparatively large
society and accurate records were kept of its meetings. These records are
now deposited in the vaults of the Moses Brown School in Providence, in
nineteen volumes. They cover a variety of subjects both of men’s and
women’s meetings, books of accounts, disownments, dismissals and pre-
paratory meeting. They cover a period between 1732 and 1914.

2 Disbanded in 1944,

¢ In 1944 the membership transferred by invitation, to. the Central Congregational Church.
5 In 1944 the Society sold their church property on No. Main Street to the Y. M. C, A.
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There were Quarterly Meetings, when matters of general importance
were discussed and a schedule of items was prepared and recommended
for action at the Yearly Meeting. The Yearly Meeting was often held in
' Newport.

Mr. Phillips possessed a “Book of Disaplines” as prepared by the
Yearly Meeting of Friends of New England, under date of 1785. It con-
tained the minutes, conclusions and advices of sundry\Yearly Meetings in
England and America since their first institution. It was issued to a local
meeting to guide their actions on discipline. This book was issued at a
yearly meeting held in Providence. ‘

The Friends, comprising almost the complete membership of the Soeiety
in and around Fall River, relying solely on their “inner light", that slavery
was morally wrong, and ignoring completely any limitation on personal
liberty due to social conditions and the rights of others, conspired, with
other Societies of Friends throughout the North, to foment disorder and
insurrection among the slaves in the South, and to establish a system known
as the Underground Railroad, by which they could escape from their bond-
age and become either hidden refugees in the north, or else be transported
to freedom in Canada, where no slavery was allowed. Of course not every
conductor or director of the Underground Railroad was a Friend but their
influence was predominant and controlling, as shown in the records and
details of over a thousand escapes which were collected by William Still
in his 780 page book on the subject. Many activities of the system in Massa-
chusetts are collected by Wilbur H. Siebert in his pamphlet published l)y
the American Antiquarian Society in 1936.
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The First Methodist Episcopal Church
The first Methodist services were held in Fall River, then Troy, in 1824.

Preachers had been located in Somerset for twenty years and their mission-
ary work in Troy resulted in the organization of the “First Church” in 1825.
The New England Conference appomted the Rev. Edward T. Taylor, later
well known as “Father” Taylor of the Seamen’s Bethel of Boston, as pastor.
Their first meeting house was erected in 1827 and dedicated on Christmas
day. It was situated on the westerly side of Camden Street, a short distance
south of Central Street.

, In the year 1838, there was a revival in Fall River and in common with
other churches, the Methodist congregation was greatly enlarged The
debt on the old church was cancelled and a new church was built on South
Main Street, opposite Borden Street. This meeting place was dedicated
February 20, 1840. Among the names of the first Board of Trustees who
had charge of the building were Edward and Perez Mason, Abner L.
Westgate, Iram Smith and Joshua Remington.

The church bulldmg was completely destroyed lr)y the fire of 1843 The
members worsl’uped with the Congregatlonallsts for several Sabbaths until
Abner Westgate provided rooms in his furniture warehouse for temporary
quarters. The Society erected a much larger edifice which was dedicated
in April 1844. There was a lofty spire on the new church and a frontage
enclosed by an iron fence. In 1867 the building was raised and stores were
built in front. In time, the spire became weakened, and was shortened to

the belfry in 1891.



20 THE PHILLIPS HISTORY OF FALL RIVER

Saint Paul’'s Methodist Eplscopal Church

After a remarkable revival in 1849 the ’ Conference of 1850 reponted
five hundred and ﬁfty members in the ‘First Church It became necessary
to establish a second congregation. When the pastor, the Rev. Daniel
Wise returned from the next “‘Conference”, Rev. Elijah T. Fletcher came
with him to help care for the second congregation. Meetings of the second
assembly were held for a time in Liberty Hall which was found too small
and quarters were hired on the third floor of the frame ]ouilding which then
occupied the present site of the B. M. C. Durfee Trust Company.

In 1850 this second congregation was organized as the St. Paul’s Meth-
odist Episcopal Church; land was purchased on Bank Street, just east of
Mainand a spacious church ]ouilding was erected. The dedicatory exercises
took place November 10, 1852. “St. Paul’s Church” was fully recognized
]oy the conference and Rev. Ralph W. Allen was appointed the first pastor.

The Union Met’wdist Episcopal Church

A conflagration destroyed a number of buildings on South Main Street,
on the night of February 15, 1916. This fire provided an opportune time
for the city to widen the thoroughfare and the “First Church” decided to
sell its property. The Cherry and Webb Building now occupies the site.

The Boards of Trustees of the “First Church” and “St. Paul’s Church”,
in a joint conference held Fe]oruary 27, 1916 voted to recommend that the -
churches re-unite, pool their resources and build a new church in some more
favorable locallty This recommendation was accepted ]oy the two churches.

- A site was selected on the corner of North Main and Locust Streets but this
site was sold and the beautiful, modern structure, on Highland Avenue
was erected, in which the two bodies are working in harmony with success.

The Brayton Methodist Episcopal Church

The Brayton Methodist Episcopal Church now located on Griffin
Street has an interesting history. It was a child of the First Methodist
Church for it grew out of a Sunday school organized in 1842 with Abner
L. Westgate as the superintendent. - The first meetings were held in a
tenement block on the main Tiverton road. Later better accommodations
were secured in a large room over the Bay State Print Works on Globe
Street. Mr. Chapin, one of the owners, became interested in behalf of the
operatives and purchased a lot on Globe Street on which a church was

built and dedicated in 1850. The Print Works was closed and the church |
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- building and land passed into the hands of the Methodists. The church
was then known as the Globe Street Methodist Church. Alter the pastorate
of Elihu Grant, when the affairs of. the parish became critical, the First
Methodist Church provided aid.

In 1869, Hon. John S. Brayton and Mrs. Mary B. Young, in recognition
of their family interest in Methodism, provided the church with a sub-
stantial sum of money. The name of the church was cbanged to the Brayton
Methodist Episcopal Church in recognition of their generosity.

A new building was erected on Griffin Street in 1898. The old building
on Globe Street was sold to the First Polish National Church.

Rev. Elihu Grant was first listed in the Fall River Directory as a book-
keeper. For a short period of time he was in the furniture business with
J.D.Flintand L. F. Nichols. He was prominent in the affairs of Fall River,
Rhode Island. He was Town Clerk (Town Clerk was also clerk of Court
of Probate), Treasurer, Collector and Chairman of the School Commrttee

He was President of the Tiverton bank.

The North, The Quarry Street and The Summerfield
Methodist Episoopal Churches

The “North Church” at Steep Brook occupied its present building as
early as 1854. The “Quarry Street Church” was organized in 1870. The
“Summerfield Church” was organized in 1875 and for a time was known
as the Terry Street or North Main Street Methodist Episcopal Church. At
that time Crescent Street was called North Main Street and the more direct
road West North Main Street. Terry Street connected with what is now

| A Crescent Street. A new and ].arger building with a parish house was later

built on North Main Street at the corner of Hood and the name of the
church was cbanged, first to the North Park then to the Summerfield
Methodist Episcopal Church.*

The Bethel African Methodist Episcopal C Iuirch

L From about 1868 to 1895 there were several negro families residing on
. the north side of Maple Street between Linden Street and what is now
- Grove St‘reet. In 1881, the Maple Street African Methodist Episcopal
Church was organized and held meetings in a small wooden building on
the south side of the street. They worshiped there until 1918. The older
buildings in the neighborhood had been demolished to make way for more

! 1 The Brownell Streei Baptist Chapel has united with the “Summerfield Church”. The union ts known as
l.he Park United Church
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modern apartments and the colored folk had moved to other sections. The
congregation however continue their activities in the building vacated hy
the Fowler Congregational Church on Ha_nover Street. They assumed
their present name in 1021.

The First Christian Church

The First Christian Church,’ informally known as the Franklin Street
Church, in January 1831 was incorporated by an act of the Legislature
under the name of the First Christian Union Society in Troy. Their organ-
ization had been accomplished as early as April 1829. According to the
church records, the Rev. Bro. J. V. Hines became the first settled pastor,
June 1, 1829. “The Rev. William H. Taylor commenced his labors with
the church Sept. 11, 1831; his first service being held in the First Union
Chapel’ later destroyed by the fire of 1843.” .

The growth in membership was rapid and about 1842 a group separated
from the “First Church” and the Second Christian Church of Fall River
was established. The “Second Church” continued until about 1853 when
a recorded minute of the “First Church” states — “Received into the
Church® some members of the Second Christian Church extinct.”

The present church was erected very soon after the destruction of the
first church or chapel. For over a hundred years, this Christian body exer-
cised a profound influence for good in the community. Like the other
denominations the missionary urge was strong and workers were sent to
outlying sections of the city to aid in the establishment of Sunday schools.

North Christian Church

Two of the older Fall River churches are located north of Steep Brook
corners. Mention has been made of the Methodist Church. The North
Christian Church, although not iricorporated as a society until 1842 had
its beginning in 1832 when local residents gathered in their homes for the
study of the Bible. In 1835, Capt. John Read and C. C. Dillingham of the
First Congrega}tional Church organized a Sunday School and meetings
were held in the school house until Mrs. Caroline Boomer donated the
land and the church was built about 1842.

2 Discontinued services Jan. 8, 1941, .
8 The One Hundredth Anniversary Program of the First Christian Church.
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The Bbgle Street Christian Church®

Encouraged and aided by the First Christian Church and its pastor
Rev. S. Wright Butler, a self—sacrificing group of men and women in the
eastern section of the city started a mission, December 6, 1874, which has
clevelopecl into a ﬂourishing, indepenclent church. The Bogle Street Chris-
tian church on its fiftieth anniversary published an interesting account of
its growth and accomplishments.

The Rev. Henry Arnold,’ the present pastor, has given twenty- four
years of faithful service, ministering to his flock. He is a man beloved not
alone by his peop]e but by those of all races and rellglous faiths who come
in contact with him.

The United Presl)ytenan Church

The eclltor is indebted to Miss Mary J. S. Bates for important records
concerning Presbyterianism in Fall River. “As early as 1833, Rev. Chaun-
sey Webster, a licentiate of the Associate Presbytery of Albany, N. Y., was
assigned to Fall River (Troy), to minister to those of Presbyterian per-
suation in this community.” An Associate Church was organized in 1837.
This group had no church building and no minister. They dishanded in
1840. Again, in June 1846, another Presbyterian group assembled and
by August, over one hundred and fifty attended the Sabbath meetings.
Ata meeting in the home of Mr. and Mrs. Mclntosh, which was on Anawan
Street where the Boys’ Club now stands, an Associate Reform Presbytenan
Church was organized, June 30, 1846. Meetings were held, first in Fire
Men'’s Hall on Pleasant Street, then in the old town hall and later in a
small bullclmg on Union Street, south of Columbla Street.

Their next meeting house was purchased from the Second Christian
Church not long after its erection. Fowler states — “The place of worship
on Pearl Street was purchased by the Society in 1849.” The Centennial
History of Fall River records — “Church on Pearl Street corner of Anawan
Street, Built, 1851.” This building now used as a storehouse was archi-
tecturally, within and without, a close counterpart of the Christian Church
on Franklin Street. In 1852 shares were issued to care for the cost of the
property and by 1853 the debt was largely liquidated. Fowler states,
“They now own their commodius and substantial church edifice and ground

4 The Bogle St. Church is now Congregational.
5 The Rev. Henry Arnold retired in 1942,
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connected with it, free from all incumberance.” Here the Presbyterians
worshipped for over seventy-five years.

The first settled pastor was the Rev. David Wallace.® He assumed his
pastoral duties in June 1831. During the second pastorate, that of the
Rev. William Mc. Claren (1854-1866). the name of the church was
changed from the Associate Reform Presbyterian Church to the United
Presl)yterian Church, for at that time the Associate Reform and the Asso-
ciate Churches were united. This was in 1858.

The Rev. William J. Martin, D.D. began his pastorate, May 2, 1886
and remained until his death, February 19, 1932. Dr. Martin was born in
Philadelphia, where he received his early education in the publlc schools.
He was a graduate of the University of Pennsy]vama and ﬁmshed his
theo]oglcal studjes at Allegheny Theologlca] now the Prttsburg Xenia
Theological Seminary. He received his doctor’s degree from Westminster
Co“ege Dr. Martin was a member of the Fall River School Committee
for eighteen years (1894 to 1912). At the opening of the City's seventy-
fifth anniversary, Dr. Martin delivered an address on The Growth of
Church Life”. ,

In March 1926, the old church on Pearl Street was abandoned and the
beautiful, pure Geothic structure on the corner of Rock and Walnut Streets
was dedicated. Dr. Martin was privileged'to spend the closing years of
his life serving his people from the new edifice. As a pastor, preacher and
valued citizen Dr. Martin will Iong be remembered.

The sixth and present minister to the church is the Rev. Luther Knox

Peacock, D.D. He began his work September 18, 1932.

The Syrian United Presbyterian Church

This church locally known as the “Syrian Protestant Church” was
organized under the guidance of the United Presbyterian Church, and

occupies the chapel on Harrison Street formerly owned by the First Baptist
'Church. ,

The Unitarian Church

Reminiscent of olden days is the edifice of the Unitarian Church, now
located on North Main Street between Cherry and Locust Streets. In
Barber's “Historical Collections” published in 1841 is a picture of the cen-
tral part of Fall River taken from the vicinity of Pine Street, looking south.

8 The Rev. David Wallace became the first President of Monmouth College.
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In the foreground is the “Stone Church”. On the horizon stands the Uni-
tarian Church, then located on the sidehill at the corner of Second and
~ Borden Streets. In 1860 this building was torn down and rebuilt on its
present site with but very little change in architectural construction.

In 1832, the Unitarian Society of “Fallriver” in the town of Troy was
incorporated. The society purchased the church building on Anawan Street
(then called Broadway) for which the First Congregational Society had
no further use. This meeting house, they used until their first minister,
Rev. G. W, Briggs was ordained (1834) and their new house of worship
dedicated in 1835.

In 1848, Rev. Samuel Longlellow, a brother of the poet Henry W.
Longfellow, became pastor. He was a member of the School Committee
of the town and strongly supported the establishment of a public High
School. The public school on William Street bears his name.

Rev. Daniel W. Stevens, the first superintendent of Fall River schools
was a Unitarian minister without pastoral duties.

The Church of the Ascension

Mrs. Margaret Durfee Johnson, in the “Annals of the Church of the
Ascension” printed in 1912, states that “the first service according to the
ritual of the Protestant Episcopal Church in the United States, held in
(what was then) the village of Fall River, was conducted by the Rev.
James C. Richmond on a Sunday evening in 1835”. This service was held
in the Unitarian Church. As further evidence that the Episcopalians were
‘ welcomed by other organized churches in the village_, we find that on July
13th, a public service was held in the Congregational church .and again on
July 15th they met in the Methodist church where steps were taken to form
a Parish Church. Rev. Patrick H. Greenleaf was appointed minister and
Pocasset Hall was agreed upon as a temporary meeting place. Pocasset
Hall soon proved to be too small and permission was obtained to use Town
Hall. Land was secured on which to build a church but it was found more
advantageous to purchase the church building on South Main Street,
which the Baptists had abandoned, when they built “The Temple This,
their first church, was consecrated for worsiup in April 1840 At that
time there were sixty members from forty families.

Rev. Patrick H. Greenleaf was a mission pastor. The first rector was
Rev. George Maxwell Randall who served from 1838to 1844. He was later
consecrated the first missionary I)isliop of Colorado. Mr. Randall while in
Fall River had a number of private pupils. Asa Bronson, pastor of the
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Baptist Church and John C. Milne, later part owner of the “Fall River
News” took lessons in Latin and Greek. He also had classes in two private
schools. It was when Mr. Randall was rector that one of his vestrymen,
Mr. Richard Houghton, closed the Print Works on Christmas. “It was a
very daring thing to do in the face of custom and popular opinion, Christmas
began to come into its own in the little town.” Mr. Randall was a member
of the School Committee and for two or three years its chairman.
.~ The old church was burned Dec. 24, 1850, and a new church was
erected on the old site and dedicated Feb. 12, 1852. It was later moved to
- the west on Charity Lane and the lot sold to E. S. Brown, who erected a
block for his dry goods store; now a part of the R. A. McWhirr Company.
In 1873 the church was holding services in Music Hall on Franklin
Street. On Nov. 29, 1875, the architecturally beautiful church on Rock
Street, constructed of Fall River granite with brick trimmings was dedi-
cated. A parish house has been constructed connecting with the church
and extending back to Purchase Street.

Christ Church, Swansea — St. John’s Church — St. James' Church
St. Mark’s Church — St. Luke’s Church — St. Stephen’s Church

The Church of the Ascension is the mother church of Christ Church
in Swansea organized in 1846 and in Fall River it fostered St. John's
Church, 1878; St. James’ Church, 1884; St. Mark’s Church, 1886; St.
Luke's Church, 1897. St. Stephen’s Church is an outgrowth of a mission
of St. John's Church and was organized in 1896.

The Rev. Emelius W. Smith rector of the Church of the Ascension,
Rev. Percy S. Grant, rector of “St. Mark’s” and Rev. Herman Page, rector
of “St. John's" will be remembered for their marked ability and interest in
social and civic affairs. Rector Smith served from 1884 to his retirement
in 1912. Rev. Percy S. Grant went from “St. Mark’s” to The Church of

the Ascension, in New York city. Rev. Herman Page became Bishop of
Michigan.

The Church of the New Jerusalem

The followers of Swedenborg organized in 1839, They were few in
number and for many years met in private houses. The Fall River directory
for 1857 states “The Receivers of the doctrines of the New Jerusalem
Church hold their meetings for worship in Hall No. 7, Pocasset House
every Sabbath morning. A meeting is also held Sabbath evenings at the
home of Mrs. G. Mundy, 29 Elm Street. They have no settled minister,,
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and one of the Receivers’ usuaHy conducts the services. The seats are free.”
John Westall was a “Receiver’” and for many years was the leader. He
was a designer in the American Print Works and his fine taste contributed
much to the va_lue of its products. Mr. Westall was prominent, outspoken
and refined. His was a.great influence for good during the period of our
development as a municipality. The school building on Maple Street was
named in his honor. In 1882 Mr. Westall was first listed as pastor of the
church. Several other pastors followed him.

In 1869, they built a small church on Rock Street. While the first Tech-
nical High School was under construction it was moved to the grounds of
the Durfee High School, for use as a shop. Later it was purchased by the
Greek Orthodox Church and is now in use by them. Itis located on Cherry

~ Street, just west of North Main Street.

At present, the Church of the New Jerusalem holds no meetings but
retains its organization. Jefferson Borden 3rd, grandson of John Westall,
is the leader and Henry A. Dexter the treasurer.
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The first Catholics to visit Narragansett Bay, at a time when the Indians
were the on]y other dwellers here, were the Norsemen, in or about the year
1000. They explored the entire area of the [)ay, and upon their return to
Iceland the details of the voyage were reduced to manuscript form. A
hundred years later, this manuscript was in possession of one Jonas Tor-
fason, who, in 1184, presented it to Bishop Klaeng of Skalholt, who, in turn,
sent it to the Vatican. The manuscript has been ]ithographed, translated
into English. and with certification [)y the Papa] Secretary, has a limited
circulation.

Giovanni Verrazano, a Catholic mariner in the service of Francis I, a
Catholic King, has left us a written and vivid account of his visit in 1524,
including clescription of the bay and its islands and Indian inhabitants.

Later Miguel Cortereal, also a Catholic, who apparently became
shipwrecl(ed in the Bay and permanently stranded, left evidence of his
visit which tradition supports, though it is not evidenced [)y manuscript.

The English settlements, 1637-8-9, on Narragansett Bay, evidence no
Catholic priest or laity, and Peleg Sanford, writing about the year 1700,
declares “we know none of them among us”. Of the many sailors and
mariners who came to Newport and Providence in those early times, record
exists of only one Catholic, prior to the American Revolution, and he was
Stephen Decatur of Newport. ,

In 1780 came the French fleet with many French and Irish officers and
men in the service of a Catholic King, and at the old Colony House, New-
port, they setup an altar where the chaplains celebrated Mass and adminis-
tered the Blessed Sacrament, and in December 1780, Admiral D. Ternay
was buried in Trinity Church yard while twelve priests chanted the requiem.
He was buried with Catholic rites in the Protestant churchyard. Some few
Catholics remained in Newport when the fleet withdrew, but no appre-
ciable number gathered until the revolutionary troubles in the West Indies,
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when French refugees of good lineage settled in both Newport and Bristol,
Bristol then being the shire town of Bristol County which included Fall
River, though at that time there were no Catholic worshippers in Fall River.
The first Catholic Church in the Narragansett country seems to have been
located in April 1828, when Father Robert Woodley bought an 6ld school
house on Barney Street in Newport, repaired it, and placed in it an altar
and pews. In the following October, Bishop Fenwick celebrated Mass,
confirmed eleven persons, and preached a sermon which is still generally
quoted, urging a more commodious church. By August 1837, his successor,
Father John Corry, had erected St. Joseph's Church which accommodated
800 worshippers.

John H. Greene, in his article on the Catholics on the Island of Aquid-
neck, says they thank Dr. John Clarke, the founder of Newport, for that
they have never been accounted delinquent on account of doctrine, have
grown and prospered with every freedom in their services, and freedom to
erect their churches, rectories, schools, and other religious structures.

What he says of Aquidneck applies equally to the other settlements
around the bay, including Fall River, a large part of which was, until 1862,
in Rhode Island, and just across the river from Aquidneck until that time.
The present Cathedral was built on each side of the line which separated
the two colonies.

I find no contemporary record of any Catholic church activities in Fall
River until the history of Orin Fowler, which was published in 1862. He
was an ecclesiastic, and supposedly made careful reference to all clerical
sub]ects The Roman Catholic Church apparently had few communicants
here until that time for he says only the followmg

“St. Mary’s Church (Roman Catholic) was established in 1836; the
first name was St. John Baptist, which was changed upon the occupation
of their new cathedral in 1855. The cornerstone of this cathedral was laid
by the Right Rev. Fitzpatric, Bishop of Boston, August 8, 1852. The
dimensions of the structure were 67 feet by 150. It is built in the Gothic
style and of uncut granite, The first pastor of that church was Rev. John
Corry; second pastor, Rev. Richard Hardy:; third pastor, the present incum-
bent, Rev. E. Murphy, appointed April 1840. The total number of com-
municants, connected with the various Catholic churches in Fall River, is
2341, and the total of pupils in the Sabbath schools 2918.”, This may have
been a number of years before 1862.

1 The Rev. Mr. Fowler died ten years before this publication of his book.
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St, Mary's Church was the cradle of catholicism in Fall River. Rev.
Edward Murphy was pastor from 1840 to 1887, which is the year I returned
from college. During all my boyhood days, he was a familiar sight on the
streets and well respected In 1874, three Sisters of Mercy from Providence
began to teach in a paroctual school known as the * Academy In 1873,
a convent was purchased on the west side of Second Street (at the top of
the hill) from the estate of Alexander Milne, and the teaching Academy
was moved there. In 1878, the foundation for the large academy was con-
structed on the east side of Second Street, opposite the cathedral. St. Mary's
parish was divided in 1882 and again in 1885; in the first instance, the
Sts. Peter and Paul parish was formed with Father Patrick Doyle as pastor
and in the latter year, the parish of St. Louis was inaugurated with Father
Louis Deady as pastor.

Late in 1869, St. Anne's parish was founded with a church at the corner
of Hunter and Hope Streets; and in 1873, three additional parishes were
carved out of St. Mary's parish, viz: the Sacred Heart under the pastorate
of Father Francis Quinn, St. Joseph’s under the care of Father William
Bric and St. Patrick’s in charge of Father John Kelly.

In 1874, the Notre Dame parish was ceded from St. Anne’s parish with
Rev. Pierre Bedard as pastor. The first church, a wooden structure, was
destroyed and in 1902, a beautiful stone edifice replaced it. The powerful
compositions reproduced on the celllng were executed by the Italian painter,
Ludovico Cremonini.

In 1840, there was one church and one priest and not over 300 Catholics
in town; in 1887, there were nine churches, fifteen priests and 30, 000
Catholics. Their rellglous needs were taken care of in other ways, viz: six

Ischools. six convents and one orphan asylum Rev. Ctmstopher Hughes
succeeded Father Murphy as pastor of St. Mary's, and served from 1887,

The first undertaking of Father Hughes was the beautification of his
church; its furnishings were theretofore temporary and the interior had
never been finished. Father Hughes installed three new altars, new pews,
a heating system, imported new windows from Germany, and made wise
purchases of adioining real estate. He built a rectory on the site of the old
St. John's Hall at the corner of Spring and Second Streets. The total cost
of his improvements was $130,000. and the debt was paid within fourteen
years. In 1890, he set up a high school, but this was abandoned because
of insufficient parish income,

The debt of St. Mary's Church was fully paid and it was consecrated
by Bishop Harkins in 1901.
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The diocese of Providence was divided in 1904 and a new diocese of
Fall River was created. Rev. William Stang was consecrated its first
Bishop. Almost simultaneously with the creation of the new diocese, the
White Sisters of the Holy Ghost, refugees from religious persecution in
France, came to do nursing work in this city. In May 1900, the cornerstone
for a new three story school to be modern in every detail was laid by Bishop
Stang, and on September 11, 1907, the school was formally opened. Bishop
Stang, however, did not live to see this opening; he died in Rochester,
Minn. shortly after a serious operation, and Rev. Daniel F. Feehan became
his successor as the second Bishop of the Fall River diocese.

Next came the resignation of Father Hughes. For some time he had
been in failing health, and he resigned in January ‘1908, and died the fol-
lowing April. His successor at St. Mary’s was Rev. James E. Cassidy.
Father Cassidy had studied in Rome and had assisted as Chancellor to
Bishop Stang. He at once further renovated the church; installed a new
lighting system, a new shrine, and a new Baptistry in the rear of the church,
and beautified the sanctuary, installed a new altar rail and two beautiful
side altars. On January 1, 1908, Father Cassidy was appointed Vicar
General of the diocese. He built a large nursery building on Third Street
in the rear of the White Sisters Convent, and this was dedicated to the
memory of Bishop Stang. In 1912, at a solemn pontifical mass, Father
Cassidy was created a Domestic Prelate, and in 1913, he was appointed
pastor of St. Patrick’s parish. He was succeeded at St. Mary's by Rev.
Francis J. Bradley. Father Bradley served until 1922 when he was in turn
succeeded by his assistant, Rev. James M. Quinn. :

In 1930, Father Quinn was succeeded by Rev. Charles A. Donovan.
In May of that year, Bishop Feehan, who had been in failing health, needed
assistance in his work. Then, the duties of Auxiliary Bishop devolved upon
Msgr. Cassidy. He was consecrated by the Apostolic Delegate on May 27,
1930. In July 1934, Bishop Fechan deceased. In June 1935, a new build-
ing on St. Mary's grounds known as the Bishops’ Chapel and Crypt was
completed, and the bodies of Bishops Stang and Feehan were removed
to the crypt. - ,

Among the outstanding Catholic clergy in Fall River, the names of
Bishop Cassidy, Rev. Pierre Bedard, and Rev. Charles A. Donovan are
prominent. ‘

In his earlier days as priest and monsignor, Bishop Cassidy carved a
niche for himself as a champion of labor and a Temperance Leader. He
was a mediator in many labor disputes, and always upheld the cause of
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labor. His reputation as a Temperance lecturer went far I)eyond the city
limits. Always a gifted orator, he had the power to sway his audience.

Rev. Pierre Bedard was a real father to the French people of Notre
Dame de Lourdes in the Flint district. Through his indefatigable efforts,
the church was built. He had a remarkable talent for music and consider-
able powers as an orator. He guided the members of his flock not only in
spiritual but in temporal matters, and gained the recognition of prominent
Americans.

Rev. Charles A. Donovan earned a very enviable reputation in the
vicinity for his efficient work. He had been a curate at the Sacred Heart
Church and later became diocesan director of charities. He had personal
charge of the charities at St. Vincent's Home, of which he was supervisor,
and his success in this enterprise was very marked. He was very popular
not only with the children at the Home, but among men of prominence
throughout the city. We are proud of his accomplishments.

Overlooking a wide terrain from the summit of Highland Avenue at
No. 2446 is the most elaborate memorial of recent years, viz: the Catholic
Memorial Home, which is under the spiritual guidance of Rev. Edward J.
Gorman and under the care of the Carmelite Sisters for the Aged. Rev.
Raymond T. Considine, as director of charities, has supervising charge.
Itis incorporated and is governed I)y a Board of Trustees and as established,
its policy creates the Home as a haven for aged men and women regard]ess
of creed or race. The capacity of the unit at the present time is approx-
imately one hundred, and living accommodations consist of private rooms
and semi-private or two-bed rooms; the aspect of an institution is avoided
and every convenience and detail develops the idea of a real home for the
individual. Located in the very center of the building is the heart of the
unit, a beautiful Colonial chapel exquisitely designed. The common rooms,
particularly the auditorium and dining hall, continue the home-like atmos-
phere and it has all the appointments to bring comfort and peace. The
exterior grounds are in keeping with the project. To the south of the main
building is a separate unit known as the Priests” Hostel, wherein invalid
and retired clergymen may pass their final years. This Home also has its
focal point, a chapel, where: spiritual and material comfort is available.

Now at the beginning of the fifth decade of the present century, the
Roman Catholic church in Fall River enlists in its service one cathedral,
twenty—five churches, one bishop and seventy priests. Their religious
requirements are met by twenty-eight schools, sixteen convents, two orphan
asylums, two hospitals, one home for the aged, and twenty-seven ecclesi-
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astical residences. Eighty per cent of the residents of Fall River are
Catholics.

This Church and its servants, with powers and efficiency increasing as
the years roll by, has during the last decade excelled all other agencies in
making the world safe for rightebus people, meeting the powerful influence
of communism and socialism with an even superior force, without which
our civilization and the influences of religious love would be in serious
danger of collapse.

The Catholic Churches in Fall River are listed, the date of their found-
ing, the first and last pastors, followed by the Catholic School Statistics.

John the Baptist...... e

492 Center St.

Parish Founded Address First Pastor Present Pastor
1. St. Mary's 1837 407 Spring St. John Corry James J. Gerrard
2. St. Anne'’s (F) 1869 So. Main St. Paul de Montaubrieq Dominique Beaulne
3. Sacred Heart .. 1873 115 Linden St. Francis Quinn James R. Burns
4. St. Joseph's 1873 1355 No. Main St, William Bric Joseph P. Lyons
5. St. Patrick’s ... 1873 So. Main Street John Kelly Edward J. Moriarty
6. Notre Dame (F)...... 1874 Notre Dame St. J. B. Bedard L. Damase Robert
7. Our Lady of the Im-
maculate Conception.. 1882 Thomas St. Owen J. Kiernan John L. McNamara
8. Sts. Peter and Paul ... 1882 Snell St. Patrick Doyle George C. Maxwell
9. St. Louis ... . 1885 440 Bradford Ave. Louis Deajy Thomas Trainor
10. St. Matthew’s (F) ......... 1887 St. Mary's St. . A. Payan George F. Cain
11. Santo Christo (P)...... 1891 240 Columbia C. A. Martens Francisco C. Bettencourt
12. Blessed Sacrament
(F) formerly St.
Dominic's . 1892 2470 So. Main P. Gillant, O.P. Osias Boucher
13. St. John Baptist (F).... 1895 Stafford Rd. and
Tucker St. J. S. Fortin Philias L. Jalbert
14, St. Stanislaus (PI) ...... 1898 Rockland St. P. Guzk Hugo Dylla
15. St. Roch's (F) .. 1899 889 Pine St. J. T. Giguere J. Adrien Gauthier
16. St Michael's (P) 1902 205 Essex St. Francesco Flores John F. Ferraz
-17. Our Lady of the Holy
Rosary (I) .o 120 Beattie R. Parrillo John A, Chippendale
18. Espirito Santo (P)....... 295 Alden George Silveira Manuel S. Travassos
19. St. William's ... 690 Stafford Rd. Patrick J. McGee Francis J. Maloney
20. St. Anthony of the
Desert (S) ... . 1911 Quequechan St. Gabriel Cotkemanz ~ Dr. Joseph Eid
21. Our Lady of Health
(P) . 1914 660 Cambridge Francesco Bettencourt  Antonio L. da Silva
2. St. Elizabeth (P) ............ 1915 500 Tucker St. John De Valles Joseph M, Silvia
23. Our Lady of the
Angels (P) Dwelly St. Joseph Toledo Dr. Adrian Moniz
24. Holy Cross (PI). 54 Child St. Stanislaus Bona Raphael Marciniak
25 nthony of
Padua (P) Sixteenth St. Antonio V. Carmo Arthur C. dos Reis
26. Holy Name ... Read St George McNamee James A, Coyle
27. Ukranian Church of

Rev. Dennis Kulmatytsky

(F) French

(P) Portuguese

(P]) Polish

(I) halian

(S) Syrian

The Ukranian Church of St. John the Baptist at 492 Center Street is a Catholic Church n union with the

See of Rome. It comes under the jurisdiction not of the Diocese of Fall River but of the Ukranian Greek Catholic
Diocese of the United States whose Bishop, the Most Reverend Constantine Bohachevsky, D.C., resides at
Philadelphia, Pa.

The founders of this church were fugitives from Ukraine, from which country they fled fifty years ago. in
search of freedom of worship and for political freedom which had been denied them in their homeland. Their
advanced schools, with a museum, and a college, are located in Stamford, Conn.
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Catholic Schools in Fall River

Enrollmen )
Name (School year 1930-40) ~ Community
St. Mary’s Cathedral School......... S 373 Sisters of Mercy
Blessed Sacrament School ... 404 Sisters of St. Joseph
Espirito Santo School 386 Franciscan Missionaries of Mary

Holy Cross School
Notre Dame School
Prevost School
St. Joseph’s Orphanage
Sacred Heart School
St. Anne School
St. John Baptist School
St. Joseph School
St. Louis School
St. Matthew School
St. Michael School
St. Patrick School
SS. Peter and Paul School........cnn
St. Roch School
St. Stanislaus School
St. Vincent's Home
St. John's Day Nursery School....iii
_ Bishop Stang Day Nursery School..

‘Academy of the Sacred Heart........cccnn
Dominican Academy
Jesus-Mary Academy

Torar

High Schools

Academy of the Sacred Hearts.....ocrcene 224
Dominican Academy 101
Jesus-Mary Academy 118
- Monsignor Prevost 142

—_—

585

Torar

Franciscan Sisters
Religious of Jesus and Mary
Brothers of Christian Instruction
Sisters of Chari

Sisters of the Holy Union
Dominican Sisters

Sisters of St. Joseph

Sisters of Mercy

Sisters of Mercy

Sisters of St. Joseph

Sisters of the Holy Union
Sisters of Mercy

Sisters of Mercy

Sisters of St. Joseph
Felician Sisters

Sisters of Mercy
Daughters of the Holy Ghost

‘ Daughters of the Holy Ghost

Sisters of the Holy Union
Dominican Sisters
Religious of Jesus and Mary

Sisters of the Holy Union
Dominican Sisters

Religious of Jesus and Mary
Brothers of Christian Instruction







C hap ter V

PRIMITIVE METHODIST CHURCHES ~THE SALVATION ARMY
CATHOLIC CHURCHES (NOT ROMAN CATHOLIC)
- SYNAGOGUES ~ SMALLER DENOMINATIONS
SOME RELIGIOUS ORGANIZATIONS OF THE PAST

Primitive Methodist Churches

At the present time, there are three Primitive Methodist Churches in
Fall River. The “First Church” located on Plymouth Avenue was erected
in 1872. The “Second Church”” on Dwelly Street was organized in 1891,
and the Sykes Primitive Methodist Church on Haffards Street in 1892.
There was from about 1897 to 1908 the “Fourth Church” on Brightman
Street. ‘

The Salvation Army

An English family, who had been members of the Salvation Army in
the old country moved to Fall River and worshipped at the Summerfield
Methodist Episcopal Church. They observed that conditions warranted
the establishment of an “Army Post” here and they wrote the General’s
Headquarters in London. This resulted in the New York office sending
to this city in November 1883, Capt. and Mrs. Hulmes. They held their
meetings for eleven years in the old Opera House on Court Square. The
quality and nature of the work of ““The Army”, in time, was approved and

supported l)y the community. Their present “Citadel”, on the corner of
Bedford and High Streets was erected in 1903.

Cathplic Churches

There are four Catholic Churches in the city not under the Roman
Catholic jurisdiction. The First Polish Catholic Church of the Blessed
Virgin Mary purchased their property on Globe Street, about 1870 from
the Brayton Methodist Episcopal Church. The Holy Trinity (Polish)
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Church is located on Winthrop Street and St. John’s Ukranian Church
on Center Street. The St. Demetrios Greek Orthodox Church, previously
mentioned is located on lower Cherry Street.

Synagogues

The first Hebrew congregation to be recorded in the “Fall River Direc-
tory” was in 1891 when a Jewish chapel, at 117 South Main Street was
listed. The cornerstone for the first synagogue to be erected was laid in
1899 by the Congregation Adas Israel on Pearl Street. Since that time
synagogues have been erected by other congregations: — the Brethren of
Jacob (Agudath Ben Jacob) on Quarry Street, in 1903; Ahavatachin on
Weybosset Street, in 1909 and the American Brotherhood of Israel, in
1914, on Union Street. The Congregation Beis David conduct services on
Vale Street.

The Temple Beth-El organized about 1927 and purchasecl the St. Paul's
Methodist Episcopal church building on Bank Street. This building was
destroyed in the conﬂagration of 1928 and the congregation erected in 1933
the imposing temple on the corner of High and Locust Streets. They also
purchased the North Fall River School house and converted it into a chapel
connected with their burial grouncls.

Smaller Denominations

There are now (1940), five denominations which have a small local
following; four of which have been functioning for over fifty years. The
Reorganized Church of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints now located on
Claflin Street was organized about 1885. The New Advent Church organ-
ized in 1887 is located on Coral Street. The Church of Christ Scientist
have their rooms on the corner of Rock and Pine Streets. They organized
in 1892.* The Seventh Day Adventist Church now occupies the chapel on
Foster Street formerly occupied by the Trinity Baptist Church. The Man-
~ chester Evangelical Church is on Pelham Street.

Some Religious Organizations of the Past

The word transitory would not apply to some of the churches and
chapels which are now non-existent. Most of them were established in

communities where there was a demand for their services, where in after

1 The first to introduce Christian Science practice in Fall River were Mr. and Mrs, Seabury T. Manley in
1883. Stephen A. Chace, who was secretary of the first “class”’, became treasurer of the “Mother Church™ in
Bos(tlon. lille handled large sums of money from contributors and a force of clerks worked full time at his
residence here.
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years the population of their neighborhood changecl and there was no need
for their continuance. There is also a growing tendency among Protestants
to consider their denominational differences as of secondary importance,
which results in a frequent transfer of members and in consolidations.

In an interesting paper read before the Fall River Historical Society,
mention was made of a Free Will Baptist Church organized in 1844,
A foundation for their church was built on Bedford Street, near Oak Street.
“In 1850, records show that the society defaulted payment and the property
was taken by force of Execution.” ‘

Columbian Hall, which was located at the northeast corner of Second
and Borden Streets, was situate on land owned by Cook Borden and was
used by a Universalist Society asa place of worship. It was burned in the
fire of 1843 and was one of the five houses of worship then situate in
Fall River, which were rebuilt after this great fire. '

The new l)uilcling was called Berean Temple, and it was dedicated
by a sermon from a former pastor named Dean early in December 1843.
The temple and tvventnyour rods of land were deeded by Cook Borden to
the Society in 1847. The Fall River Monitor, on December 9th, 1843
describes the hall as well f_ittecl “for a lecture room, for concerts, etc., and
it is intended for such use. The Fall River Lyceum is to give a course of
lectures there”.

This first Universalist Society was incorporated March 7, 1840 and we
have a list of its pastors as follows:

Daniel P. Livermore, settled in 1845

William W. Dean CT 1847

B. H. Davis “ 1850
The above appears in the Fall River Directory of 1855, but the next direc-
tory (1857) makes no reference to the Universalist Church. Investigation
shows that the society had meanwhile been discontinued. Fowler says
(1862) “The Universalist Society has no meeting house and no pastor .
Further record shows that when this society was discontinued a consider-
able number of its members joined the Unitarian Society. Among them
were the families of Chester W. Greene and John E. Grouard.

While Pastor Livermore was settled in Fall River he was married. His
wife Mary A. Livermore became a famous lecturer during the Civil War
period. For four years, she was on the Sanitary Commission of the federal
government and was a very famous lecturer, made many friends in Fall
River while her husband was pastor here. These friendships lasted dur-
ing her entire life. She took a great interest in the Borden murder; was
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accounted a friend of Lizzie Borden, and made a special trip to Fall River
to see her. She was also an intimate of Mrs. Robert Adams, and on her
last trip to Fall River made a special effort to meet Edward S. Adams with
whom she had a lengthy and confidential conference.

“Mary Ashton Livermore, the American reformer, was born in Boston
in 1821 and died in 1905. Her father was Timothy Rice. She became the
wife of Daniel P. Livermore, a Universalist minister, who settled in Fall
River, in 1845. She labored with much al)ility in behalf of the United States
Sanitary Commission during the Civil War and took a prominent position
as a writer and a public speaker on Woman Suffrage and various social
and religious questions. She was editor of the Woman's Journal of Boston,
and author of several,l)ool(s, including ‘My Story of the War’ which nar-
rates her four years personal experience as a nurse in the Union Army."

2

Presl)yterian churches have been organized in the past; some of which
held,services for several years. About 1871 an unsuccessful attempt was
made to organize and for a very short time The First Presl)yterian Church
held meetings in Flint's Block on Pleasant Street. In 1885 there were two
Presl)yterian Churches other than the “United Church”. The Presbyterian
Church of America held meetings in Masonic Hall on Franklin Street and
The Presbyterian Church of Fall River held their meetings in the old
Central Church on Bedford Street. In 1887, the Presbyterian Church of
Fall River became the Westminster Presbyterian Church and held their
services on South Main Street opposite Washington Street. The Rev.
Rockweed MacQueston was the pastor. Again, the church moved to
Warren Street where the Rev. John Brown was for a time the pastor. This
church disbanded in 1900.

The Globe Presl)ytenan Church located on West Charles Street was
organlzed in 1890. Before it discontinued services in 1916, it had changecl
lts name to The First Presbyterian Church.

©%0

Between 1895 and 1900 two Lutheran Churches were started, neither

had a large enough followmg to continue.

Several churches of the past have been dealt w1th under their denomi-
" national headmgs









LEONTINE LINCOLN
1846 - 1923

When we consider the educational annals of Fall River during the last
half century, the services rendered by Leontine Lincoln as a layman, to
maintain and advance standards are pre-eminent.. Mr. Lincoln was for
twenty-four years (1880-1904) , a member of the school committee and for
sixteen years the chairman. He was also the secretary of the Board of
Trustees of the B. M. C. Durfee High School. He was one of the organizers
of the Bradford Durfee Textile School, elected president the year of its
organization (1903) and held the office until his death.

He was appointed a trustee of the Public Library in 1878 and was
president of the board from 1896 to 1923. In the “Annual Report of the
Trustees of the Public Library” for 1923, the year of his demise, are recorded
the following tributes. “He was a remarkable personality. Dignified in
bearing, courteous and kind in manners, and ever possessing a real devotion
to high ldeals, it was a rare goocl fortune to be associated with him in publlc
affairs.”” “Leontine Lincoln was a model citizen of whom the community
and state had reason to be proud

Mr. Lincoln was a member of the Old Colony Historical Society and
one of the founders of the Fall River Historical Socxety

Edward S. Adams" who has rendered aid of great value in the prepara-
tion of this lustory, furmshmg valuable information which has made sev-
eral chapters more accurate and complete, was closely associated with
Mr. Lincoln in a number of activities. Mr. Adams was a member of the
school committee for eighteen years, during seven of which he was chair-
man and a member of the Board of Trustees of the Bradford Durfee Textile
School and the B. M. C. Durfee High School. He is a charter member and
past president‘ of the Fall River Historical Society and has contributed
several important papers, including articles on churches, schools and the
underground railroad.

Leontine Lincoln was appointed by Governor Greenhalgh, Feb. 14,
1894, to the State Board of Lunacy and Charity, afterwards the State Board

L The editor regrets that he must accede to the wishes of Mr. Adams and refrain from publishing the
tribute prepared by the aulhor
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of Charity and served until the board was abolished by Governor Cox.
He refused nominations for mayor and congressman, never accepting a
remunerahve office.

He was born in Fall River, Dec. 26, 1846 educated in the local schools
and a private school in Providence. The honorary degree of Master of Arts
was conferred upon him by Brown University. He began his business
career in the office of Kilburn and Lincoln Company of whrch his father
was one of the founders and became treasurer and the fourth presrdent His
business connections, though many and varied never prevented him from
giving of his time and talents to the pul)llc and to private charitable organi-

zations. He was one of the best known and lughly regarded men of his day
He died June 1, 1923.




Chapter Vi
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EARLY EDUCATION

The Pilgrims who settled in Plymouth (founding Plymouth colony)
and the Puritans who settled in Boston and Salem (founding Massachusetts
Bay Colony) were Englishmen from the same walks of life, having the same
aspirations, the same civilization and the same culture, but the Plymouth
settlement was ten years earlier than the other and during that time much
in the line of education had been accomplished in Plymouth by the Pilgrims.

In papers prepared and presented to the Fall River Historical Society,
the early education‘and the early school system of the Puritans, with many
early examples of their school life, were carefu“y edited for the records of
that society, and will therefore not be repeated in detail by me.

Alfter the first winter, the Mayflower band consisted of twenty-five
families; 51 persons had died and 51 survived. At first there had been
twenty-one boys and eleven girls, but during the first winter seven of these
died so that in 1621 there were only twenty-five children and youths (to
which may be added three servants, two of whom were seamen) . Many of
these had an early education either in England or in Holland. Plymouth
Colony functioned for several years under a communistic contract which
required the undivided effort of all the settlers for the common purpose of
paying off the primary cost of their adventure.

It was not until the Warwick patent, granting of their territory to
William Bradford and his heirs and associates in 1630," that the colonists
were free agents, and empowered to act in all matters on their own responsi-
bility. This Warwick patent granted to Bradford and his associates all the
land which was then occupied by the Pokonoket nation of Indians, and as
that nation had previously occupied the Island of Aquidneck in Narragan-
sett Bay and the westerly line of- the patent extended to the middle of that
bay, the Aquidneck island (now called Prudence) was included in the

1The Bradford Associates retained title to the Colony lands for ten years. In 1640 they conveyed the
tands to the colony, after making some reservations to themselves, ‘
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grant. Massasoit in his later wars had lost his sovereignty over Aquidneck
Island, and accordingly Bradford yielded his claim to Aquidneck to those
who settled in Rhode Island and who claimed to own it as successor to the
Narragansett Indians who had wrested it from the Pokonokets.

It is to be noted that the Warwick patent corresponded in date (1630)
with the arrival of the Winthrop fleet in Salem, which was the inception
of the Puritan settlement.

Plymouth settlers relied upon family teaching as a means of education
until 1624, prior to which time they had the aid of William Bradford, the
governor of the colony, and of William Brewsterl. the elder of the Pilgrim

- church, in carrying out the system of family teaching, and as that was con-
fined to perhaps fifteen persons of school age it seemed to be sufficient, but
in 1624 Bradford organized a school which was to supersede family teach-
ing though it was not to supersede oversight by himself and Brewster. The
new gystem, in use for many years, throughout the colony came to be called
the “Dame System”, i.e. teaching by women who were deemed competent,
and who volunteered for the service, at that time without pay.

As the colony settlements extended, control of education was controlled
by the general court and such control was effective. In 1636 when Mrs.
Fuller undertook to adopt a Plymouth lad, consent was given to the appren-
ticeship on condition that she keep him “at school” for two years. By 1639
a Mr. Townsend Bishop had been appointed schoolmaster at Taunton and
in the following year a plan for an academy or college at Jones’ River was
prepared by Deacon Paddy and others. In 1644 Rehoboth settlers assigned
a lot of land for the use of their schoolmaster. The first class at Harvard
graduated Nathaniel Brewster in 1642, and Isaac Allerton, Jr. was a grad-
uate of Harvard in 1650. Education in town schools as well as in higher
seminaries was of general interest long before it needed the stimulus of law.
The first Plymouth legislative act was on June 3, 1658; it consisted merely
of a proposal to the towns that serious consideration be given to set up a
schoolmaster in every town “to train the children to reading and writing”.
There was a similar act in 1662, charging each muniCipality to set up a
schoolmaster, and, by act of June 4th, 1674, when a report was made by
the deputies of the several towns, that a major part of the freemen of the
colony agreed that the profits of the fishing on Cape Cod should be granted
by the court for the erection and maintenance of a school “wherever a com-
petent number of scholars (not less than eight or ten) appear to be devoted
thereto;” it was so ordered, “provided no further demands be made upon
the colony for the maintenance of such a school”. There had been an order
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two years earlier (as of June 4, 1662) that the charge of the free school
which is thirty-three pounds a year “shall be defrayed by the treasurer out
of the profits arising from the fishing at the Cape", until the minds of the
freemen be made known at the next Court of election. That was the Court
which passed the ordinance of 1674 to which I have referred.

On November 1, 1677 the court ordered that “Forasmuch as the main-
tenance of goocl literature doth much tend to the advancement of the weale
and ﬂourishing estate of society and republics, it is'orclered thatin townships
consisting of fifty families or more, some one shall be engagecl to teach a
grammar school and that the town shall allow at least twelve pounds a year
to be raised by rate on all the inhabitants; that with what those having an
immediate benefit thereof, by reason of their children going to school, and
what others may voluntarily give to promote so good a work and general
good, shall make up the necessary residue and that the profits of the Cape
fishing be distributed to such towns, not over five pounds a year, unless the
court treasurer shall see fit to allow more, but not more than five pounds
extra”’; further that *“towns consisting of seventy families and upwards
which have not a grammar school shall pay five pounds a year to the next
town which hath one, said sum to be levied by rate and collected by the
constables on proper warrant .

Meanwhile in 1671 parents and masters were subject to fine unless their
children and servants were allowed to train in reacling and the fundamental
laws, and be taught in the grounds of religion and be trained to some call-
ing; that after three warnings the children of such who were negligent in
this respect should be taken away and placecl durrng minority with some
person who would drscharge this duty, lest they prove pests instead of
b]essmgs to the country”.

Plymouth s first school was taught by John Morton, but wrshxng to raise
its standard, the colony hired a Harvard graduate named Corlet to have
charge, and when the townspeople were dissatisfied because he devoted so
much time to Latin and Greek, the town meeting of 1674 ordered that “due
attention be paid to readmg. writing and arithmetic”. This was the first
free school to be established in New England by law because the schools
established in Massachusetts Bay in 1642 were supported by tuition fees,
and that rule was still in effect in Massachusetts Bay when Plymouth
required such schools‘ to be “absolutely free” (see Thatcher's Plymouth
page 302). When Plymouth, Barnstable and Bristol became shire towns
in 1685 a Latin school was ordered to be maintained in each of these towns,
each pupil to pay three pence a week for English branches and six pence
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per week “when he comes to his grammar (i.e. Latin) . Grammar children
coming from other towns, however, were not required to pay anything.

In 1673 Swansea voted to set up a school for “rthetoric, arithmetic, Latin,
Greek and Hebrew and to read and write English”. This school was free
to those who paid school taxes, but each pupil paid twelve pence in silver
toward the text books. The school was operated under the guidance of the
Baptist preacher John Myles until that town was wiped out by the Indian
massacre at the l)eginning of the Indian war. Mr. Myles' home, where
much of his work was done, was at the west end of Myles’ l)ridge at the
crossing of the Warren river on the old road between Fall River and
Providence. .

During all this time there were no schools in the territory at or adjacent
to the “ffalls river”. In such scattered homes as had been built between the
“Halls river”” and Assonet, the children were taught in their homes or in the
home of some neighl)or, or l)y some dame who taught them without com-
pensation or at least with very small pay. The pastor of the town church
gave voluntary aid and advice to the teaching dame, and that was expected
of him since he was usually the best educated man in the community.
Sometimes, and this was particularly true in the case of Rev. John Myles
and his Baptist church, many of his parishioners lived l)eyond the parish
limits, so he frequently called at many of the homes within Freetown, which
at that time did not maintain a colonial church. His suggestions and his
oversight during these visits played a most important part in early education
in our neighborhood. ‘

* When other means of gaining an education were lacking, we find
that dame schools sprang up in other parts of the colony. These dame
schools were often held in the kitchens of colonial homes and while the
younger pupils were reciting their letters and the older. ones were reading
and spe"ing, the dame busied her fingers with her own l(nitting or sewing.
In these dame schools premiums of ginger bread were frequently given to
scholars for good behavior, iand punishment was often rneted out l)y a tap
on the delinquent’s cranium with the dame’s thimble. Whisperers were.
often silenced l)y having a short stick inserted in their mouths like a bridle,
with strings which could be tied at the back of the head. Other transgressors
were often made to stand on the benches or sit on the dunce stool, wearing
- dunce caps or leather spectacles. ’

In these early schools the facilities for teaching were very limited; the
use of a “hornbook” was very general, but this really was not a book at
all — simply a piece of printed paper three or four inches square, fastened
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onto a thin piece of board, over which was ptacect a translucent sheet of
tlorn, whence came the name. There was often a tiandle at one end of the
board. At the top of this sheet were often printed (by hand) both the
capital and small letters of the alptiat)et. the vowels and sometimes tigures
which were arranged separately. Some religious benediction was often
appended, ending with the Lord’s prayer. Girls were often instructed by
the use of a sampler, which consisted of the embroictering of capital and
small letters with the old English lettering. Yarn was used on a piece of
very coarse cloth or denim and when each girl finished her sampler she
kept it for use in later life as a sample of her work and as a copy for her
home embroidery work.

School books, small and thin, which were of Englisti manufacture and
bound in full leather with illustrations which were very crude, made an
occasional appearance in these schools. An Englisti clergyman named
Glover who came to Boston in 1674, brought over with him a printing
press and he printect several books. Ttley were the first t)oo_t(s printect in
New England. His third printing was of the “Bay Psalm Book” and it
was quite extensively used.as a school book.

The New England primer containing ttie Lord’s prayer, the command-
ments and a few psalms “with some curious cuts of animals and odd look-
ing trees” could be found in almost every colonial home. It was the chief
text book in the Freetown schools. It was used in the dame schools as late
as 1806. Allissues previous to 1700 have vanished, and later issues mostly
printed between 1785 and 1790 are valuable.

From time to time other books appearect for school use, but ttley were
mostly of Englisti auttlorstiip and of Englisti printing. At the beginning,
colonial schools had no blackboards and no maps, but blackboards soon
came into general use. Globes came into use about 1820, but lead pencils
were not in use for many years after that. While ink of home manufacture
was plentitul, the first pens were made of goose quills and the school mas-
ter's most essential accomplishment was his ability to mend these quills.
Paper was rougt1 and dark and its use very sparing because of its cost.

Ciphering was frequently done upon birch bark. A ferule was standard

equipment for retorming the erring pupil. The use of cat-o-nine tails was
trequent, thougti some masters used a rattan or a cowhide.

Stiortly after 1692, when the Province of Massachusetts Bay acquired
jurisdiction over the Plymoutti Colony territory (viz: t)y Ctiapter XX of the
Acts of 1701 ), the General Court provided a penalty of twenty pounds per
year (and proportionally for a lesser time), if any town which had titty
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householders should fail to provide a schoolmaster to teach children and
youth to read and write. A similar penalty was provided if any town which
had one hundred and fifty families should fail to maintain a grammar
school, and a discreet person to l(eep such school. It was required that every
schoolmaster should be 'suital)ly paid, and that every drammar. . school
master should be approved in writing l)y the minister of the town and by
the ministers of the two next adjacent towns (or l)y any two of them).

Many of the towns then had no village nucleus, and the inhabitants
were in widely scattered or in isolated hamlets, so that the schooling of
the children presented many problems. Some towns voted that schools
should be kept for a part of the year in each of several vicinities, and often
the children were allowed to “follow” the schools. These various divisions
of the town were at first called "angles" or "squadrons", but at a later time
they were called “districts”. The assignment of a school was often made
on condition that the district should supply a school building.

By 1750 the towns began to allot the school money to the various dis-
tricts to be spent as the districts approved. In 1789 a division of towns into
“districts” was authorized and the schools were called “District Schools”.
(After 1817 they became public corporations). The choice of teachers,
their compensation and the time during which the schools should be l(ept.
was then taken out of the hands of the selectmen and put into the hands
of a district “prudential committee”.

Between 1812 and the endmg of the Civil War there were contmually
increasing demands for a higher education.

Before free publxc ngh Schools were maintained to meet this demand,
a considerable number of advanced private schools were available at modest
tuition charges. ‘

Peet's Academy, also known as Hermitage Home was conducted by
Josiah Peet, from 1849 to 1859, for both boys and girls, some of whom came
from a considerable distance. One building, a dwelling with little outward
change is still standing on North Main Street, numbered 2524 and 2530.
Nearl)y towns which were more populous than Fall River, had notable
schools. Bristol Academy in Taunton, beginning about 1795, was the
second oldest school of this type in the “Old Colony" “antedated only by
Derby Academy at Hingham, chartered in 1784.”"* Many youths from Fall
River gained a superior education at Peirce Academy in Middlel)orough.
This Academy was established by Major Levi Peirce in 1808 and was

2 Historical Address by William E. Fuller in Taunton, June 30, 1892.
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guided by the trustees of the Baptist Educational Board until 1828, It
maintained pre-eminence in this section after its incorporation in 1835.
Professor J. W. P. Jenks who became master of the Academy in 1842
“exerted a wide and helpful influence over all who came under his instruc-
tion” until the school was given up in 1863. Later he became curator of
the Museum of Natural History at Brown Umversﬁy, to which he removed
his large collection of zoological specimens.

There was a small finishing school in Fall River, taught by Miss Lillian
Cavannaugh, daughter of a naval commandant at Newport. The first
piano in Fall River was a part of the equipment of this school. Popular
also was Howard Academy, a girls’ school in West Bridgewater. Several
attended “Brown” college’which functioned for its first years in Warren,
though Harvard co“ege was more prominent for advanced courses.

Freetown Schools

In 1789 Massachusetts passed laws which provided for the length of
the school year and for a measure of school supervision by the state officers
and for the granting of state aid. Up to that time teachers’ wages were
rarely higher than twenty dollars a month and often less than half that
amount, though usually board was provided for them in the homes of pupils.
Children as young as five years of age studied in the schools from cards
hung on the walls and as the rooms were often overcrowded (an instance
was reported of one hundred children in a room only thirty feet »square) ,
the education given to each was necessarily limited. The New England
Primer printed in England in 1660 continued to be the most important
school book. '
~ Freetown was incorporated by legislative act in 1683. There were no
public school reports until 1844, and the reports previous to 1890 were lost
by fire. There are however some town records relating to schools and of
these the earliest is dated 1703, when Robert Durfee was appointed Town's
agent to hire some one to dispense the gospel and teach the children. It was
then voted not to build a meeting house until such a man was procured.
The first teacher was William Way (1705). He was dismissed after serv-
ing one year. Next, 1718, Thomas Roberts served as schoolmaster in three
different sections of the town, but after two years, he too was dismissed.

In 1727 Freetown sold its two school buildings at auction for seven
dollars, and William Caswell was paicl thirty pounds to keep school for a
whole year; he “to board and diet himself”.
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In 1730 the entire town contained less than eighty families. Freetown
voted, in 1733, to build two school houses, one in each half of the town.
School sessions were moved several times during the year to meet grade
accommodations. ,

Alter 1798, when the State required the town to maintain a school, a
schoolhouse, size 25 x 30, was built. It cost only one hundred and forty
dollars. The door had a wooden latch with a string; there were no shades
at the windows and a fireplace at one end burned Iogs of full cord Iength.
Neither maps nor books were used. Pine planl(s, two feet wide were used
by the older pupils as desks and were arranged in-a continuous line around
three sides of the room. The seats in front of these desks consisted of planks
without backs.



C hapter Vil

FALL RIVER SCHOOLS ~ 1803 TO 1863

In 1803, when Fall River was incorporated as a town it contained two
district Schools, both located west of the Watuppa Pond.

In 1804 and for several years after that, the town divided two hundred
and fifty dollars among these districts in proportion to the number of inhabi-
tants. District number 3 was organized and a schoolhouse was built there
in 1807. The building was 19 by 20 feet, and cost two hundred and
seventy-tbree dollars.

In 1813 thirty-one persons subscribed for, erected, and so became pro-
prietors of, a private or company schoolhouse. Fifty shares were issued.
The company purchased from Thomas Borden sixteen rods of land at the
southwesterly corner of South Main and Broadway (Anawan Street).
This was the first private school in Fall River. After the destruction of this
school building in the fire of 1843, the present existing Anawan Street
School house was built on the northerly side of Anawan Street. Now
(in 1940) it is used by school executives as an Administration building.
It is the oldest school building in Fall River.

In 1825, three hundred and ninety-five families were living in Fall River
and the territory was then divided into nine school districts. By 1841 there
were fourteen districts.

No. 1 Bounded westerly by Taunton River; southerly by Tiverton,
northerly by Fall River Stream running to a point at easterly intersection
of stream and Tiverton line.

No.2 Bounded soutberly and wester[y by Fall River Stream; easterly
by Main Street; nortberly by south line of Judge Durfee farm.

No. 3 Bounded westerly by Main Street; southwesterly by Fall River
Stream; soutbeasterly by Tiverton line; northeasterly by sout erly line of
said Durfee farm. o .

No. 4 Bounded wester[y by Taunton River; northerly by Walnut Street
as far as etc. Rodman farm; easterly by contemplated way known as Han-
over Street, etc. to line of the Pond; thence southerly by said Pond to Tiver-
ton line, etc.

No. 5 Bounded wester[y by Taunton River; southerly by north line
District No. 4; Hanover Street ~ Prospect Street ~ thence north to south
line of Town Farm, etc.
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No. 6 Westerly by Taunton River; southerly by north line District
No. 5; easterly by a line, etc. across town farm; northerly by north line of
Nathan or Bowen farm, etc.

No.7 Westerly by Taunton River; southerly by north line District
No. 6 easterly, etc. etc. by line. On the southerly side of road leading from
Steep Brook and head of pond; thence north to south line of Thomas Durfee
farm; northerly by south line of said farm as it was.

No. 8 Westerly by Taunton River; southerly by south line of Thomas
Durfee’s farm, being northerly of line No. 7; easterly on a line at head of
pond and running north to Freetown line and northerly by Freetown line.

No. 9 Westerly by easterl}; line of Districts 6 and 7Z; northerly by south
line of District No. 8; easterly by the pond; southerly by southerly line of
James Brightman farm, etc.

No. 10 Westerly by east line of Nos. 6 ana 5; northerly by south line of
No. 9; easterly by the pond; southerly by northerly line of No. 4.

No. 11 Westerly by the pond and Tiverton line; easterly by Proprietors
way; southerly by Westport line, etc.

No. 12 Westerly by District 8 and 9; northerly by Freetown line; east-
erly by Proprietors Way; southerly by north line No. 11.

No. 13 Westerly by Proprietors Way; northerly and easterly by Free-
town southerly by new road.

No. 14 Northerl by No. 13; easterly by Dartmouth line; southerly by
Westport; westerly {xy Proprietors Way.

The Town house at the northeasterly corner of North Main Street and
Wilson Road was altered over into a school house in 1826. There were
then 12 public schools and 14 private schools in the city. In this same year
Andrew Robeson established a schoolroom in his print works building on
Central Street and employed a teacher for his juvenile employees. He
allowed them to attend school one-third of each clay. Mr. Joseph Luther
opened a private school over the shoe store of Enoch French & Son.

In 1827, a system called the Lancastrian was tried, the older pupils
taught the younger ones. In 1834 Nathaniel B. Borden opened a school
on the west side of Second Street south of Pleasant Street and nearly
opposite his home. It was called the Cradle of Liberty, also the Washing-
ton School House. By January of 1830, a singing school had been opened
in Apollonian Hall in the north part of the village. In February of the same
year Daniel Goss opened a private school in the basement of the Methodist
Meeting House on Camden Street, south of Central Street. He taught
Greek and Latin and charged tuition which varied from $2.75 to $4.00 a
term. Later in the same year, J. S. Elliot openecl a private school, as did a
Mrs. Van Santford, who taught needlework and penmanship. Armnold
Buffum began an “infant school” for children between two and seven years
of age, "endeavoring gently to draw the tender mind to love of learning and
virtue”. There was a public school on the westerly side of Rock Street
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between Cherry and Locust Streets. Samuel Rodman conveyed this lot
in 1830 and the deed describes Cherry Street as Tasker Street. This was
one of the public schools in District No. 2.

In 1831, a school census showed 1300 children under 18 years of age;
and of these half did not attend school on account of the expense of books.
Eight hundred children lived in the village. :

In 1832 the Green School house was built at the northwesterly corner
of Franklin and High Streets, facing Franklin. It was a two story building,
built on a rock without cellar. Upon its dedication Pliny Earle' taught
_there. He had recently moved to Fall River and from a hall located in the
Centennial Building, which was then standing between Main and Second
Streets, on the southerly side of Pleasant Street, delivered a series of lectures
on astronomy and other advanced subjects. His school was on the second
floor of the Green schoolhouse. He advertised for students and taught
several subjects of a High School grade.

The house on Franklin Street l)elongec[ to School District No. 2, and
the district conveyed it on January 12, 1846 to Oliver Chace and Israel
Buffinton. It was known as the Friends Meeting House until in December
1870, it was deeded to Israel Buffinton and James M. Davis. The school
building was then turned around facing High Street and Mr Davis built
his house on the corner lot.

In 1833, Charles Pease openec[ a singing school in the vestry of Rev. Mr.
Myer s meeting house.

Martha Lovell, then only sixteen years of age, taught a school in the
Congregahonal Church vestry for which her sister paxc[ twelve dollars a
quarter. She is said to have had thirty-five scholars during mild weather.
There was a school I(ept on Pine Street, west of Main, l)y Laura H. Lovell.
It was then the most popular school of the town, and she taught it for
twenty-four years. After that perioc[ the builc[ing was moved.

In 1834, there were four singing schools in Fall River. One was at the
corner of South Main Street and Broadway (Anawan Street), another in
the Washington Schoolhouse. The first dancing school was openec[ at
Blake's Hotel in 1834.

- In 1834, the State of Rhode Island authorized a lottery to raise school
funds and this aided such of our schools as were then in Rhode Island.

1 “Memoirs of Pliny Earle, M.D., with extracts from his diary and letters (1830-1892) and selections from

his professional writings (1839- 1891) edited witl'n a general introduction, by F. B. Sanborn, of Concord.
Damrell & Upham, Boston, 1898,
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Lottery tickets were sold at two dollars each, and there were 18,000 prizes.
The total sum raised was $68,000.

In 1841 when the census showed a total population of 7,000, the town
appropriated $4,500 for schools, and the State of Massachusetts appro-
priated $324. There were fourteen school districts at that time, between
which a sum of $500 was divided, half between the districts and half in
proportion to the number of children.

There were then three members on the school committee and the com-
mittee examined all applicants for teaching positions. In one year there
were twenty-eight applicants and twenty~five were approved. Each mem-
ber of the committee visited such of the schools as were assigned to him. In
some of the grammar schools where algel)ra, geometry, surveying, naviga-
tion and philosophy were taught, the children were examined quarterly on
each subject. Teachers were paid as much as $3.50 a week, and when the
committee, desiring to be liberal, recommended a salary increase, no action
was taken.

Four of the fourteen school districts were located in the village and ten
in the outlying suburbs. The total number of classes was twenty-five and
there were twenty-five teachers. As there was a bell attached to only one
of these school houses, the bell on the Pocasset Factory was rung for school
purposes. This bell was clearly heard throughout the village.

Atfter the “Great Fire” of 1843, a school was opened in the Episcopal
Church on Main Street, and three other schools were held in the lecture
room of the Unitarian Church at the southeasterly corner of Borden and
Second Streets. These latter rooms were objectionable, due to dampness,
because the basement had been used to store ice. Another temporary school
was held at Firemen's hall in the Niagara Engine House on the southerly
side of Pleasant Street; now (1940) occupied by Sanford’s hardware store.

So many of the school reports of Fall River were destroyed in the City
Hall fire of March 19, 1886, and because only single copies of some of these
are available for study, more voluminous abstracts for the years from 1842
to 1855 are herein noted than would otherwise seem appropriate.

The school reports for 1842-3 note that there were then 1,943 school
children between the ages of four and sixteen. The committee examined
thirty—one persons who had applied to teach school and revised the code of
“School Regulations”. A principal change was that thereafter parents were
allowed to grant permits for their wards to attend school when their seats
had been forfeited I)y “non-attendance on 32 days in any week”. This
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forfeiture rule had been deemed expedient because there were not enough
seats to accommodate all the scholars. .

The school in District No. 1 was small, due to the fire of 1843 and
because of the withdrawal of Roman Catholic children to attend a school
of their own.

At that time there were twenty-two schools, taught l)y twenty-five
teachers and schools were taught in the fourteen districts into which the
town was then divided, four in the village and ten outside. The schools in
each district were in charge of prudential committees authorized by law and
elected by voters in each district. Conflicts between school committees and
prudential committees were often annoying.

Schools in District No. 2 were closed because of a lack of funds. There
was then no school house in District No. 7 so that school sessions were held
in an unfinished room in a dwelling house; there was inconvenience because
only a thin partition separated the school room from the living quarters of
the family.

In District No. 14 the teacher, Miss Canedy, was commended for her
“admirable discipline". She had studied for a year at the Normal School
at Lexington. The Normal School, at Lexington, established in 1839 was
the first normal school in America. Two years later the school was moved
to West Newton and later to Framingham.

Miss Lydian (Lydia Ann) Stowe, Edward S. Adams’ mother, was a
~ member of the first class there and graduated with her class. After gradua-
tion she taugllt for two years in Town Avenue School near Central Street.
Mary Brayton, afterwards Mrs. Mary B. Durfee and later Mrs. Mary B.
Young, graduated with the second class of this same school, and she also
taught at first in the Town Avenue School and later in the Anawan Street
School.

During one year the school committee held fifty meetings and for their
services, which included school visitations and clerical work, tlley were paid
sixty-nine dollars, which was divided among the tllree members,

The Anawan Street school house, originally built as a church in 1823,
was sold to the School District in 1834, and destroyed in the great fire of
1843. Atfter the fire a ““fine new edifice” (now the old Anawan street school
house) was erected. This and the “Third street school” (whicll was in
Tiverton prior to 1862) are the only Fall River school buildings of this
period which are now (1941) standing in their original location. ‘As pre-
viously noted the Anawan Street school is now (1941) the School Admin-
istration building, and the Third Street school building located at the
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northeasteﬂy corner of Third and Wade Streets is now (1941) used by the
John J. Doran Post Veterans of Foreign Wars. |

The report for 1844 and 1845 consisted of a publication of the “Regula-
tion of the General School Committee”. Important among these are the
provisions that the branches taught in the primary schools were spelling,
reading, elementary arithmetic, geography and philomphy and in the
grammar schools spelling, reading, writing..Englisl'i grammar, composition,
arithmetic, algebra, book‘-keeping, geography, history, geometry, astron-
omy, surveying, navigation, natural philosophy, cl’xemistry and physiology.
For these ystudies specific class books were named.

School hours ‘were from 9 A. M. to 12 M. and in the afternoon from
2P.M. to 5 P. M. in the summer and fall terms. The afternoon sessions
were from 1:30 to 4:30 during the winter term.

School doors were required to be closed, and scholars who were tardy

were not permitted to enter during a school session. except in case of a
severe storm.

Three vacations were provided for:

1 —~ two weeks following the last Wednesday in April.

2 — three weeks following the 3rd Wednesday in July.

3 — one week fo“owing the third Wednesday in November.

The report for 1845 included a school census. There were 2,727 pupils;
available funds $5,175 from the town and $392 from the State.

District No. 1 then had two school houses “two noble houses on beau-
tiful locations but no proper teaching apparatus”. One was on Anawan
Street and the other on Canal Street and four classes were in constant
operation there.

District No. 2 had four school houses, viz: High Street, Bedford Street,
Town Avenue and on No. Main Street at the Northeasterly corner of Pros-
pect. The new grammar school was on High Street, with more scholars
attending than could be seated.

District No. 6 had only one school room in a brick house “better adapted
for igs and hens than children”.

l]JDish-ict No. 7 had one house, and no equipment. It was too small and
needed entire remode“ing.

District No. 8 had only one very small and badly constructed house
without even a blackboard as equipment,

District No. 9 and No. 10, same description as No. 8.

District No. 11 one house too small for comfort, convenience or health,

District No. 12 no school house, no school. It had been kept in a dwell-
ing house. )

District No. 13 one house ample in size, averaging an attendance of only
five scholars during the year. It also had no blackboards and no other school
equipment. '

District No. 14 one house, very acceptable for present purposes but no

blackboards, etc.
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The Committee report for 1846 showed a school census of 2,611 with
only 1,109 scholars attending school. The total appropriation was $7,38’3
by the town and $421 by the State. The committee recommended the aboli-
tion of Districts and the establishment of a High School. It was noted that
upon division of the State appropriation among the districts, the teachers
in District No. 1 each received only $18.11. The employment of a teacher
in penmanship for the village grammar school was recommended. It char-
acterized the public schools as fully equal to most of the private schools
and complained because parents preferred private or select schools “to the
publlc schools with result that not over half of tlle children attended the
public schools, and many had no schooling”.

District No. 2 was the largest district, with 1,368 children. District
No. 14 was the smallest, having only eight children. The school committee
was criticized for paying $30. a month to a male teacher to instruct scholars
in the lowest grade when a competent faithful female teacher could “per-
form equall'y well” for $16. In this same year the committee advertised in
the newspapers for a teacher for district No. 8. She was to be examined at
the office of Attorney Louis Lapham. and her compensation was to be $20
a month and board.

A private school on Barbary Hill (Brady Street) with as many as one
hundred puplls was taught by Mr. James Davis. He cllarged tuition of a
dollar a month and he was dubbed ‘latherer” or “latherum” because he
used the switch very lreely

Another private school was l(ept by Plulrp Harrington He was lmown
as the best penman in Fall River.

The report of 1847 showed a school census of 2,785; all but 145 lived
in the village. The town appropri‘ated $7.500 for schools and the State gave
$455. Irregular attendance was again noted to be the greatest bar to school
success,

In 1850 the June Street school-house, south of Locust Street was com-
pleted; also a new school-house for District No. 10. The School Committee
complained that no Prudential Committee had been appointed for District
No. 9, on account of which the school-house in that district bore “great
marl(s of neglect and there was not even a chair- for the teacher; that this
house was pleasantly situated on the edge of a wood; that the school in
District No. 12 was l(ept in a 7 x 13 foot room, in a private house and there
was no road to the building. The construction of a more convenierit house
~ was desirable. District No. 13 had only three scholars. The committee
recommended it be closed.” :
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- In 1853 the School Committee authorized the Prudential Committees
of the several districts. except Districts Nos. one and two to hire teachers for
their districts.

When Fall River was ifncorporated a city in 1854, there was a cllange
in school administration. The school buildings came under the iurisdicﬁon
of the Board of Aldermen and were administered b’y a committee of “public
instruction”.

During the years of 1856 and 1857, the abolishment of the district
system was uppermost in the public mind and much attention was given the
subject in the school report for 1857.

The town of Fall River, Rhode Island, when the state boundary line
was cllanged in 1861, became a part of the city of Fall River, Massachusetts.
The last report of the School Committee of Fall River, Rhode Island, dated
February 26, 1862 was signed by Elihu Grant, William Connell, Jr. and
N. M. Buffinton. Six more school districts and ten schools (school rooms)
came under the supervision of the local committee. These additional schools
continuéd to be taught by their former teachers, except that an assistant
teacher was named for the Third Street School. These schools had a
summer enrollment of 725 and a winter enrollment of 737.

One wonders how the teachers were able to exist during this period of
stress and high prices. The High School principal received an annual

salary of $1,080; the grammar principals, $900 and the country and grade
teachers from $187.20 to $247.50.

Nores: The early history of the Anawan and High Sireet Grammar Schools is recorded in the annual
report of the School Committee of 1859,

A list of textbooks and the rules of the committee were printed in the report for 1861-1862.
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The municipal committee of “public instruction”” recommended that the
district school system be abolished and on April 6, 1863 the Board of Alder-
men ordered the system discontinued. By the abolishment of the districts,
the duties of the Prudential Committees, namely the construction and
maintenance of school property, devolved upon the Public Property Com-
mittee of the city government. Thus the division of authority was continued
for many years.

This marks the end of a definite periocl in our school system and closely
precedes a periocl of growth and expansion, A list of school buildings and
their principals or head teachers follows:

The High School was on the southeast corner of June and Locust
Streets. Charles B. Goff was principal.

There were four schools classed as grammar schools: Anawan Street,
George W. Locke, Principal; High Street, William R. Gordon, Principal ;
Maple Street, Albion K. Slade, Principal and Osborn Street, William
Nichols, Jr., Principal.

The names of the five intermediate schools and their principals were
Bedford Street, M. Elizabeth Gardner; Columbia Street, Elizabeth C.
Vickery; Fourth Street, Sara Gardner; Mt. Hope Village, Ariadne J.
Borden; and June Street, Francis C. Vickery.

There were ten primary schools; Town Avenue, Helen M. B. Davol;
Prospect Street, Nancy Cole; Canal Street, Lucy Corey; Third Street,
Annie M. Carr; Globe Village, Angeretta Schermerhorn; Head of Pond,
Ann W. Brawley; North District, Elizabeth B. Winslow; Steep Brook,
Mary E. Morton; Dartmouth District, Harriet E. Elsbree; East of Pond,
Hannah C. Miller.

Three were classed as mixed schools; Turnpike, Thomas A. Francis;
Main Road, Lydia M. Brightman; New Boston, Elizabeth H. Simmons.

Mr. Nichols resigned before the end of the school year and George W.
Bronson was elected principal of the Osborn Street School. Mr. Bronson
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served the city many years as a teacher in the district schools, principal of
several grammar schools and as a high school teacher. He was a member
of the School Committee in 187 9. He wrote poetry which he published in
the local press under the name of Whitefield.

The Globe Village School was on the lot-opposite St. Patrick’s Church
on South Main Street, where the old Slade School stood Head of Pond
School was near “Fighting Rock”, at the junction of Wilson, Blossom and
Bell Rock Roads. The name Turnpll(e School has in the past been applied
to three different burldmgs by residents of the east end. The old Turnpll(e
School, mentioned in the 1863 list was a one room building situated on
Watuppa Turnpil(e (Pleasant Street) , near where Carr’s Lane (Eastern
- Avenue) crossed the “Pike”. Mrs. Charles M. Ballard, who lived as a
child at the Jencks farm nearby and attended the school said there was a
stretch of woodland from the school to the store of Peter Bogle, at the foot
of Bogle Hill, where the children purchased their sweetmeats.

When the pupils were transferred from this l)uilding to one on Flint
Street, the name erroneously became attached to that building. Later when
the Pleasant Street School was built on the same, but enlarged lot on which
stood the old Turnpil(e School, the -people from force of habit called the
new school by its old name and, continued to do so for sixty years.

The suggestion was made by the School Committee of 1853 and several
times afterwards, that the position of SUperintendent of Schools be created.
Early in 1865 the Cit'y Council passed an ordinance establishing the office
and a few months later Rev. Daniel W. Stevens was chosen by the School
Committee. Under a state law the members of the committee thereby
ceased to receive pay for their services. 4

Mr. Stevens was a graduate of Harvard College and came to the city
highly recommended by the Pre_sident of Harvard and by the Secretary of
the State Board of Education, In his first report he said that he “had not
come as a scholastic sSpy or task master . He emphasrzed the need for
trained teachers. He deplored the _poor attendance. of puprls and recom-
mended a truant school and the appointment of a truant officer. Hrs term
of service was short but of much value

In September, 1867, M. C. Tewl(sbury was elected Supenntendent of
Schools and Secretary of the School Committee. Meetrngs were held in the
Aldermanic chamber but soon after this, school headquarters were estab-
lished on the second floor of the small wooden burldmg on the northwest
corner of Rock and Franklin Streets, formerly occupred by the Cataract Fire
Company and later by Post 46 Grand Army of the Republic.
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Superintendent Tewl(sbury showed marked ability, especially in the
attempt to enforce the child labor laws and the management of "Factory"
schools, to be alluded to later. During his administration, a truant officer
was on duty for the first time. A grade teachers’ association was formed,
which met weeldy, to discuss educational problems. The subjects of music
and drawing received more attention. '

Parker Borden was the first supervisor of music. He gave his services
free of charge for a short time. After his regular appointment, he served the
schools for many years. He conducted private singing schools in the vestry
of the Franklin Street Church and later in the west wing of old Music Hall.

Alter several years of depression, the city began to prosper. New mills
were erected. Villages on the outsldrts sprang up like magic. The popula-
tion increased rapidly. Fifteen new school buildings were erected between
1868 and 1879 in an attempt to meet the demand. The Morgan Street
School (N. B. Borden) was occupied in 1868, the Robeson, Brown, Bedford
Street, and Borden in 1871. In 1873, a school was provided on Flint Street,
to relieve the crowded condition of the one room Turnpike School. In
October, 1874, rooms were opened in the Davis and Slade Schools. The
Davenport School was also partially occupied by intermediate and primary
grades in 1874, When the grammar school on Oshorn Street was destroyed
by fire in 1873, the National Hall building on South Main Street was moved
to replace it. In 1876 the Border City School, since replaced by a new
building and then abandoned was completed. At about the same time a
new school was erected on Tucker Street.

Superintendent Connell, elected in 1872, in his annual report expressed
himself rather forcibly concerning the then new Border City School. He
wrote: “Indeed the finish is so elaborate and conveniences so ample, espe-
cially, for the grade of school for which the building was intended, that I
hesitate not to say, an error of considerable magnitude was committed in
its construction. We need additional rooms more than we need useless
conveniences and expensive decorations.” ‘

The Pine Street School was opened in September 1876. This school
and the three four room wooden buildings on Pleasant Street, Danforth
Street and Lindsey Street completed during 1878 and 1879, were con-
sidered at the time to be the most economical and the best for school purposes
in the city. :

Superintendent Connell in his report for 1880 said, “Perhaps no city in
the Commonwealth of equal size, has within the last ten years expended.
more money in the erection of school-houses than Fall River”. Even with
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all this generous provision, the assembly halls in the Brown, Davis, Slade
and Morgan Street Schools had to be divided into school rooms. For a time,
rooms in the old City Hospital building on Brownell Street, the Cataract
Engine House on Rock Street and Armory Hall on Bedford Street were
utilized.

In the midst of this period of expansion, Superintendent Tewksbury
res‘igned. Throughout his term of office he did everything in his power to
increase the percentage of school attendance. As late as 1870 only one-
third of the primary children entered the intermediate grades. The cost of
books and supplies was one of the reasons given for non-attendance and
for leaving school. Superintendent Tewlcsbury went so far as to suggest
that “paper and lead pencils should not be used instead of slates, and all
superHuous expense to the scholars should be avoided, so that our schools
may offer as few obstacles to the poor as possible”.

William Connell, Jr., a citizen of Fall River, succeeded Mr. Tewksbury
as’ Superintendent in 1872, The followmg quotation from Supermtendent
Connell’s first annual report (1872-1873) shows plainly lus stand in rela-
tion to free text books and supplies

“It seems to me that the term, ‘Free Schools’, means something more
than the furnishing rooms and instructors. To be wortlly of the appellation',
tliey should furnish text-books and stationery, — teachers and rooms, ~
furniture and apparatus, and all appliances needful in the education of the
children.” Fall River provided free text-books for pul)lic schools in the year
1874 and was the first city to make this provision. It was ten years before
the law compelled such free text-books.

The same year that free text-books were introduced by ordinance of
the City Council, fresh water, for the first time was piped to the schools in
the center from North Pond. The neiglil)ors from whose wells tlie water
for the schools was obtained must have been pleased

Parker Borden was made a full time supervisor of music at this time.
A principal's'assistant (not named) was appointed as an experiment, to
give the principel more time for supervision. The following year (1875)
W. S. Perry, a graduate of the State Normal Art School was appointed a
supervisor of drawing. Sewing was introduced in the primary and inter-
mediate grades with Mrs. Mary Dingwell as teacher. Two truant officers
were employed, Mr. William Read and Mr. John Brady. The first sug-
gestion for manual training in the schools came in 1877.

In 1875 there was not enough money appropriated by the city govern-
ment to pay the teachers’ salaries, already below the State average. It was
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decided to shorten the school year. 1eachers were then paid by the week.
~Again in 1878, salaries were reduced fifteen percent and evening schools
were closed. The next year there was a further reduction of the higher
salaries and the services of the special teachers were dispensed with for
a time,

Dr. A. M. Jackson, while chairman of the School Committee in the
early elghtles wrote lengthy reports on school conditions and their relations
with the general put)llc His recommendations for conserving the health of
the puplls were pomted and practlcal. From a pO[lth&[ angle, he refers in
a rather sarcastic manner, to the efforts of certain politicians to gain control
of the school systems of the State. He concludes this part of his report with
the statement: —~ “Tt is hardly possible, however, that the time will come
when the Municipal Government shall either appoint or control the School
Committee.”

The Cambridge Street School was in use in November 1881 and the
Linden Street School in February 1882; each having four rooms.

During the same period additional auttlority was given to principals of
schools to supervise the teachers and unify the instruction in the different
grades. Each grammar principal was allowed an assistant who was called
thereafter a Principal’s Assistant or Assistant to the Principal.

At this time (1883) there were thirteen grades in the school system,
three primary, two intermediate, four grammar and four high schools.

The Bowen Street School is listed in the report for 1883. It was origi-
nally the Mt. Hope Village School in Fall River, Rhode Island. Later it
was known as the Lincoln Street School. When the name of the street was
changed about 1883, there was a consequent change in the name of the
school. The Mount Hope Avenue, Covel Street and Brownell Street
Schools each having four rooms were first opened during the school year
of 1884-85. Both the Chace School and the Buffinton Street were in opera-
tion during the school year 1885-1886.

The Superintendent reported, “our schools were never in a more pros-
perous condition than now”. It was in March, 1886, that all school records
on file at headquarters were destroyed in the City Hall fire. These records
contained a history of our schools dating back to the time when the city was
a small village. Two thousand dollars worth of text-books and supplies
were lost. The Mayor found temporary quarters for the department in the
Custom House.

Plans were adopted in 1887 to place more emphasis on the teaching of
temperance. A State law had recently been adopted requiring that “the
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effect of alcohol, stimulants and narcotics on the human system should
be taught in the schools”. The appointment of two supervisors, Miss S. H.
Morse in music and Miss Kate E. Shattuck in drawmg gave added impetus
to the teaching of these subjects.

In 1889 the city had forty-two school-houses with one hundred eighty-
two study rooms and thirty recitation rooms. Some schools like the old High
Street, Maple Street and Anawan Street Schools were so constructed that
several grades were assembled in one large room and the puplls were sent
by divisions to small rooms for the recitation perrods

The name Westall School was given to the Maple Street School in
honor of John Westall and the name Foster Hooper School was given to
the old High School burldmg on June Street, which had been remodelled
to accommodate the grammar grades of the Borden and Westall Schools
George W. Locke was the principal. '

Miss Lizzie O. Stearns replaced Miss S. H. Morse as supervisor of
music. Miss Margaret T. Hurley began her long, valuable career as super-
visor of reading.

The first public kindergarten schools were established at this time; one
at the Westall School and one at the Davis School. ‘

Dr. Robert T. Davis presented to the city a block of mill stock to estab-
lish the “Davis Prize Fund”. The purpose is expressed in the deed of gift
as follows: — “The School Committee shall annually, in the month of June
select from the graduating classes in the High School and eight grammar
schools the scholar who has the best general school record, to receive a
prize.” The deed of gift has since been revised so that only one medal is
given; this, on the same terms, to pupils in the Davis School.

There was again a change of supervisors in 1890. Miss L. A. Kimball
was appointed for drawing and Mr. Walter T. Titcomb began his long
and faithful round of duties as music supervisor.

The custom of drsplaymg the “Stars and Strrpes on school premises
began in 1890 when several citizens donated Hags to schools in which they
were partlcularly interested.

Diplomas were awarded for the first time in 1890, to graduates of
grammar schools, as an inducement for puprls to remain in school.

The Fall River Teachers Association as it now exists was first orgamzed
in 1892.

Superintendent of Schools William Connell died June 23, 1894.
During the school year 1862-63, Mr. Connell was the teacher of the Mt.
Hope School in Fall River, R. 1. In 1866 he was elected a member of the
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School Committee and from 1869 to 1872 served as chairman.  He con-
scientiously, with marked ability, performed his duties as Superintendent.
holding the confidence of the teachers and the public. The William
Connell School on Plymouth Avenue, opened in 1895, was named in his
honor.

Inthe years following, there were many changes in educational methods
and practices. William C. Bates who succeeded William Connell as
superintendent, with the support of a co-operative and wise School Com-
mittee was able to adopt those of value and discard those of little or no value
to this community. The health of school children was given more consider-
ation and medical inspectors, in charge of the Board of Health, were
appornted

Mr. Bates became superintendent durrng a perrod when many transfers
and promotrons in the teaclung staff became necessary. The proper place-
ment of teachers and principals is one of the most important and perhaps,
at the same time, the most onerous of duties. The appointments and trans-
fers were made with a minimum of friction.

Between 1894 and 1902, the Flint Street, Bedford Street and Town
Avenue schools were abandoned as were also overflow schools in St. John's
Hall, and the Westminster and Dwelly Street churches.

Sixty-four new school rooms were provided l)y the enlargement of
several school-houses and the erection of new buildings. The Davol School,
on Flint Street opened in January 1894, The Osborn School, with eight
rooms, was constructed to replace the old Osborn Street School. The
William Connell School, previously mentioned, was one of the new build-
ings. The Coughlin School on Pleasant Street, quite different structurally
from any other building, was opened in Fel)ruary, 1895. The George B.
Stone School on Globe Street, The James M. Aldrich School on Harrison
Street and the Fowler School on Sprague Street, all eiglit room buildings
were completed during the school year 1808-'09, The next school year, the

- Samuel Longfellow on William Street and the Highland School on Robe-
.son Street, were in operation.
Sewing was again introduced in 1890; this time in the fourth and fifth
-grades with Miss Annie L. Hoyt assisted by Miss Alice M. Russell as
teachers. Later Miss Russell was appointed supervisor and more teachers
were engaged.

Alter twelve years of faithful service, Miss Kimball, supervisor of

drawing, died and was replaced by William E. Braley a local artist.
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Superintendent Bates held office until July 5, 1905, when he resigned
to become superintendent of the Cambridge schools.

Everett B. Durfee, vice-principal of the High School, was elected to
succeed Mr. Bates.

A state law was enacted under which no child under sixteen years of
age was allowed to work, who could not read at sight and write legibly
sentences in the English language. To provide adequate instruction for
the increased enrollment this law engendered, special rooms were opened in
some sections of the city and a number of class-rooms became overcrowded.

The Lincoln School, long known as the Higll Street School, built in
1846 was so badly damaged by fire on the night of Dec. 22, 1905, it was
found necessary to replace it with a new building.

In September, 1906, the Samuel Watson School on Eastern Avenue
was completed and opened for all grades below the High School. The
Westall (Maple Street) School was condemned as unsanitary and sold
at auction. The building was cut in two. One half was demolished and
the other half was moved and is now used as a dwelling house on lower
Prospect Street.

The new Lincoln School, to replace the old building destroyed by fire,
was completed in June 1907. It was considered one of the finest grade
school-houses in New England. The new Westall School was opened
September 14, 1908. It was occupied by Principal Locke and the teachers
and pupils of the grammar grades, who for several years had dquarters in
the old Higll School (Foster Hooper) building on June Street, together
with the primary and intermediate children of the district. The Foster
Hooper School was no longer used for day school purposes. '

The William S. Greene School on Cambridge Street was transferred
to the School Department on September 7, 1909, Congressman Greene
attended the dedicatory exercises and raised the ﬂag for the first time.

Buildings erected during 1910 and 1911 were the John J. McDonough
on William Street, the William J. Wiley on North Main Street, and the
Hugo A. Dubuque on Oak Grove Avenue. The first coolcing school,
sponsored by the Civic Club was started in the “McDonough School”.

By 1912, health aids in the schools included seven medical inspectors,
on part time, a school nurse supported by the SP.C.C., an annual sigllt
and liearing test (started in 1906) and a free clinic at the Union Hospital.

The School Committee voted in 1912 that all pupils both public and

parochial must pass an examination to enter the High School but this vote
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was rescinded a few years later. The elementary school course was reduced
from nine to eight years.

Everett B. Durfee failed of re-election and his term of office as super-
intendent ended July 1,1913. Asa high school teacher, his personal interest
in each one of his pupils had gained him a host of friends throughout the

city. He was to be soon after appointed the Principal of the Bradford
Durfee Textile School.

Hector L. Belisle, a Harvard graduate who had been a high school
teacherand a grammar master in Lawrence, became Superintendent. Soon
after Mr. Belisle's election, Miss Mary A. S. Mugan was appointed Assist-
ant Superintendent, Miss Margaret Lynch, Supervisor of Primary Schools
and John R. Ferguson of Evening Schools; thus there were four officials
performing the work so long demanded of one. It can be imaginecl that
Mr. Belisle's position was not an enviable one. He very soon demonstrated
that his object was to conduct the affairs of the department in a non-political
and a non-sectarian manner, that he would be fair and unbiased in his
relations with his associates, that his chief concern was the welfare of the
children in the schools.

The first new school to be opened under Mr. Belisle's supervision was
the Susan H. Wixon School on Hamlet Street, in 1913.

. Miss Alice Russell, supervisor of sewing, retired July 1, 1914. Miss
Russell retired on the day that the Massachusetts teachers’ retirement
system went into effect under the general laws. Much credit is due Mr.
Harry Smalley, for the establishment of this, one of the best contributory
teachers’ retirement systems in the country. Mr. Smalley was elected one
of the two directors to represent the teachers on the state board and has
always been re-elected by the teachers of the state whenever his terms
expired.

The Henry Lord School on Tucker Street was openecl in 1915, This
large buildmg was constructed with sma" class rooms and a number of
other innovations.

It had been the policy of past administrations to so place school accom-
modations that children of a given district would not have long distances
to walk to school. This policy resulted in the erection of a number of small
school-houses. The present administration has contended that large schools
can be more efficiently managed both eclucationa“y and financia“y. A
comprehensive plan for the closing of some small schools and the enlarge-
ment of some of the schools with eight or more rooms, together with the
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erection of junior high schools, was presented by the Superintendent in his
annual report for 1916-"17.

~ The educational committee of the local Chamber of Commerce, after
surveying the school situation from a taxpayer's point of view, met with
representatives of the school department and the Mayor, with Prof. E. C.
Moore of Harvard University present, and as a result of this conference,
funds were provided i)y the aldermen to conduct a survey'of the school
system i)y a staff of educational experts. The report of these experts, pre-
sented in 1917, is too long and specific to be given here. It has and continues
to be of value, aithough many of the recommendations have thus far not
been consummated, chiefly because of the financial problems involved.

The years of the first World War were a time of activity, advances,
interruptions and changes in the school department. A physical education
department and part time classes, for the correction of speech defects were
1naugurated A supervisor for cookmg in elementary schools was appornted
and Miss Ruth Negus, who had been a valued teacher, normal instructor
and principal, was appointed a primary supervisor.

The schools were active in many ways in war work. The Junior Red
Cross was organized with Harry Smailey as president. The parochial
schools, the schools of Somerset, Swansea and Westport joined with the
Fall River public schools to raise money and provide articles for service and
relief. During this period, twenty schools had enforced vacations, varying
from a few days to five weeks on account of a fuel shortage. All schools
were closed from Septemi)er 27th to October 28th, 1918, on account of
tile influenza epidemic, when scores of teachers served in hospitals, canteens
and Red Cross stations.

Before the war there was apparent an increased interest in the value
of an education on the part of the public, and the war emphasized these
values. This attitude was reflected in legislative enactments and the larger
enrollments in the upper grades. On account of an abnormal increase in
the school population, lack of accommodations for proper schooling became
very critical. In March, 1920, the legisiature granted the city permission to
borrow $1,500,000 for school building purposes. This was in addition to
$300,000 previously borrowed but not used. The Superintendent of
Schools, supported i)y recommendations of the educational survey, advised
the erection of junior high schools in different sections of the city and the
adoption of the 6-3-3 plan, eg. six years in the elementary schools, three in
the junior l’ligl’l school and three in the iiigii school.
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The school year 1922-"23 witnessed the closing of two (district) schools
which were started before the Civil War. The Lower New Boston school-
house was moved to the High School Athletic Field for temporary use.

"The Upper Neéw Boston school-house, in which a number of our teachers

and principals obtained their first teaching experience is in its old location,
used as a dwelling house. The primary and intermediate pupils attending'
these schools were transferred to Spencer Borden School. This school and
the Jerome Dwelly School, built to replace the old Bowen Street School,
were so constructed that all rooms were on the ground floor.

The comparatively new Henry Lord Grammar School was badly dam-
aged by fire in December 1920 and when rebuilt, it was so constructed
that a junior high school could be established. It became the first junior
high school in the city and although conditions were far from ideal, a good
start was made under the able supervision of Principa] Henry Miller.

In 1923 the e]ementary schools became so crowded that fifty—nine rooms
were on double shift, to accommodate over four thousand pupils. In some
sections first grade children were attending only one session each day. This
same year Miss Ruth Negus died and Miss Mabel Stuart was elected to
her place as a primary supervisor. A department of research was estab-
lished with Miss Mary Alcock as assistant director. She subsequently had
charge of intelligence tests and standard tests for the grades.

In 1924, the Board of Health created the position of Director of School
Hygrene, under whose direction, elght part time medical inspectors and nine
full time nurses worked.

Three new elementary schools were opened in the fall of 1925: — the
John J. Doran School on Fountain Street, the Alfred S. Letourneau on
Anthony Street, and the Laurel Lake on Laurel Street. These three build-
ings relieved materially the crowded schools in their neighborhoods. In
1925 the elementary pupils in the Henry Lord School were transferred to
elementary‘bur]drngs which enabled this school to conduct all remain'mg
classes as a junior high school.

The James Madison Morton Junior High School, the first and thus far
the only properly equipped building for junior high school work, was
opened in the fall of 1926. Miss Katherine C. V. Sullivan was elected
principal. The opening of this large school resulted in the transfer of many
teachers and the re-arrangement of the grades in the northern part of the
city, to conform with the 6-3-3 plan. The Wiley, Lincoln, Highland and

Westall schools were no longer rated as grammar schools.
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The old Slade School building was closed in 1928. The teachers and
pupils occupied the new Slade School, a modern school, built on Lewis
Street in the same neighborhood. At this time all elementary school chil-
dren, for the first time in thirteen years, were given a full time schooling.
Double shifts were abolished but a number of the unsatisfactory portable
school-houses remained in use.

The schools lost two of their valued supervisors in 1928. William E.
Braley, the director of fine arts died. No supervisor was ever more welcomed
in the class rooms. Walter J. Titcomb resigned. He had been at the head
of the music department since 1889. The city could never have had a more
faithful employee. There was a'constant demand for his services and
whenever possible, he gave, without stint, the extra time required. Robert
M. Howard was appointed his successor.

Beginning January 1, 1929, the organization of the School Committee
was cbanged. Instead of a membership of nine elected in groups of three,
for a three year term, there are now seven members with the Mayor as
chairman ex-officio. The other six members are elected biennially, in groups
of three, for four years.

From district school times, school committees had periodically protested
against the arrangement by which school buildings and their care had been
placed in the hands of another governing body. The buildings, grounds
and their custodians are now in the hands of a superintendent of school
buildings; responsible to the school committee. His first report was for the
year ending December 21, 1929,

By 1930, the great industrial depression had reduced the school popu-
lation to.such an extent that the North Fall River,,Steep Brook, Fulton
Street, Buffinton Street, Cambridge Street and Broadway Schools were
closed. At this time Miss Alcock resigned and Miss Anna L. Beckett was
elected to her place as assistant director of research.

Miss Mary A. S. Mugan Assistant Superintendent of Scbools died
August 30, 1930. No successor was appomted

Home rule ceased in Fall River in 1931 and for several years a Board
of Finance created by the General Court controlled all appropriations. A
strict limitation was imposed on the expenditures of the School Department.
Their estimated budget for the year was cut $400,000. Salaries were
reduced twenty per cent. A number of teachers and principals were dis-
cbarged, demoted or forced to retire. Schools were combined. A full state-
ment of the economies practiced may be found in the Superintendent’s
report for 1932. The following school buildings were closed: Lindsey
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Street, Linden Street, Border City, Chace, Columbia Street, Covel Street
and the Old Laurel Lake.

) Robert M. Howard resigned his position as supervisor of music in June

1931. Miss Helen L. Ladd, his very efficient assistant was elected to the

position. '

Henry Miller died May 24, 1932. Wilfred A. Barlow, then principal
of the Samuel Watson School was transferred to Mr. Miller's position as
principal of the Henry Lord Junior Higii School.

Charles J. McCreery, the dean of the grammar masters, died suddenly,
July 27, 1933, A graduate of Brown University, he had been a school
principal in Fall River since 1887. He was a leader in the affairs of the
Fall River and the Bristol County Teachers’ Associations, having served as
president of both organizations.

The first step in the return to normalcy was the allowance of funds to
open pre-primary classes, to replace the kindergartens.

The Davenport School was destroyed I)y fire in 1935. No attempt was
made to rebuild. Room was found for the pupils and teachers in neigiil)or-
ing buildings.

Newly enacted child labor laws, less opportunity for the employment
of youth, the opportunities for a more varied type of education, all had an
influence in increasing the size of upper grade classes. There was a time
when only one child in five ever finished the grammar grades. In 1935, Su-
perintendent Belisle reported, that while there were only 665 more pupils in
school than in 1911, there were 3,130 fewer pupils in the primary grades,
only 107 more in intermediate grades, 2,815 more in the upper grades and
1,718 more in the high school.

The Superintendent’s plans for the discontinuance of smaller I)uildings
and the segregation of children in Iarger I)uildings had, by 1935 been Iargely
accomplished. Since 1913, twenty-four buildings had been closed. With
the exception of the Davenport, Slade and Border City schools, these were
all small wooden buildings. A junior higli school and seven elementary
schools were built during the period. The general result was a decrease in
number and an increase in size.

That the city was on the road to financial recovery was made evident
when in 1937, one-quarter of the twenty per cent cut in salaries was returned

to the teaching staff. 7
‘ The report of the Superintendent for 193839 contains a pictorial
supplement of the work of our schools. A copy was gsent to the home of
every pupil.
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By 1940, the enrollment in the public schools was the lowest in forty
years. The city-ownecl permanent buildings included two l'ligl'l schools,
two junior lugli schools, one grrls’ continuation school (N B. Borden
Scliool) and tlurty four elementary schools. The headquarters of the boys
continuation school was in the Giesow bullclmg on Third Street; the
Diman Vocational School was in the Kennedy building on Bank Street.
The Osborn and Ruggles Schools were occupied by sub-normal and
ungraded classes.

There is liope thatin years to come our schools will be placed on a sound
financial basis; that the required junior higli schools will be established to
complete the 6-3-3 plan; that a full time, well equipped vocational school’
will be in operation.

v In 1941 there were tllirty—nine permanent buildings in use, with ninety
recitation rooms in the two high schools, seventy-eight in the two junior higli
schools and two hundred seventy-five in the elementary buildings.
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FALL RIVER SCHOOLS
DISTRICT SCHOOLS —~GRAMMAR SCHOOLS ~FACTORY SCHOOLS
EVENING SCHOOLS ~ THE TRUANT SCHOOL

District Schools*

We get a clearer view of activities in the school administration during
the earlier years by studying some events which seem unusual.

While school districts were a part of the school system, a pruclential
committee was the district executive and the school committee were the
executive town officers. Often their concurrent jurisdiction over the same
subject matter resulted in miniature warfare. The district officer had vcllarge
of the maintenance of school buildings and furnishings, but the money
which was raised for operating the school and paying the teachers was
often appropriated by both. The town and the district each often raised
parts of this fund and when the total appropriation was insufficient, it was
sometimes supplemented by a district tax or by private benevolences.
When the district raised money it had to be rated, apportioned and col-
lected and that expense'materia_lly lessened the amount that was available
for pu]:)lic use. In one instance, when chimney repairs were needed at an
estimated cost of twenty—five dollars, the amount was reduced by collection
charges to fifteen dollars and the teacher and pruclential officer had to

furnish manual labor or else close the school. It was difficult for the teacher
to serve two masters; one who paid the wages and another who kept the

school rooms heated and in repair, especiaHy where the two officials were
not in harmony. Job T. Wilson, the prudential committee in District No. 4
made complaint to the school committee and filed twenty written charges
about his work with the school committee and when prompt action was not
taken, he offerecl a dollar and a half to any scholar who would put the
teacher out of the builcling. When the committee heard the charges, there

1 See p. 48.
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were apo]ogies but the wound would not heal till the teacher was dicharged.

Politics were rife as teachers app]ied for positions and promises made
by one branch of the administration would not be I(ept by the other. There
were charges of favoritism in distribution of appropriations. In one year,
one district was granted $1,438, another $51, so it could keep the school
open on]y six weeks.

- The school in District No. 11 was closed due to the youth and inexperi-
ence of the teacher. The school on North Main Street opposite the Narra-
gansett Mill site was described by the committee as inferior in appearance
to the powder house and pig shelters. In 1846 there were many applicants
to teach District No. 8 at $20 a month and board. The school-house in
District No. 12 was described as a “tight fit” for seventeen scholars, “when
the teacher was added”. The grammar school room on Anawan Street was
d.escribed as the most perfect school room in Bristol County.

Grammar SChOOlS

George H. Martin, former Secretary of the Massachusetts Board of
Education, in his historical sl(etch, “The Evolution of the Massachusetts
Public Schools” states that originally, “Latin was the staple in grammar
schools”. This type of grammar school was instituted in Eng]and as early
as 1440. It was introduced in New England in a few of the larger com-
mercial towns and was the preparatory school for college. There is no
evidence that Latin was ever taught in the grammar schools of this area.
There could have been little demand for Latin instruction, for Orin Fowler,
in his “History of Fall River'™ published in 1862 writes, “‘so far as I can
learn, only three or four persons, native of the town of Fall River have
graduated in any college”.

The title grammar school has been used for three types of schools in
Fall River; the schools in populous sections which graduated pupils to the
High School, the mixed graded schools in the suburbs and the one room
district or country school, when such a school graduated one or more pupi]s.
The schools in the last two categories, that have reflected the neighborhood
personnel, by preparing many pupi[s for advanced v;'(')rk are the old District
Schools, No. 6 and 10, the Lower New Boston School, the Steep Brook
School and the Tucker Street School. *“Those who go through the entire
grammar school course” reports the committee in 1863 “will be qualified
for the ordinary pursuits of industry and usefulness”.

2 If Fowler made the statement, it was made a ]ong time before the history was pu!)]ished.
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Definite records of grammar schools previous to 1834 are not available.
The school report for 1843 is confusing. This report states that there were
three schools in the viHa-ge; two primary and one grammar and that Charles
Aldrich taught a grammar school in District No. 1, David Spencer in Dis-
trict No. 2. A history of the Anawan Street Grammar School written in ‘
1859 does not mention either of these masters. :

Four central grammar schools of the past, the Anawan Street, the High
Street, the Maple Street and the Morgan Street had great influence in
fraining the early civic and industrial leaders of our city. A large percentage
of these attended the old Maple Street School, under the prmcrpalstup of
George W. Locke.

George Washington Locke was elected principal of the Osborn Street
School in Fall River, Rhode Island, in March 1836 and was in active service
as a teacher in Fall River for more than fifty years, during which time 2,106
pupils were graduated from his classes. He was bom in Lexington,
February 22, 1835. His colonial ancestors took part in the battles of Lexing-
ton and Bunker Hill. He was graduated from the Bridgewater Normal
School in November 1855. In May of 1871, he was made principal of the

"Maple Street School. He was a principal in the public evening schools for
more than thirty years. He was very proficient in the teaching of arithmetic
and most of his scholars excelled in this branch. He was an enthusiastic
follower of his scholars in their after life. His enthusiasm in their advance-
ments never waned. When he reached his seventy-seventh year in 1912,
he presented his resignation to the school committee and it was regretfully
accepted.

Twenty-one of the Fall River schools may be recognized as fully graded
grammar schools for a part or all of their existence. A chronological list of
these schools and their principals, gleaned from school reports follows.
The school year does not correspond with the calendar year: consequently
some of the dates recorded are approximate,

Anawan Street: 1834, Joseph F. Lindsey; 1836, John Brayton; 1840,
a Mr. Anthony and a Mr. Boutelle; 1841, George G. Lyon; 1857, Guilford
D. Bigelow; 1859, George W. Locke; 1868, Grammar pupils transferred
to the Morgan Street (N. B. Borden) School.

High Street (Leontine Lincoln) School: 1845, Orin P. Gilbert; 1847,
George B. Stone; 1849, William R. Gordon; 1869, William Reed; 1871,
Daniel M. Fish; 1872, A. L.. Harwood, Albion K. Slade; 1892, Candace
Cook; 1899, George H. Sweet. 1926, pupils of the seventh and eighth
grades transferred to the James M. Morton Junior ngh School.
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June Street School: 1851, Albion K. Slade; 1855, Upper grade pupils,
teachers and principal transferred to Maple Street (Westall) School.

Maple Street (Westall) School: 1855, Albion K. Slade; 1865, John
Tetlow; 1865, Milton Hall; 1871, George W. Locke; (The grammar
classes under Mr. Locke occupied the old High School [Foster Hooper
building] while the new Westall School was under construction.) 1912,
John R. Ferguson; 1914, Katherine C. V. Sullivan.® 1926, seventh and
eighth grade classes transferred to “Morton Junior High School”.

Osborn Street (Osborn) School: 1864, William Nichols and Roscoe P.
Owens; 1865, George W. Bronson. 1868, upper grade children trans-
ferred to Morgan Street (N. B. Borden) School.

Morgan Street (N. B. Borden) School: 1868, George W. Bronson;
1872, W. H. Merritt; 1874, Horace A. Benson; 1908, Orrin A. Gardner;
1914, Arthur B. Higney. 1920, changed to a girls’ continuation school.

Borden School: 1874, Hortense Young; 1‘876, Ariadne Boiden; 1882,
Mrs. E. J. Coburn, Sub. Prin.; 1885, Susan P. H. Winslow; 1889, not a
grammar school, George W. Bronson; 1896, George W. Bronson; 1905,
Charles E. Reed; 1920, Arthur B. Higney; 1926, seventh and eighth grade
puplls transferred to “‘Morton Junior ngh

Davis School: 1874, George W. Bronson; 1878, Edwin S. Thayer
1902, Norman S. Easton.*

Slade School: 1874, Mary A. Borden; 1885, Hannah R. Davis; 1889, -
Margaret.] Bury 1922, Bertha E. Fogwell acting prmcnpal 1926, Bertha
E. Fogwell. 1928; occupied new building.

Davenport School: 1886, Edward Gray; 1899, Charles J. McCreery;
1933, Elizabeth Bowers, acting principal. 1935, l)uilding destroyed by fire.

George B. Stone School: 1897, Charles J. McCreery; 1899, Norman S.
Easton; 1902, Benjamin Cook, Sr. 1913, grammar pupils transferred.

Brayton Avenue School: 1899, Norman S. Easton, acting principal, and
John A. Kerns; 1902, John R. Ferguson; 1906, George H. Read, who grad-
uated the last elghth grade

Fowler School: 1899, Candace Cook; 1920, Stella Baylies, acting
principal; 1922, Stella Baylies.

Highland School: 1902, Orrin A. Gardner; 1908, William A. Hart;
1910, Arthur B. Higney; 1912, Genevieve H. Bliss. 1926, grammar pupils

transferred.

3 Elected first principal of the James M. Morton Junior High Scheol in 1926,
4 Retired July 1, 1942, Succeeded by Frederick B. Wilcox.
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Samuel Watson School: 1906, John R. Ferguson; 1912, John E. Robin-
son; 1932, Arthur B. Higney.*

William S. Greene School: 1909, John G. Ulmer; 1910, William A.
Hart; 1912, Anna W, Braley. 1922, upper grade pupils transferred.

Robeson School: 1910, Harry Smalley. 1911, grammar pupils trans-
ferred to John J. McDonough School.

John J. McDonough School: 1911, Harry Smalley.®

William J. Wiley School: 1912, William T. Collins; 1913, Elizabeth
T. ngney 1926, seventh and eighth grade scholars transferred to the

“Morton Junior High School”.

Susan H. Wixon School: 1913, Jerome P. Fogwell 1916, John E.
Robinson; 1922, Anna W. Braley; 1927, Leah Sorel; 1933, George H.
Sweet."

Henry Lord School: 1915, Henry Miller. 1922, the school became a
Junior High School.

F actory Schools

Labor conditions in the early days of Fall River were undoubtedly very
bad but comparatively speaking, they could not be said to be so, for from
far and near, from Canada, from England, Scotland and Ireland, people
flocked here to better their llvmg conditions, by seel(lng employment in
our cotton mills. From an educational standpomt it would seem that con-
ditions could not be worse. Wages were so low that families could not
exist without the help of their children, who were allowed and forced by
conditions, at a very early age, to work long hours.

About 1857, a state law was enacted forbidding the employment of any
child under the age of fifteen in any manufacturing establishment, unless

“such child shall have attended school at least one term of eleven weeks
next precedmg the time of employment There was no limit in this law
as to the age when a child might begin work. In 1861, a similar law was
passed which limited the age as twelve and under fifteen. It can be easﬂy
understood that these children could hardly find a proper place in an organ-
ized school system.

In 1862, schools were established for these children, which although

‘not given an official name at that time, it was really the beginning of the

5 Died Oct. 18, 1941. Succeeded by Raymond W. J. Hobson.

D [‘;E ected principal of James M. Morton Junior High School, Apr. 7. 1941, Succeeded by Andrew L.

7 Rehred July 1, 1941, Succeeded by Alvin A. Gaffney.
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“Factory School”’ system. As years went by, more schools of this character
were opened. When the mills were idle, these schools were well filled but
as soon as they opened they were practlcally deserted The report of the
School Committee said, “The law on the subject is wholly inoperative’ .
Children, even those eight or nine years old, were not hired by the mills but
worked with their parents or others on piece work. In 1865, children
between five and fifteen were found attending these schools.
Superintendent Tewksbury seems to have immediately given this situa-
tion close attention. In 1867, for the first time, a truant officer was appointed,
with the special purpose of enforcing the laws of the State. IFrom this time
on, the special schools were ofFicia’lly known as Factory Schools. There
were eiglit hundred children who should under the law attend these schools.
Superintendent Tewl(sbury proposed the plan.. accepted by the School
Committee, to accommodate one quarter of them at a time. The next year
the Factory Schools were in good worl(ing order with the co-operation of all.
Divisions were arranged for the children to come periodically from the mills.
This system attracted wide attention and officials came from many com-
munities to observe its operation. A new law allowing children to go to
work at fourteen was enacted. The term of the Factory School was in-
creased to twenty weeks. The attendance now dwindled to such an extent
that plans could be made to care for the children at much less expense in

the grades. The Factory Schools were abolished in 1877.

Evening Schools

At the annual town meeting in 1840, the sum of three hundred dollars
was appropriated for the maintenance of an evening school, as required by
state law. Charles Aldrich was the teacher assisted by a member of the
school committee and some volunteer day school teachers. Arithmetic,
writing, reading, spelling, grammar and geography were taugllt. Lectures
on philosophy and astronomy by Mr. Lyons and Mr. Stone were delivered.
The school was continued for five months, with an average attendance of
about fifty-five. The school was crowded at the b,eginning but attendance
dwindled as the weeks went ]:)y

The city has provrded generously in the past towards the support of
evening  schools but the result in regard to volunteer attendance has always
been the same. One, but not the only reason for poor attendance has been
that sessions were necessarily held in public school rooms fitted with furni-
ture for children. In spite of all handicaps, many a citizen has learned to
read and write in our evening schools.
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There have been times in the past when laws have compelled large
numbers of boys and girls, working in the mills, to attend evening school,
until they reached a specified educational standard. Evening schools in
several sections of the city were then crowded and many teachers employed.
For example, a twelve room building, in the eastern section was at one time
filled to capacity, with two teachers in each room.

An evening drawing school, for pupils over fifteen years of age was
provided in 1870. This school was continued for many years. The teachers
were selected from our most talented artists in their particﬁlar line. Among
those who taught free hand drawing were Robert S. Dunning, Frank H.
Miller, Bryant Chapin and Herbert Fish. William T. Henry and Philip
D. Borden taught mechanical drawing and Albion Marble architecture.

The first e\"ening high school opened in the Cataract Engine House,
corner of Rock and Franklin Streets, in 1882. This school continued to
teach ac_aclemic high school subjects for many years. It grew in numbers
and usefulness and was moved to the old high school b‘uilcling on June
Street.

In more recent years, special classes were organizec[ in civil service,
Americanization, citizenship, and domestic arts. With the opening of the
Technical Higl\ School, opportunities were offered for classes of women in
home arts and nursing and for men in trade extension. In 1931, all city
public evening schools® were discontinued.

Truant School ~ Attendance Officers

A city ordinance was passed May 1, 1865 making the Alms House an
“institution of instruction, house of reformation, or a suitable place for"
restraint, confinement and instruction over any minor convicted of being
an habitual truant”. The ordinance also ordered the appointment by the
Mayor and Aldermen of three truant officers.

There was one truant officer employed in 1867; probably William
(Pill(ie) Read, father of Miss Julia A. Read. School attendance immedi-
ately showed improvement, for only three boys were sent to the Truant
School by the Court that year. A second truant officer was appointed in
1875. Mr. Read was one of the two mentioned in the school report; John
Brady was the other. It was not until 1882 that the ordinance of 1863 was
fu“y complied with and a third officer, Alexander Dennis, was named.

8 Reopened in the fall of 1944,
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The child labor laws continued to be ignored l)y many parents and
were difficult of enforcement. The city was divided into three districts and
each officer visited the schoqls in his district daily, receiving reports from
the teachers of pupils who were suspected of being absent without good
reason. T he homes were immediately visited by the officers. This systematic
arrangement bore very satisfactory results. The mills co—operated and the
State inspector reported that in no city in the Commonwealth were factory
children better cared for than in Fall River.

The Alms House was nota proper place for delinquents. School author- -
ities realized this from the beginning and sougtit frequently without success,
to establish a union school for the County. Fina"y permission was obtained
in 1890, to send incorrigibles to the State School at Walpole, specially
conditioned for the purpose. The Alms House was no longer used as a
place of “confinement and instruction” for truants.

In 1890 there were four truant officers viz. A. J. Dennis, A. S. Palmer,
John Brady and George T. Desjardins. Isaiah Lord who served the city
many years was appointed in 1891. During the last forty years the follow-
ing, at various times, have served this very important but little recognized
department: Frank M. Milne, William Stewart, James D. Murphy, John
F. Murphy, Alain Chaput, Frederick A. Gee, Henry Wade, Harry Boyer,
Thomas C. Kelliher and Laura K. Dahill.

Later, the title of truant officer was ctianged to the more appropriate
name of attendance officer. His duties are varied. He is not simply a truant
chaser. The school committee of 1836, when they asked for the appoint-
ment of the first truant officer expressed the value of such an officer in these
words: “The committee respectfu"y recommends to the City Government,
the appointment of a.Trunnt Commissioner, whose services, if faithfu“y
‘performed, will, in addition to his legitimate duties, greatly aid the efforts
of the Board, advance the cause of education, and do much to promote the
good morals among the children, who are * # # * # misspending their time
in the streets or with others of a similar character, in some less respectable
place." In connection with their other duties attendance officers act as a “go
between” for the Board of Health.

Juvenile delinquencies continue to be a serious problem. There has not
been a proper co-ordination of effort between all parties concerned. The
terms of probation are not I(ept, with the result, that the youth learn to have
a disregard for law, and a criminal record begins.’

? These conditions have been in a large measure corrected.



239999959 999

HIGH SCHOOL
FALL RIVER HIGH SCHOOL ALUMNI ASSOCIATION
FALL RIVER NORMAL TRAINING SCHOOL
DIMAN VOCATIONAL SCHOOL
CONTINUATION SCHOOL ~ TEXTILE SCHOOL
PUBLIC LIBRARY

9200

High School

Before the establishment of a public high school, there were private .
teachers and private schools where high school subjects were taught. Some
of the subjects mentioned in the old grammar school curriculum, we, in
our clay, would class as college material.

For some years, there had been considerable agitation on the su]aject
of establishing a public high school. The State of Massachusetts had
passed a law with reference to it. In May 1848, a new law was passed
which provided a penalty unless such a school was established. The School
Committee warned the townspeople, that $17,200 was assessable against
the town, if an appropriation for the purpose was not forthcoming.' There
was much opposition, because it was claimed ‘that the subjects taught in
the grammar schools of Fall River were equal to high school requirements.
However, at the annual town meeting held in April 1849, an appropriation
of $1,500 was made. Samuel Longfellow, a brother of the poet, came to
Fall River as pastor of the Unitarian Church. He was chairman of the
School Committee at the time and much credit was given him for the estab-
lishment and organization of the first high school. He wrote Edward Everett.
Hale that this was an important step in the development of our school
system. .

In the month of May, 1849, a small builcling on Franklin Street near
Oak Street was secured at a rental of eighty dollars a year. George B.
Stone, at that time principal of the High Street Grammar School, was
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elected principal, at an annual salary of nine hundred dollars and Miss
Lucinda Stone was hired as his assistantata salary of three hundred dollars.
Although the building was poorly adapted for school purposes, it was the
best that could be obtained at the time. Twenty-six boys and thirty-five
girls were found qualified to enter the advanced studies. At the end of the
first year, fifty pupils were enrolled.

A number of pupils attendlng this, our first bigh school, became promi-
nent in the business, industrial and professronal life of our city. Among
them were George W. Bronson, Joseph A. Bowen, Charles J. Holmes,
William H. Jennings, Lucy C. Hill, Nathaniel Boomer, William M.
Hawes, Jesse Eddy, Newton Earl, Benjamin Buffinton, Sarah Brayton,
George N. Bliss and Henry Clay Cook.

The urgent necessity of havmg a larger and better arranged hrgh school
building was apparent. The new structure was built, at a cost slightly less
than seven thousand dollars. This school-house was on the southeast corner
of June and Locust Streets and was occupied in January 1853. Mr. Stone
remained as principal until his resignation in 1855.

Mr. Stone was a gentleman of rare charm and ability His pupils in
after ‘years were influenced by his character and teachings. He in turn
followed with great interest the careers of the young men and women who
came under his charge The eight room school- bulldlng erected on Globe
Street in 1897 was named in his honor.

Atter the resignation of George B. Stone, James B. Pearson conducted
the school with marked success until he resigned in 1858 and the vacancy
was filled l)y the election of Charles B. Golff, who had been principal of
the academic and classical department of the Union School in Schenectady.
N. Y. Mr. Goff was principal until 1864, At his suggestion a three years
course was adopted for graduation.

Albion K. Slade was promoted from the principalship of the Maple
Street Grammar School, to become principal of the High School and a
year was added to the course for those who wished to engage in teaching.

The curriculum was -again changed when William H. Lambert served
his first period as principal, from 1874 to 1879. Four years were required
to graduate from any one of the three courses; the Classical, the English
and Classical or the Engllsh

Mr. Lambert was forced to resign because of ill health and William T.
Leonard was elected principal in 1879 and served until 1885, at which time
Mr. Lambert, now Dr. Lambert, was again placed at the head of the school.
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The school on June Street became so crowded that finally the first year
pupils were sent to rooms in the Davenport School on Branch Street. In
the Davenport School annex, one of the so called Latin rooms was taugllt

by Julia A. Read, the second Latin room by Charles W. Connell and later
by Everett B. Durfee, who had been principal of the Tucker Street School,
and the English room by George W. Bronson. Rooms in the adjoining
June Street School were also used. ,

The city was about to enlarge the grounds and building, when Mrs.
Mary B. Young came forward with the most munificent gift ever made to
the City of Fall River; a deed of all the real estate included between Rock,
High, Cherry and Locust Streets, togetller with a fully equipped l1i‘gl1 school
building which she had built on the lot and an amount of fifty thousand
dollars in cash. This deed was dated June 15, 1887. The gift was in
memory of, and at the express desire of her son Bradford Matthew Chaloner
Durfee.

There were conditions connected with the gift which have not served to
detract from its value but which were designed to and have eﬂectunted her
purpose of assuring that the gift should perpetuate the memory of her son
and provide public educational adva_ntages for all.

Mnry B. Young's first husband was Bradford Durfee. At his decease
she inherited his vast fortune. Her residence was on the present site of the
Fall River Public Library. In her youth, she was a teacher. Her charitable
gifts were munificent and frequent.

The building when completed was considered the finest bigll school in
the United States. There was ample room for the four hundred three pupils
enrolled and accommodations, it was supposed. for years to come. The
following teachers were of the faculty when the building was opened in
September 1887: Dr. William H. Lambert, Principal, John M. Mackenzie,
George F. Pope, Iram N. Smith, George W. Bronson, Everett B. Durfee,
Edgar J. Rich, Julia A. Read, Hannah D. Mowry, Hamet E. Henry and
Mary L. Aldrich.

The new building with its elaborately equipped laboratories, its work
sllop. auditorium, observatory and telescope, gymnasium and drill hall,
afforded opportunities for the expansion of curriculum and extra-curriculum
activities. Military drill was made compulsory for the boys and the cadets,
already organized on a voluntary basis into two companies, were reorgan-
ized into a battalion of four companies. While the boys were llaving their
drill periods. the girls were in the gymnasium. Everett B. Durfee conducted
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volunteer classes for boys in the gymnasium, after school hours in the after-
noon. The school paper “The Premier”, prize drills, baseball and football
games brought the school spirit to a hlgh level. Musical clubs both vocal
and instrumental were organlzed

The school and the whole community were saddened by the sudden
and untimely death of the honored and beloved principal. William H.
Lambert, in December 1890. A sentence from the “In Memoriam” taken
from the school report of 1890-'91 paints a word picture of Dr. Lambert as
all knew him.

“His modest and gentlemanly bearing, his kind and considerate words,

his masterly control of himself and others under his charge made him at
once a remarkably pleasing yet strong personality.”

A few months after the death of Dr. Lambert Mrs. Mary B. Young
passed to her eternal home.

Robert F. Leighton, Ph.D., a teacher, author and lecturer, was chosen
on Dec. 30, 1890 to take Dr. Lambert’s place. His term of service was short.
He died May 3, 1892.

In September 1892, Charles C. Ramsay became principal. A compre-
hensive plan of study was adopted along the general lines of the one now
in use, including required subjects and electives under each of the following
courses, the General, College Preparatory, Scientific School Preparatory,
Manual Training and Commercial. Mr. Ramsay resigned in 1902, The
enrollment had increased to such an extent during his administration, that
accommodations became inadequate. He inﬂuenced many of the graduates
to seek higher education. As president of the Teacher’s Association he
planned forums and obtained prominent educators as lecturers, thus bene-
fitting the entire teaching corps.

The Vice-Principal, George F. Pope was elected to take the place of
Mr. Ramsay. Mr. Pope declined the honor but agreed to serve for the
remainder of the year. At the end of the year the Committee, by a unani-
mous vote, again elected him principal and Mr. Pope accepted, Subsequent
events proved the confidence of the Committee was not misplaced.

Mr. Pope, in his report for 1903 paid a tribute to a man whom all early
students of the B. M. C. Durfee High School will surely remember. He
wrote, “The excellent condition of our school building is apparent to all.
This is of course due to the unremitting care of our janitor Peleg Borden
and his assistants.”

The undergraduate Athletic Association made known their desire for
an athletic field. Interested graduates organized and incorporated the
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B. M. C. Durfee Athletic Association with Everett B. Durfee as President.
The object as stated in the charter was “to acquire and hold *# real estate
for an Athletic Field ** and in other ways encourage and aid pupils to
engage in athletic and outdoor exercise”. This was the movement that
made possible the Athletic Field on Elsbree Street.

In 1909, Iram N. Smith, after nearly thirty years of teaching resigned.
Many a student, preparing for college will remember the solid foundations
attained in his Latin classes as well as his “yes, go on”. He always held
the respect of his students and associates.

The school became so crowded in 1911, that the entire Commercial
Department and the first year pupils of the General Course were trans-
ferred to the third floor of the Lincoln School. The next year it also became
necessary to hold afternoon sessions for first year college preparatory
students.

Mr. Pope asked to be relieved of his duties and responsibilities as
Principal and at his request he was appointed to his old position as head
of the clepartnient of mathematics.

In June 1913 Frederick W. Plummer was elected principal of the
B. M. C. Durfee High School. The Technical High School was completed
and W. H. Dooley was chosen principal. In 1917, Mr. Dooley unex-
pectedly resigned, John N. Indlekofer was elected in his place but on
account of ill health he was granted a leave of absence and Roy W. Ke]ly
was appointed Acting Principal.

High School attendance was increasing rapidly all over the country
and Fall River was no exception. Even the erection of the large Technical
building had not solved the problem of accommodations. There had been
an increase of about six hundred pupils in five years.

During the school year 1917-'18, Mr. Plummer was principal of the
B. M. C. Durfee building and Charles K. Moulton was principal of the
Technical building. In September 1918 the two schools were consolidated
under the principalship of Mr. Moulton with Willard H. Poole and Joseph
A. Wallace as assistant principals. Mr. Poole died in 1921 and Ralph M.
Small was elected to succeed him. Mr. Wallace was appointed by the
Governor, a member of the Board of Finance. Herbert W. Pickup was
appointed in his place. This consolidation resulted in many changes in
the curriculum and the school day was lengthened. During the epidemic
of influenza which occurred at this time, the technical building was used
as temporary hospital. When the two high schools were united, the School
Coinmittee voted to name the union The Fall River Higli School. This
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aroused a storm of protest from former graduates and citizens. A mass-
meeting was called in protest. The Committee rescinded its vote to meet
the objections of the public and the name B. M. C. Durfee High School
was restored.

George F. Pope retired in 1921. Mr. Pope was largely a self-educated
man. He gained his broad culture by a lifetime of study and travel. He
‘was elected a teacher in the High School in 1877. He was a master of
mathematics and the greater part of his teaching was spent in instruction
along these lines. Charles K. Moulton resigned July 7, 1925, Chaﬂes V.
Carroll was elected principal in August of the same year.

Every available space in the two buildings was in use. There were
seats for nearly four hundred pupils placed in the Durfee auditorium. For
the first time in the lustory of the school, the graduating class (1925) con-
tained more l)oys than girls.

On the mght of Aprll 10, 1928, the Technical l)ulldmg was destroyed l)y
fire. It became necessary to find quarters for one thousand puplls. A two
session program was instituted in the Durfee building. The girls’ home
economic classes were established in a nearl)y private residence and the
shop classes for l)oys were Iocated in the basements of the Lincoln and
Westall Schools.

Miss Emily Winward who had been a teacher in Fall River since 1875
and a teacher of French in the High School since 1800 resigned. Later
she served as a member of the school committee for two terms.

The new Technical l)uilding was occupied in September, 1930. The
faculty had little cause for rejoicing, for under the economies forced upon
the school department l)y the Board of Finance, salaries were reduced,
teachers were discharge_d and those remaining were over-loaded with work.
Of late years the school has been handicapped by crowded conditions and
an insufficient teaching staff. Too few of the students however choose the
technical and vocational subjects and too many (about 1,700 in 1939)
pursue the commercial course. The school continues to ably prepare pupils
who will continue their education in college or advanced technical schools.

In 1941, a program was arranged in the technical high school, in charge
of competent teachers, for the training of defense workers; the Federal
government prov1d1ng the funds and the school committee granting the use
of quarters and equipment. Up to the end of December, these classes had
prepared for employment 535 workers of whom 103 were women.”"

1 Report of the Supt. of Schools, 1942,
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Fall River High School Alumni Association

The Alumni Association was officially organized in 1876. Some four
hundred graduates attended the first annual meeting held in Music Hall,
July 6, 1877. Hon. Charles J. Holmes was the first president and music
was provided by the orchestra of the Third Regiment Band.

That there was some form of organization before 1876 is evidenced by
an article in the Fall River News of June 30, 1876. “Itis a source of regret
that the association known as the High School Alumni, once ﬁourishing,
has for a number of years been un-heard of. Graduates of the present
class propose, with the assistance of last year's graduates, to revive the
association.” : :

As a part of the program of the 1877 meeting, Rev. George L. Westgate
read a paper entitled “Sketch of Reunions, Rides, Excursions, etc.”. Miss
Mary L. Holmes, Secretary of Classes 1849 to 1852, presented in a pam-
phlet called “The Nucleus”, published by the Alumni in 1891, the follow-
ing note from the early records. ’

“In the first part of July (1849) the scholars held their first annual
gathering. A grove near the Bear’s Den, so called, was selected as the place

of meeting. Nothing of particular interest marks the occasion except its
being, as has been said, the first High School gathering.”

“The records also report that for one of these excursions the hour of
meeting was scheduled at 5 A. M. and those not on time were left behind.”

The number of pupils attending High School is now so large, the mem-
bers of the classes do not have an opportunity to get well acquainted, one
with the other; consequently the class spirit and warm friendships do not
exist as of yore. The result has been a waning interest in the Alumni
meetings. '

The Association has been and will continue to be of immeasurable
benefit to the pupils and graduates. The B. M. C. Durfee High School
Athletic Association composed of teachers anclvpupils in the school did not
have the legal right to own property. The B. M. C. Durfee High School
Alumni Athletic Association was incorporated and the lancl purchased for
Alumni Field. Under expert and careful management many improvements
have been made and the debt practically cancelled. Evereit B. Durfee was
the first president of the small group composing the association. Curtis E.
Trafton followed Mr. Durfee as president. Ellis Gifford has been secretary
since the beginning. C

The Trustees of the Fall River High School Alumni Scholarships, now
report total assets approximating $96,000; the proceeds from which aid
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eighteen deserving graduates seel(ing higher education. Too much praise
cannot be given to Mr. Israel Brayton, the treasurer, and those who have
served as trustees, for the care and fair allotment of these funds.

Normal Training School

Very few of our teachers until 1870 had any special training for their
work. They were accepted as teachers when they graduated from the High
School. In the late sixties, some preparatory work, consisting for the most
part of a review of elementary subjects was given in the last year at the
High School. Superintendent Tewksbury was the first to propose the estab-
lishment of a training school but it was not until February 1881 that one
was in operation, in the Robeson School. Mrs. Emily J. Richards was the
first principal and her assistants were Ella F. Keyes, Ab‘by Fish and Eliza
J. Robertson. Eighteen young ladies composed the first class and were
graduated in six months. The second class began in September and was
given a year's training; the first half year withbut pay and the second half
with a nominal salary. The model teachers of the school were called floor
teachers. Tbey were required to teach about one hour daily in the presence
of the student teachers. Tbey also observed the teacbing of the pupil
teachers and made suggestions for improvement.

In 1888 more stringent rules were adopted and an examination was
required for admission. The length of the course was increased to one and
a half years. ' ‘

The school was transferred from the Robeson School to the Osborn
School. Miss Elizabeth S. Hammett, who had conducted the school since
1891 resigned and Miss Anna W.Braley, vice-principal of the New Bedford
Training School took her place in 1896. The course was lengthened to two
years. When the Fowler School opened, with grades from one to nine, it
was made a part of the Training School, supplying eight practice rooms.
The faculty consisted of the principa’l, vice-principal and four teachers.
Because of the inconveniences of this two school arrangement, the faculty
and students were transferred to the William S. Greene School.

By this time the number of state normal schools had increased. Trans-
portation facilities were much improved. The opportunities for proper
instruction in the normal schools were beyo_ncl the possibilities of a city
training school. On July 5, 1911, the School Committee voted to abolish

the Normal Training School, when the class entering in September 1911
hiad graduated in 1913. :
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Diman Vocational School

At a special meeting of the School Committee held in August 1912, a
representative of Rev. John B. Diman, Principal of St. George's School -
at Middletown, R. L, stated that Rev. Mr. Diman offered to provide two
thousand dollars for the purpose of equipping and maintaining, for one
year, a manual training center, where boys from the upper graclescoulc[
be trained under the part-time system, spencling alternate weeks or periods
in the school and in shops of various kinds. A sub-committee was appointed
to confer with Rev. Mr. Diman and (that sub-committee) later presented
as a partial report, the following communication from Mr. Diman, dated

November 6, 1912.

“Kwow aLL MEN BY THEsE prEseEnTs, That I John B. Diman, of Newport, County of Newport,
und State of Rhode Island, being interested in the subject of Industrial Training and in consideration
of the faithful performance of the terms and conditions herein contained, do hereby give, grant, set
over and deliver unto the city of Fall River, a municipal corporation located in Massachugetts, the
sum of Twenty-Five Hundred ($2,500.00) Dollats upon the following terms and conditions. That
the School Committee of said City of Fall River shall provide for the establishment and maintenance
of a Part-Time Vocational Class in Industrial training: that sald School Committee shall appoint
a teacher or teachers, which appointment shall be subject to my approval; that the expense of equip-
ment, salary of teacher or teacheu. and all other expense incurted in the maintenance of said class
up to August 1, 1913, shall be paid from the said sum of Twenty-Five Hundred ($2,500.00) Dollars,
upon an order of the Chatrman of the School Committes. drawn upon the City Treasurer, and
audited by the City Auditor, That any balance of sald sum of Twenty-Five Hundred ($2.500.00)
Dollars remaintng unexpended after September 1, 1913, shall revert to the said John B. Diman, his
executors, administrators or assigns.”

Mr. Frederick H. Rundall, a teacher of experience in this line of work
in Boston, was appointed instructor to take charge of such a room that was
to be opened in the John J. McDonough School, as soon as the equipment
was ready. Mr. Rundall attended Newburgh Academy, took summer
courses at Harvard and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Before
coming to Fall River, he had taught in the Newton Technical High School
and the North Bennett Industrial School. His death on April 16, 1940,
was kgenly felt in educational circles. :

The Diman Vocational® thus began with the initial gift recorded above.
Mr. Diman continued similar gifts for several years. In 1915, the School
Committee 'assumed the obligation for the entire support. The school
remained at the McDonough School for only' a short period. when it was
moved to more commodious quarters in the Kennecly Building on Bank
Street at the northwest corner of Durfee Street. '

3The Diman School is now known as the.Dlman Vocationa! High School with quarters on Third Street
and on Hartwell Street. Plans are under way to house the school in the city owned building at 128 Hartwell
Street. The girls’ division continues in the N. B. Botden School, ‘
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Continuation School

In 1919 an amended statute required fourteen year old applicants for
employment to pass a sixth grade standard instead of a fourth grade record
of attainment. This was shortly followed‘by another legislative enactment
which required cities to provide schooling four hours a week, for minors
between the ages of fourteen and sixteen, who wereaemployed‘ not less than
six hours per day or remained at home under special permit, The law
further required that the classes of boys and girls must be taught separately;

The Continuation School was eltablrshed to conform to this law. The
school in this city was in operation wrthm a very short time, under the very
able management of Charles E. Reed. The school was second only in size
to the one in Boston established i in 1914. It was classed as a model school
of its kind in the state.

The girls’ school was located in the N. B. Borden School, on Morgan
Street. There were two divisions of the boys' school, one at the Bradford
- Durfee Textile School and the other in the Giesow Building» on Third
Street. In all three schools, part time was given to academic subjects and
part time, in the grrls’ school to domestic arts, in the boys' school to shop
work. In the early twenties, there were twenty- -five hundred puplls attend-
- ing every week.

The closmg of many mills put an end to the employment of a large
number of boys and grrls under sixteen. In consequence the operation of
the school was curtailed. There were a number of the pupils who remained
in the school on full time. The time will probably come when this school
will be combined with the Diman Vocational School.?

Bradford Durfee Textile School

The land on which the school is built is a part of the homestead estate
of Major Bradford Durfee and was presented by Miss Sarah A. Brayton,
the sister of Major Durfee’s second wife, afterwards Mrs. Young.

During the administration of Mayor Amos M Jackson, Mr. James
Tansey and Attorney Arthur S. Phillips were selected to submit to the
mayor recommendations for the organization and administration of a textile
school. Mr. Phillips and Mr. Tansey, now Vice-President, have served
continuously as members of the board of directors since 1898, the date of
incorporation. Leontine Lincoln was the first President and served until

3 The twa schools have been combined, with Joseph P. Gilligan as Director.



FALL RIVER PUBLIC LIBRARY o1

his death in May 1023, William Evans was the first Vice-President,
William Hopewe“ the first Clerk and Arthur S. Phi“ips the Treasurer.

Under the provisions of Chapter 475 of the General Acts of Massachu-
setts, the state and the city shared equally'the expenses of the school from
1895 to 1918. In July 1918, the school became strictly a state institution and
under an agreement, Fall River contributes ten thousand dollars annually.

Day and evening classes are conducted. The school provides for three
years of specialized training and has graduated over nine hundred pupils,
many now filling responsible positions in textile and allied industries.
There are day and evening classes for short intensified courses in special
subjects. Opver ten thousand students have received certificates for work
accomplished. The courses include engineering, chemistry and dyeing,
carding and spinning, weaving, designing and freehand drawing.

The shops and laboratories of the school have been of great value to
local industries by supplying physical and chemical tests and other applied
research. After World War I, rehabilitation training was given disabled
veterans for a period of four years. In 1940, the first class in Massachusetts
for the training of defense workers was established. The state aided Con-
tinuation School conducts academic and textile classes in the l)urldmg In
times of stress or overcrowdmg in the publrc schools, temporary quarters
have been provided.

Names of Principals and Terms

Josern W, BaLey 1903 to August, 1910
Fenwick UMPLEBY...... September, 1910 to October, 1913
EvererT B. DURFEE. ..o November, 1913 to August, 1916
WiLLiam HoreweLL (Acting)......September, 1916 to March, 1917
Henry W. Nicrors? April, 1917

Fall River Public Library

The Fall River Atheneum, a private library, was organized in 1835.
By 1837, deserving pupils in the public schools were entitled to the use of
the books for which the town paid $800. The Atheneum collection suffered
severely in the fire of 1843. It was at this time the Skeleton in Armor was
lost. A new li])rary was subsequently assembled and continued for seven-
teen years. The collection was first located in the Town Hall and afterwards

in the old Music Hall on Franklin Street.
In 1860, the city established the Fall River Public Lll)rary one of the

earliest in the United States. An agreement was made with the Atheneum

4 Henry W Nichols retired July 1, 1942 and was succeeded by Edward V. Carroll. Mr. Carroll died
June 21, 1944, and Leslie B. Coombs was appointed principal July 14, 1944,
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whereby the city obtained its collection of 2,362 volumes and a gift of 214
books from the Ocean Fire Company was added. With these as a nucleus,
the library was opened in the southwest corner of the second floor of the

City Hall building on May 1, 1861 and was later moved to the first floor.
In 1886, after the burnmg of the Clty Hall in which nearly five thousand
books were burned, the library occupied leased quarters. These included
Flint's Exchange on South Main Street, then a skating rink on Danforth
Street, and from January 1887 to March 1899, in the upper part of the
Brown Building at the corner of North Main and Pine Streets.

In 1895 the proposition was made to erect a new library structure and
land on North Main Street on the site of the homestead of Mrs. Mary
Brayton Young was acquired. Although the site had a valuation of
$100,000, Mrs. Young's heirs sold it to the city for $50,000. Ralph Adams
Cram of Boston was the architect. The cornerstone was laid September
30, 1896 and the building was open to the public in March 1899. The
entire cost of land and building and fumishings was $252,000. All the
conveniences of a modern library are to be found in this building. A large
)uvemle department was established and there is an art gallery in which
are hung the works of modern artists.

Subsequently, Mrs. Robert C. Davis established a trust fund of $50,000
in memory of her husband and his father, Dr. Robert T. Davis, for the
purchase of reference books known as the Davis Memeorial Fund, and the
room containing these books is known as the Davis Reference Room.

In 1923 and subsequent years, four branch libraries were established
in Flint Village at the north and south ends and on Columbia Street. In
1931 the Finance Board, appointed by the state, for the sake of economy
decided to close all these branches which have not been re-opened. On
January 1, 1940 the total number of volumes in the library was 163,287.

'The librarians have been as follows:

Grorce A. BaLLARD ’ : 1860 to 1864
CuarLes G. ReMiNGTON 1864

WiLLiam R. BaLLarp 1864 to 1905
Georoe Rankin ‘ : 1905 to 1925
Tuomas Harrison Cummines , 1926 to 1928
Leo R. Erzxorn 1929 to 1931
Marsorie WETHERBEE 1931 to date

Mr. Rankin had served many years as assistant librarian prior to the death
of William R. Ballard. His total service with the library covered fifty-two
years. Miss Wetherbee also had served as assistant librarian before being
appointed to the chief li]orarianship.
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The Skeleton in Armor

There will probably never be any further developments in the historical
significance of the skeleton in armor which was a part of the old Atheneum
collection destroyecl by the fire of 1843. The subject cannot be better treated
than it was in the “Centennial History of Fall River” by Henry M. Fenner:

“The skeleton in armor, celebrated by Longfellow, and since com-
memorated by a bronze tablet erected near by, was discovered in 1832, in a
sand or gravel bank near Hartwell and Fifth streets.

It was near the surface, in a sitting posture, and quite perfect. Onitwasa

_triangular plate of brass, and about the waist a belt of brass tubes, each four
or five inches long, about the size of a pipe stem and placed close together.
Arrow heads and parts of other skeletons were found near by, and the skele-
ton was supposed to have been that of some Indian, probably a chief.”

When Henry W. Longfellow wrote his poem on the skeleton in armor,
he wrote it from tradition which he gathered on a trip to Newport. Of course
it is not historical but with lapse of time it has almost reached the importance

of a saga.

“Speak! Speak! thou fearful guest!

Who, with thy hollow breast

Still tn rude armor drest,
Comest to daunt mel

Wrapt not in Eastern balms,
But with thy fleshless palms

Stretched, as if asking alms,
Why dost thou haunt me?”

“Then from those cavernous eyes

Pale flashes seemed to rise,

As, when the Northern skies
Gleam in December:

And, like the water’s flow
Under December’s snow,

Came a dull voice of woe
From the heart’s chamber.”

“I was a Viking old!
My deeds, though manifold,
No Skald in song has told
No Saga taught theel
Take heed, that in thy verse
Thou dost the tale rehearse,
Else dread a dead man’s curse;

For this I sought thee.”
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SOCIAL WELFARE AGENCIES AND CHARITIES

Social Welfare Agencies and Charities
Public and Private

The Church was the provenience of education. From the same source
arose charitable organizations and welfare associations. v
The many and varied institutions under control of the Roman Catholic

Church have been described or listed. The Boys' Club has been mentioned

in its indirect relationship with the Pleasant Street Mission.

Young Men's Christian Association

A Fall River branch of the Y. M.C.A. was started in 1857, by a group
of young men which included R. K. Remington, S. B. Chase, John C. Milne
and Richard B. Borden. During the Civil War period their activities ceased
but after the war there was a reorganization and the association continued
with varying degrees of success until 1889, when under the leadership of
Rey. Percy S. Grant, a successful effort to revivify the work was made.
Mrs. Young grantec[ the use of the “Slade House”,* rent free, for a period
of three years and George W. Stowell of Boston was elected General
Secretary.

The building on the corner of North Main and Pine Streets was dedi-
cated April 19, 1903. The local association continues under able leadership
to enlarge and vary its activities. Howard B. Peck was elected President in
1940. Samuel F. Bumpus® is the General Secretary. The staff now consists
of sixteen regular employees which number does not include those doing
part time work. The YM.C.A. provieles sleeping quarters and club
privileges to service men.

1 See Hllustration Stone Church.
2 Retired October, 1944, William E. Abbott succeeded him.
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* The Fall River Women's Union

The Women's Union owns and occupies a large brick building on the
corner of Rock and Franklin Streets, dedicated March 12, 1909. The
building provides an audience hall and stage where entertainments, gym-
nastic classes and dances are held. A social superintendent has charge
of this department. There are sleeping rooms, a well conducted public
restaurant and an industrial exchange. In 1891 the Working Girls" Club
was formed and their activities now continue in this building.

“About 1870 three ladies obtained permission from the School Com-
mittee to open a room in the Anawan Street School House Saturday after-
noons, to instruct girls worl(ing in the mills, in sewing. This was the fore-
runner of the Women's Union.” The first business meeting of the “Union”
was held Dec. 15, 1873 and except for a few months in 1876, their activities
have been continuous. Rooms were used.in the Troy Building, in the Union
Mill office building and in a house on Pine Street, where the exchange was
established. Mrs. Abraham G. Hart was the first president. For many
years Mrs. Jessie Flint Brayton served as president. Mrs. D. R. Ryder is
now president and Miss Clara F. Davol, secretary.

The Fall River Children’s Home and Home for Aged People”»

These two well endowed foundations provide real homes for the young
and for the aged.

The “Children’s Home™ was organized in 1873 and then occupied a
house on the northwest corner of North Main Street and President Avenue.
A wooden building was later erected on Robeson Street which was replaced
by the present brick structure, dedicated in 1895. James Buffington® is the
President and Israel Brayton is Vice-President and Treasurer of the Board
of Managers.

In 1891 a home was established in a dwelling house on High Street
where aged people might retire under pleasant surroundings and amenities.
In 1898 the brick building on Highland Avenue was dedicated. It has since
been doubled in capacity. Edward S. Adams has for years been President
of the Corporation.

| 3'“:;3 Hebrew Home for Aged People and the Polish National Home, Inc., have been: organized, See
-also p. 33.

__+Mr, Buffington resigned in October, 1944 and Norman S, Easton was elected President of the Board
of Managers. :
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Hospitals

Fall River is perhaps as well equipped for hospitalization as any city of
its size in the country. All of the hospitals are open for the use of the public.

The “City Hospital™ on “The Highlands™ occupies land formerly a
part of the poor farm. It provides separate buildings for a general hospital,
for contagious diseases and for sufferers from tuberculosis. It is managed
by a competent staff and is a credit to the city.

The Union Hospital was erected on the corner of Prospect and Hanover
Streets in 1908 and merged two previously established institutions; the Fall
River Hospital which occupied the Valentine estate on Prospect Street,
founded in 1885 and the Emergency Hospital which was in a house where
the “Women's Union” now stands.

The Truesdale Hospltal is partrally endowed and prlvately controlled
It had its begmmng in the former First Baptist Church parsonage, now the
Sacred Heart Church rectory, on the corner of Winter and Pine Streets.
The modern plant on “The Highlands™ now covers several acres and has
a national reputation. Two of Fall River's most eminent surgeons, Dr.
Philemon E. Truesdale and Dr. Ralph W. French, performed their
operations here.

St. Anne’s Hospital, near the South Park, was dedicated Feb. 4, 1906

and is in charge of the Dominican Sisters.

Commum'ty House — Social Index

A valuable aid to the local welfare organizations is the Community
House on the corner of Green and Bank Streets. On the initiative of
Richard B. Borden a century old brick residence was converted to provide
central headquarters for welfare societies.. The following are now located
therein: Red Cross, S.P.C.C., Anti-Tuberculosis Association, Family
Welfare Association, District Nurses Association, Boy Scouts and Girl
Scouts.

The local Social Service Index was established by Miss Alice Wether-
bee of the Community Welfare Association in 1890. This index is an aid
to the various charities and churches in preventing duplication of effort. This
work was taken over during the depression and made of great value by

Miss Alice Brayton. During this period over twenty thousand persons had
to be fed and clothed.

5 The first city hospital was on city farm land near Brownell Street.
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City Home

We no longer speak of paupers or the poorhouse in relation to those
unfortunates who have been unable to save suﬁ:icient funds to care for
themselves when old age and feebleness approach. Itis a “far cry" from
the time when it was voted in town meeting (1803), that the unfortunate
poor of the town should be sold to the lowest bidder who would care
for them. '

In 1835 a farm of one hundred and seventy-five acres was purchased
and the udwelling house thereon” was used as an Alms House. Later a
large stone house and barn were erected. “The expense of supporting and
relieving the poor in 1840, including interest on Alms House establishment,
was $1,800. : '

On September 27, 1917 the inmates of the old alms house on Stanley
Street were moved to the commodious City Home at 1591 Bay Street. This
building was originally built by the County for a jail. By the time it was

finished the probationary system was in operation and the building was
never so used. Itis ideally situated near the shore of the bay and the interior
has been reconditioned to meet its present use.

Porks and Playgrounds

In 1901, the voters, by a large majority accepted an enactment of the
Legislature allowing the appointment of a Park Commission. The members
were appointed by Mayor Grime, with Reuben C. Small, Jr. as chairman.
Previous to this time little had been accomplislied. 4
.+ Land for the South Park was purcliased in 1868 and in 1871 the area
between South Main Street and Broadway was laid out and improved.
The area, then known as Ruggles Grove, a part of the old Rodman farm °
was also purchased in 1868. In 1883, the western portion of the poor farm
was set aside for park purposes but very little was done to improve it.

The newly appointed Park Commissioners, with an authorized loan of
$182,000, engaged Olmstead Brothers, famous landscape architects and
made extensive improvements in the South Park, developed Ruggles Park,
the lower stretches of North Park, Durfee Green, Albert Bradbury Green
and the parkway on Eastern Avenue.

The Maplewood Park has been developed since 1910 principally as a
playgr‘ound but there is ample opportunity for extension eastward, pro-
viding a view overlooking South Watuppa Lake.

8 Fowler’s History p. 36.
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The beautiful and practical Lafayette Park, in the northeast corner of
which stands the equestrian statue of General Lafayette, presented to the
city by residents of French extraction, was landscaped from a boulder
covered acreage, in an otherwise thickly settled neighborhood.

Howard Lothrop, the present superintendent of parks and cemeteries,
who also acts as tree warden, was appointed in 1904. He has met all
requirements and has been a highly valued executive. Since his appoint-
ment, the number of parl(s and pl‘aygrounds has increased out of all pro-
portion to available funds that can be provided for their supervision and
upl(eep. There are now twenty-two plots used as parl(s or playgrounds.
The smaller and less important are not listed here:

South Park — 54 acres, North Park — 25 A, Ruggles Park — 9A, Maple-
wood Park — 15A, Lafayette Park — 11A, Rev. John Kelly Park —5A,
Thomas Chew Playground —4A, John H. Abbott Playground ~ 8A,
Pulaski Playground —~ 3A, Columbus Playground —~ 1A, The R. A. Wilcox
Playground on Canal Street and the W. E. Turner Memorial Playground
at the foot of Cherry Street.
lncidentally. there is no place in the world where more beautiful sunsets

may be observed than from the upper reaches of North Park or from the
esplanade at the South Park.

Cemeteries

The North Burial Ground at the corner of North Main and Brightman
Streets was purchased by the town in 1825 and long continued the principal
place for interment. A small burial ground adjoining was known as Oak
Tree Cemetery. There is an old cemetery no longer used, at the foot of
Hood Street, belonging to the Fall River Preparative Meeting of Friends.
In the early days the business of an undertaker was generally carried on as
a sideline of the furniture dealer; a puhlic hearse(was provided, locally
kept in the “hearse house” located on North Main Street near the cemetery.

By 1855 the present Oak Grove Cemetery was established, originally
of forty-seven acres, but since enlarged by various purchases. The first land
was purchased at a price of $200 an acre, for which the city traded part of
a tract of land between North Main Street and Highland Avenue, lying on
both sides of Lincoln Avenue, which had been purchased in 1853 for a
park site. It was decided that this location was not just what the city desired
for a parl(. lmprovements have been made in the cemetery from time to
time and it is one of the most beautiful places for burial of the dead. The
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following is an excerpt from the inaugural address of Mayor Edmund P.
Buffinton: ‘
“Col. Richard Borden, with his accustomed liberality, has had con-

structed an appropriate monument to be placed in that section of the ceme-
tery grounds set apart for the burial of those soldiers of the city, whose lives
have been or may be sacrificed on the battle field in defense of their country;

" or such as may die in consequence of wounds received or of diseases con-
tracted in the service. Many a child or friend of some departed soldier, whose
remains may rest beneath that monument, will in after years bless the
memory of its founder.” ‘

Some years ago Miss Elizabeth H. Brayton and Mrs. Leah W. Maloney

 made a survey of the family burial grounds within the limits of Fall River.
These records are in the files of the Fall River Historical Society and contain
some interestirig data.

The only plot remaining near the center of the city is on Purchase Street,
north -of the “Franklin Street Christian Church”. “This cemetery was
undoubtedly on the farm of Abraham Bowen, Sr., whose house stood on
the northeast corner of Main and Bedford Streets.”

The Valentine-Read Burial Ground is on the west side of North Main
Street near Mother's Brook.

“Simon Lynde, born in London 1624, who came to Boston 1650, became
possessed of 3 of the original 36 lots into which Freetown was at first divided.
These three lots Simon gave to his son Samuel.” His (Samuel’s) daughter
Mary married John Valentine and their eldest son Samuel settled in Free-
town. "It is not known where Samuel was buried, but his sons x x x and
many of their descendants lie buried in the old Valentine family lot.” His
son ' William served on the “Freetown Committee of Correspondence and
Safety” during the Revolution, William built the house now occupied by
Roy é Athearn, 5105 North Main Street. His brother Samuel built on the
site of the Read homestead, 5254 North Main Street, and brother John built
tFl‘le old B_rarnaby house recently destroyed which was over the line in

reetown,

Across the road from the Valentine-Read cemetery stood the old colonial
church.® The land on which it stood, although within Fall River belongs to
the town of Freetown *‘to which it was given by Samuel Lynde of Boston".’
A few years after the deed was passed another part began to be used for
a burial ground a‘nd‘ many of the old settlers were buried there.

There is an interesting story connected with the burial place on the
Bradford Bennett farm on Meridian Street, now the home of Mrs. O. H.
Jackson. At the time of the smallpox epidemic, Mrs. Jackson’s grandfather

gave permission to parents, too poor to provide‘ burials for their children,

7 See Fascidle I, p. 89.
¥ See p. 4, Fascicle 1.
® “Neglected Graves of Early Settlers” by C. E. Boivin, Fall River Daily Herald for June 17, 1903.
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permission to bury them in his lot. This accounts for the number of
unmarked graves.

In addition to those mentioned, the fo“owing cemeteries are in use
today: Beth-El, 4561 North Main Street; Hebrew Cemetery, McMahon
Street, corner of Amity; Jewish Cemetery, 306 Newhall Street; Notre
Dame French Cemetery, 1540 Stafford Road; Our Lady of Light Portu-
guese Cemetery, 547 Newhall Street; St. John’s Cemetery, 258 Brightman

Street; St. Mary's Cemetery, Amity Street; St. Patrick's Cemetery, 2233
Robeson Street.












JOHN TUTTLE SWIFT

1 have chosen, in telling the story of certain well-defined branches of
local history, to relate the activities of some one person who has been so
prominent in that particular field of action that his life story, coupled with
that of his associates, will give an accurate and connected story of that
entire branch,

On my return to Fall River in 1890 after my college days, the prominent
law offices in Fall River were headed by James M. Morton, James F. Jack-
son, John W. Cummings and Henry K. Braley. Mr. Braley was associated
in business with Marcus G. B. Swift and Mr. Swift succeeded to that
business when Mr. Braley was appointed to the Superior Court bench
in 1802.

Mr. Swift was active in the courts, but was espeCially sl(illed as an office
consultant and as an expert conveyancer. After his decease in 1902, his
two sons succeeded to his business. One of them, wllen elected attorney
general in 1910, removed to Boston, and the other_ John T. Swift, is the
subject of this sketch. Born in Fall River in November of 1877, Mr. Swift
was educated in the local schools and at Williams College with the class
of 1901. When his college education was completed, Mr. Swift had
unusual business experiences. Before he studied law he became reporter
on the staff of the Herald News, a clerk in the office wlﬁch_ combined both
a national bank and a savings bank, with a real estate and insurance office
operated by George N. Durfee, and in the cotton and cloth brokerage house
of Tuttle, Hurley & Co. ‘

Upon the selection of Congressman William S. Greene as chairman of
the Committee on Merchant Marine and Fisheries of the House of Repre-
sentatives in Washington, he appointed Mr. Swift to be Clerk of this
Committee. In Washington. Mr. Swift made many friends of national
repute, studied law in George Wasllington University and graduated in
the class of 1910 with the degree of Bachelor of Laws, wllereupon he began
the practice of law in Fall River in his father’s office with lus brother James
M. Swift and George Grime as his associates.

From the first he handled important business ‘matters with success,
largely due to the fact that he was an indefatigable worker and gave close
study to every branch of law and of evidence which he migllt expect to
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meet in the courts. He was very successful in his jury trials and as attorney
for and defending corporations and insurance companies, he tried a large
proportion of the tort cases which our juries heard. Appointed and elected
to many different offices of judicial, social and political importance, for
fifteen years by appointment from four successive governors of Massachu-
setts, he served as a member of the local board of police. In 1919 Mr. Swift
was elected Treasurer and later President of the Citizens Savings Bank
and retired from active law work. He had previously had experience as a
director and counsel for several banking institutions and his success in his
new field was outstanding. The bank has earned and regularly paicl
dividends since it was incorporated in 1851 and for several years has regu-
larly maintained a surplus as large as permitted by Massachusetts law.

Mr. Swift entertained the business men and bankers of Fall River at a
meeting and dinner of the local Chamber of Commerce given in honor of
concerns which had beencontinuously in business for fifty years, with the
story of the development of banks in the city, and I have, with his consent,
used his notes of that address as the foundation of my sketch of our bankmg
history. 1 appreciate my business and social association with Mr. Swift.
The fact that he was a 32nd degree Mason, member of the Congregational
Church, a liberal Republrcan in polrtlcs, and was a member of all the
prominent local social clubs; lieutenant in the volunteer coast artillery, lieu-
tenant in the state guard cluring the world war and president of the local
Council of Boy Scouts, brought him in contact with every branch of civil
life but more important than all else he had a host of devoted and loyal
friends who aided in bringing support and prosperity to each of his business
and social endeavors.

Mr. Switt died June 17, 1940 in his sixty-third year.
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Banks which have done business in Fall River include banks which
were organized under the federal law and banks which were organized
under state law. In the latter class are banks which were organized either
under the laws of Massachusetts or of Rhode Island. Again these banks
are divided into two classes: those which are operated I)y stockholders and
those which are controlled I)y depositors. The profits of a national bank or
a trust company l)e]ong to the stockholders and are divided among the stock-
holders in the form of dividends. Banks known as savings banks or co-
operative banks are operated I)y and for the benefit of the persons who
deposit their money for investment. The profits are divided in accordance
with the amount of money with which these depositors are credited in their
pass books. Inasmuch as national banks and trust companies are always
seeking to secure and control deposits which are subject to check, the money
earned depends Iargely upon the amount of deposits. One of the means
of securing substantial deposits was to secure the accounts of savings and
co-operative banks, because these usua“y carried large deposits and the
depositary could earn money on a proper investment of the deposits. In
carrying out this idea it was quite usual, until a compartively recent date,
for national banks and trust companies to reserve a space in their counting
rooms at which the business of savings or co-operative banks could be
conducted. Of late years, it has been contrary to the policy of the bank
commissioner of Massachusetts to allow any two banks to do business in
the same quarters and this has tended in some instances to consolidate
banks. Savings banks and co-operative banks have moved into quarters
reserved solely for their own use. In this way several of the banks which
formerly did business here have been consolidated with others. The First
National Bank was consolidated with the B. M. C. Durfee Trust Company,
and the Massasoit-Pocasset National Bank and the Metacomet. National

Bank were also consolidated with the B. M. C. Durfee Trust Company
in 1928. ’
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National banks and trust companies are "Commercial banks”. Savings
banks and co-operative banks will be treated separately.

The Nauéﬁal Bank

There is only one national bank in Fall Rlver at the present time, viz.:

The Fall River National Bank.

The Fall River National Bank, then lmown as the Fall River Bank,
was organized on January 18, 1825 at the law office of James Ford, Esq.
Alter receiving a charter from the Massachusetts leglslature they conducted
business for one year at the corner of North Main and Central Streets; then
they purehased the Iot at the southeast corner of North Main and Bank
Streets where the bank is now located. The building on this property
was a cider house, which was torn down when the first brick building was
erected. This building was destroyed by the fire of 1843 but was rebuilt
the same year. It was enlarged and modernized in 1890, at which time the
bank purchased the adioining property on Bank Street which formerly
belonged to the St. Paul's Methodist Episcopal Church and alse acquired
from Oliver Chace heirs, the adioining land on Main Street where the
Davis and Fish market had been.

For twenty years the Fall River Bank was the only bank of discount in
the village of Fall River. It was chartered as a National Bank in 1864 with
a capltal of one hundred thousand dollars. Its presxdents in the order of their
service were David Anthony, Col. Richard Borden, Guilford H. Hathaway,
Ferdinand H. Gifford, Wendell E. Turner, Oliver S. Hawes and John C.
Batchelder. Its cashiers were Matthew C. Durfee until 1836; since then
Henry H. Fish, George R. Fiske, Ferdinand H. Gifford, George H. Eddy,
Frederick E. Bemis, and now Arthur R. Derbyshire. On the first of
January 1940 the resources of The Fall River National Bank were
$8,300,000 of which $7,700,000 represent deposits and $685,000 was
capital and surplus. The ‘l)anl‘( is authorized to manage trust funds and
these amount to approximately five and a half millions of dollars at this
time. They are not shown in the financial statement.

TRUST COMPANIES

There are two trust companies in Fall River, the B. M. C. Durfee Trust
Company which was organized under the laws of Massachusetts in 1888,
and the Fall River Trust Company which was similarly organized in 1919.
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B.M.C. Durfee Trust Company

In 1870 a private banking house called B. M. C. Durfee & Co. was
organized by John S. Brayton and his sister Mary B. Young. Bradford M.
C. Durlee, whose name was used in this title, was the son of Bradford
Durfee and Mary B. Durlee, she liaving married Jeremiah Young after the
death of Mr. Durfee. He was a prominent business man and banker of
Andover, Massachusetts, and had held important political and business
positions. Bradford M. C. Durfee was born in 1843 and died in 1872, but
he was never connected with the banl(ing house. It was owned and con-
trolled by John S. Brayton and his sister. Three John S. Braytons, in three
successive generations, have been in control of the Brayton banks, consist-
ing originally of this banl(ing house; secondly of the First National Bank,
which was incorporated in 1864 and tlle B. M. C. Durfee Trust Company,
which was chartered in 1887, at which time it absorbed the business of the
private banl(ing,house. '

In 1925 the B. M. C. Durfee Trust Company absorbed the First
National Bank; in 1928 it absorbed the Massasoit-Pocasset National Bank
and the Metacomet National Bank. In turn the Massasoit-Poccaset
National Bank was a consolidation in 1904 of the old Massasoit National
Bank, the Pocasset National Bank and of the National Union Bank. The
Metacomet National Bank had merged in 1903 with the Second National
Bank which had been organized in 1856, under the name of Wamsutta
Bank and which had been absorbed by the Second National Bank when
that was incorporated as a national bank in 1864.

The three generations of men named John S. Brayton were distin-
guished in popular parlance as John S., Summerfield and John, the latter
l)eing now the president of the consolidated banks. ’

November 31, 1886 Arthur W. Allen' entered the employ of the
l)anl(ing house of B. M. C. Durfee & Co. as ledger bool(l(eeper. He retired,
because of poor eyesight, but with an active and accurate memory. He is
the only surviving official who had any connection with this early banl(ing
house and he has furnished most of the details which enter into this sketch.

ln the spring of 1887 he became the general bool(l(eeper and when the
trust company was organized John S, Brayton made him its treasurer. The
trust company charter was most liberal. There is no other like it toclay.
The new bank l)uilcling was immediately constructed at the northwest
corner of North Main and Bank Streets and until the building was com-

1 Arthur W. Allen died August 25, 1942,
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pleted the First National Bank and the B. M. C. Durfee Trust Company
transacted their business over the same counter, in their banking rooms at
the north end of the old Granite Block. At that time Everett M. Cook was
the teller of the First National Bank and C. E. Hendrickson of New
Bedford was the cashier. John S. Brayton was president until his death in
September 1904.

The banks moved into their new building in May 1888. In June 1888
Mr. Allen became treasurer and clerk of the B. M. C. Durfee Trust
Company. Thomas E. Brayton was vice president; the board of directors
was composed of very prominent citizens, including James M. Morton, Sr.,

David A. Brayton, Jr., Hezekiah A. Brayton, Andrew Borden, Andrew J.
Borden, George A. Ballard, Edward L. Anthony, Byron W. Anthony, Sr.,
and Philip D. Borden, Sr., who was then treasurer of the American Linen
Company. The trust company began to function on July 9, 1888 with a
capital of one hundred thousand dollars; in 1890 it was doubled and during
the panic of 1893 it was doubled again.

In 1925 it absorbed the First National Bank and when after the big fire
of February 2nd, 1928 it absorbed the Massasoit Pocasset and the Meta-
comet banks, the directors of each of these banks became directors in the
B. M. C. Durfee Trust Company. At one time there were thirty-eight
directors. They are now reduced to nineteen.

John Summerfield Brayton died on April 20, 1923, one day only after
the death of Hon. James M. Morton. Not knowing that he was suffering
from any serious ailment, Summerfield announced that he was going home.
It seems that on his way home, he called to see Dr. Learned, who was not
in his office. He drove home, drove his automobile in the garage and called
for Dr. Buck, who, after examination, declared that he was very ill with
“angina”’. In the evening Dr, Buck was called again. Before he arrived
Mr. Brayton was dead. The funerals of Hon. James M. Morton and John
Summerfield Brayton were held on the same day. The third John S.
Brayton (John Brayton) became president of these banks and still holds
the office.

The law which was passed in 1902 and which compelled the separation
of the banking quarters of the various banks did not seriously affect the
B. M. C. Durfee Trust Company and the First National Bank because
their l)anl(ing rooms were very commodious with counters and éep'afﬁte
safe facilities on each side. In January 1904 the First National Bank
and the B. M. C. Durfee Trust Company were separated. In Mr. Allen’s
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words “T took my trust company, bag and baggage and went over on the
north side of the building; we were under the same roof but not functioning
from the same counter’.

At the time of the defalcations which seriously affected the business
industries of Fall River, the commercial paper and the pledged capital stock
of the Union Mill and of the Sagamore Manufacturing Company were held
by both the B. M. C. Durfee Trust Company and the First National Bank
toa larger extent than any other banks. The banks continued to hold these
securities and partici'pated in the corporate reorganizations. While the
personal notes of S. Angier Chace and George T. Hathaway were neces-
sarily cl'largecl off as losses, the collateral given to secure them was held
"tl'lr‘ougl'l thick and tl'lin. for years and years, until the stock became very
valuable”, and, as Mr. Allen says, “we made a raft of money”.

The financial clepression which involved all the banl(s began in June
1893. It was due to a shortage of currency. People who had bank credits
became suddenly aware of the fact that they wanted their credits in cash.
There was not enougl'l money to go around. This bank suffered least of
any because John S. Brayton was clerk and director of the Old Colony
Steamboat Company and interested in the railroad and he was able to go
to Boston every day to br’mg back a satchel filled with the necessary cur-
rency. Director Edward L. Anthony, Treasurer of the Border City Mills,
had connections in New York through which money came every day by
express to the bank, so the First National Bank was the only national bank
in Fall River which was able to furnish actual cash for the mill operatives.
All other banks in Fall River issued their own currency, printed in the form
of bills which were passed tllrougl'x the clearing house from the operatives,
the same as checks had been. The Brayton banks also had currency of
their own, but none of it was used. The box containing it was never opened
until it was shovelled into the furnace. The panic lasted thirteen months.
When the public brougl’lt back their money to be ~re-deposited a large part
of it was still strapped up in the original packages in which it was turned
over to them when tl'ley withdrew it.

The financial depression of 1907 had no effect upon the banks in Fall
River. '

There was another financial depression in 1932 which was caused by

“a slump in stocks”. The public became frightened, began to sell their

stocks for what they could get for them and the market was over-loaded and
bank deposits fell off.
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Fall River Trust Company

The Fall River Trust Company was chartered March 6, 1919 and was
opened for business January 9, 1920. The bank is managed by local men
and is not connected with any other bank. The banl(mg rooms occupy the

first floor of what was formerly the butldmg owned by the “Fall Rlver Daxly )

Globe™. Tlus property. has recently been acqulred by the trust company.
The bank also maintains a branch in the eastern section of the ‘city. The
following were the officers of the bank when it opened in 1920. Presi-
dent, Walter E. Mcl.ane; Vice-Presidents, James Sinclair and Michael
Sweeney; Treasurer, Samuel E. Robinson; Directors, Walter E. McL.ane,
Thomas C. McGuire, James Sinclair, Michael Sweeney, William A.
Prosser, Edwin J. Cole, Frank M. Silvia, Fred L. Hervey, Charles T. Slack
and Stanislaus Borvm The bank has attained a prominent place in the
business life of the community which is reflected in its assets and the value
of its stock. At the present time (1940), James Buffington is President:
Norman C. Small is Vice-President;? Samuel E. Robinson, Executive
Vice-President and Treasurer William F Howard and Anthony Perry,

Assmtant Treasurers

SAVINGS BANKS

There are four savings banks in Fall River. /They are treated in the
order of tl‘lell‘ incorporation.

Fall River Savings Bank®

Fall River Savings Bank was incorporated in 1828 for a term of twenty
years under the name of Fall River Institution for Savings. In 1847 incor-
poration was continued without limitation, In 1855 its name was changed
to Fall River Savings Bank. In 1830 the bank was located in the store of
Hawkins and Frsh at the southeast corner of Main and Bedford Streets and
it remained there until 1841. The bank was then moved to Pocasset Street,
in the rear of the Post Office; then it was located in the house of Dr. Nathan
Durfee on North Main Street until his house was destroyed by fire. It was
then moved to the southwest corner of the Mount Hope Block and remained
there until its present bulldmg on North Main Street was completed in

1867. In the financial troubles of 1879, depositors lost four and one-half -

per cent of their investments but this was repaid in 1882 in the form of an
extra dividend.

2 Norman C. Small died October 28, 1940,
% “The Centenary of the Fall River Savings Bank.” Privately printed March, 1923
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Micah Ruggles was the first president. James Ford was the first
treasurer. Joseph F. Lindsey was treasurer from 1836 to 1877 and
Charles A. Bassett from 1877 to 1916. Cornelius S. Hawkins is the present

treasurer. ,
Citizens Savings Bank

The Citizens Savings Bank was organized as “The Savings Bank’ by
act of the Rhode Island General Assembly. Itbegan its business on Decem-
ber 1st, 1851 in Tiverton and in the banking rooms of the Union Bank at
the northeast corner of South Main and Rodman Streets. The act which
cbangecl the boundary line between Massachusetts and Rhode Island and
added Fall River, R. 1., to Fall River, Mass. provided that the corporations
legally existing in the annexed territory should continue to exist in Massa-
chusetts under the same charter, on account of which the Citizens Savings

Bank is the only bank operating in Massachusetts under an original Rhode
Island charter.

In 1862 this bank joined with the Pocasset National Bank and moved
into the banl(ing rooms at the northwest corner of the Market House which
was at the location of the present City Hall in Fall River. In January 1873,
the Pocasset National Bank erected a new building on the southeast corner
of Main and Bedford Streets and both banks moved to that location. It is
interesting to know that this Jand was then purchased for $15,000. In 1862
the name of the bank was cbanged to the Citizens Savings Bank and in
1903 it purchased from the Pocasset National Bank its business location.
The present building is the third building occupied by the bank on the
same site. It enlarged and rebuilt its banking house in 1923 and when it
was destroyed by fire on February 2, 1928 its present structure was erected.

When John T. Swift became the treasurer of this bank in 1919 its
deposits were $6,850,000 and its total assets were $7.800,000. In 1930 John
T. Swift became president of the bank and on January 1, 1940 deposits
had increased to $13,946,000 and the total assets to $16,530,000; this
showing the most remarkable increase of assets by any savings bank in the
city. Leeds Burchard is now president.

Fall River Five Cents Savings Bank

The Fall River Five Cents Savings Bank was incorporated April 10,
1855 by several public spirited persons who desired to encourage savings
by those who were attracted to the city by its industrial activities and who
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were untaught in New England thrift. It was believed that those who were
spending su]:)stantia"y all their earnings each week might be induced to
save a little if a bank for small savings was established in their midst. The
bank was established in an economical manner. Three citizens supplied
furnishings including the safe and books. Another offered free use of con-
venient banking rooms. Charles J. Holmes, then only twenty-one years of
age, was elected treasurer and opened the bank January 1, 1856. It
accepted 'deposits from five cents to one thousand dollars and paid its first
dividend in June 1856. Mr. Holmes was also the cashier of the Wamsutta
Bank which was renamed the Second National Bank in 1864. Both insti-
tutions occupied the same banking room until the law prohibiting such use
was passed in 1902. It then became necessary for the Second National
Bank to move because the Five Cents Savings Bank owned the building.
The Second National Bank accepted the offer of the Metacomet National
Bank to purchase its assets and to liquidate, with the result that the stock-
holders of the Second National Bank received approximately $175.00 per
share. The Five Cents Savings Bank built its new building on the same
site in 1915, The bank has been successful from the beginning. Charles
L. Holmes followed his father as treasurer in 1930. During this period
there have been seven presidents. Charles L. Holmes* has been president

since 1930.
Union Savings Bank
The Union Savings Bank was incorporated April 24, 1869 and opened

its quarters in the banking rooms of the National Bank which was then
in the City Hall. The first president, Augustus Chace, served until March
1886. Benjamin Covel was the second president and Andrew J. Borden
was the third serving from 1888 to 1892. Daniel A. Chapin, the first
treasurer, was succeeded by Jerome C. Borden in 1888. In 1892 Jerome
C. Borden became president and the present president, Adam W. Gifford
succeeded him. Adam Gifford had been treasurer since the death of
Abraham G. Hart in 1907. Mr. Hart had served for sixteen years. The
present treasurer is James P. Hart, who is a grandson of Abraham G. Hart.

In 1872 the Union Savings Bank bought a building on the east side of
Main Street midway between Bedford and Market Streets. This building
was destroyed in the fire of 1928 and its present quarters, extending to
Market Street, was built at that time.

4 Mr. Holmes retired in 1941 and was succeeded by Nathan Durfee. Frederik W. Waits is a Vice-

President and Treasurer.
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CO-OPERATIVE BANKS

There are four co-operative banks in Fall River. These banks have been
of inestimable value to the citizenry. Not only ‘have’ they offered a safe
means for systematic saving and investment; they have encouraged and
enabled many families to construct and maintain homes of their own. Mrs.
Spencer Borden, Sr. should be given credit for the establishment of
co-operative banks in Fall River. While on a visit in Phi]adelphia, she
learned of the value of this system of banl(ing and on her return she pre-
vailed upon Mr. Borden to establish such a bank here.

The Troy Co-operative Bank

The Troy Co-operative Bank was organized in the office of Buffington

and Hood on July 10, 1880, with Henry T. Buffington as treasurer. There

have been only four presidents: Spencer Borden was the first and Andrew
J. Borden the second. Jerome C. Borden was president from 1887 to the
time of his death in January 1930 and was succeeded by George H. Eddy.
Jr. The bank at one time had quarters in the rooms of The Fall River
National Bank. Later it moved to the old Opera House Building which was
destroyed by the fire of 1928. After the fire the bank erected a building of
its own on the same site on Purchase Street. Edward W. Bertenshaw is
the present treasurer and William C. Harrison® the assistant treasurer.

The Peoples Co-operative Bank
The Peoples Co-operative Bank was established on February 18, 1882

as the Peoples Co-operative Bank and Loan Association. The name was
changed to comply with a State law. Milton Reed was the first president
and Samuel W. Brown the treasurer. The first meeting of the bank was
held in the office of Milton Reed and subsequent meetings were held in
G. A. R. Hall, then on Bedford Street, and in the offices of F. O. Dodge
and Samuel Hadfield. In 1895 the bank was opened in its present quarters
at No. 60 Bedford Street, also occupied at that time by George N. Durfee,
now under the firm name of C. H. & N. B. Durfee. Charles H. Durfee has
been the Treasurer from that time to the present. The following have held
the office of president: Milton Reed, John H. Estes, Abner P. Davol and
Frank P. Coolidge.

5 Mr. Bertenshaw resigned in 1943 and Mr. Harrison became Treasurer.
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The Fall River Co-opérative Bank

The Fall River Co-operative Bank was organized December 1, 1888.
John Barlow was its first president. Rodolphus N. Allen was one of the
organizers of the bank. He was elected the first treasurer and filled the
office for over fifty years. He died October 4, 1940. The bank carried on
business in the offices of Lincoln and Hood and in the Massasoit, later the
Massasoit-Pocasset National Bank, until the fire of 1928. The bank then
used the basement of the Masonic Temple until its new building on Bedford
Street was completed Eric Borden, Col. B. D. Davol and George 0.
Lathrop each served long terms as president. M. Richard Brown is now
presulent and Sydney H Borden is treasurer.

The Lafayette Co-operative Bank

The Lafayette Co-operative Bank was established in May 1894. Its
first president was Pierre F. Peloqum Edmond Cote is now President and
Samuel E. Robinson is treasurer. Arthur S. Phillips acted as attorney for
the bank from the time of its organization until his death. The bank is
located in the rooms of the Fall River Trust Company.

DISCONTINUED BANKS

The following banks which heretofore existed have been discontinued
or merged with others. A law passed in 1902 under Governor W, Murray
Crane, compelling the separation of banl(ing quarters, resulted in the
liquidation or conso_lidation of several Fall River banks.

National Union Bank

The National Union Bank, originally known as the Bristol Union Bank

of Bristol, Rhode Island, had its charter from the Rhode Island legislature
in 1823. Its authorized capital was $50,000 but when it began business
only $10,000 had been paid in. After two years its pald in capltal had
increased to $40,000 and then the bank moved to Fall River, Rhode Island
and changed its name to Fall River Union Bank.
In 1837 the bank erected a brick l)uxldmg at the northeast corner of
South Main and Rodman Streets and it carried on business there until
" 1862 when it moved into the southwest corner of the City Hall building.
It received its charter as anational bank in June 1865 and in 1872 it moved
to number 3 Market Square,® at which time Jesse Eddy was president and

¢ Main Street from Bedford to Market Street was then called Market Square.
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Daniel A. Chapin was cashier. In 1888 John T. Burrell was made cashier
and in 1903 the bank was consolidated with the Massasoit-Pocasset
National Bank.

Pocasset Bank

The Pocasset Bank was incorporated in Rhode Island in 1854. Oliver
Chace was the first president. The bank started business at the corner of
South Main and Rodman Streets, which location was then in Tiverton.
In 1862, when the boundary line was moved south, the bank was in Fall
River, Massachusetts. The bank became a Massachusetts institution and
tl_le bank moved to the northwest corner of the City Hall. February 1, 1865
it was organized as a National Bank and soon after bought the land on the
southeast corner of Main and Bedford Streets where, in 1872, it erected
a fine granite building providing quarters for itself and the Citizens Savings
Bank. It occupied these quarters until the law was passed which prevented
savings banks and national banks from occupying the same quarters. It
then merged with the Union and Massasoit Banks. After Oliver Chace,
the first president, came Samuel Hathaway, Weaver Osborn, Joseph
Healy and George W. Slade. The cashiers were William H. Brackett
and Edward E. Hathaway.

The Massasoit-Pocasset National Bank

The Massasoit Bank was organized in 1846 with an authorized capital
of one hundred thousand dollars (one-half paid in). In 1854 the capital
was increased to two hundred thousand dollars. The first cashier of the
bank was Leander Borden. He was succeeded, in 1883, l)y his son Eric
W. Borden. He served until his death in 1921 when Frank E. Westgate
was elected cashier. Augustus J. Wood was cashier at the time of the fire
of 1928 and the consolidation of the bank with the B. M. C. Durfee Trust
Company.

The first location of the bank was in Mount Hope Block; then on the
corner of North Main and Franklin Streets. In 1864 it became the Massa-
soit National Bank and in 1876 it moved its quarters to the northeast corner
of Main and Bedford Streets. In 1889 it established banking rooms in the
building on the corner of Bedford and Second Streets. Upon the consoli-
dation of the Union, Pocasset and Massasoit banks a new builJing was
erected on the site. It was destroyed in the fire of 1928.
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Metacomet Bank

The Metacomet Bank 'was'incorporated as a state bank in 1852 with a
capital of four hundred thousand dollars. Tt was first located on the east
side of Water Street opposite the American Print Works. It became the
Metacomet National Bank in 1865. In 1876 it moved its location to the
Borden Block with rooms on the corner of South Main and Pleasant Streets.
In 1888 it moved to the corner of Bedford and Rock Streets where later the
building and banl(ing rooms were remodelled. The building was destroyed
in the fire of 1928. In 1903 it had taken over the Second National Bank.
Atfter the fire it merged with the B. M. C. Durfee Trust Company. The
presidents included Jefferson Borden, William Lindsey, Walter C. Durfee,
Frank S. Stevens, Thomas J. Borden, Simeon B. Chase and John C.
Batchelder. Azariah S. Tripp was cashier from 1853 to 1888. He was
followed by George H. Borden, Charles B. Cook, Frank H. Borden and
James D. Dearden.

Wamsuita (Second National Bank)

- The Wamsutta Bank was first organized as a state bank in 1856 with
S. Angier Chace as president and Charles J. Holmes as cashier. It became
a national bank in 1864 and the name was cl'nangecl to the Second National
Bank. Charles J. Holmes remained as cashier of the bank until its merger

with the Metacomet National Bank in 1903.



Chapter Xl

THE RISE OF INDUSTRIAL FALL RIVER

Col. Joseph Durfee was born in April 1750 in what is now Fall River.
He was the eldest son of Hon. Thomas Durfee. In 1834, Col. Durfee wrote
a story of his reminiscences and this is the most authoritative and the earliest
written history of Fall River, though rather limited to affairs which were
in his personal l(nowledge.

He says that the Bordens were the owners of the Fall River stream;
that at that time much of the city was a wilderness and a feeding place
for goats; that the Bordens and Durfees were the principal owners of the
land included in the Pocasset Purchase, including all of the land on Main
Street for more than a mile; that Thomas and Joseph Borden owned the
south side of Fall River stream and Stephen Borden owned the north side;
that Thomas Borden owned the saw mill and a grist mill standing where
the old saw and grist mill stood near the Iron Works; that Joseph Borden,
brother of Thomas owned a fulling mill near the location of the Pocasset
Mill; that Stephen Borden owned the north side of the stream where there
was a grist mill and a saw mill near the woolen mill; that in Fall River there
stood two saw mills, two grist mills and a fulling mill, but by 1834 there
were about forty different mills; that the stream was very small but the falls
were 80 hig}i that there was Iitt_le need for dams or an artificial pond. That
near where Main Street now crosses the stream there was a small foot
bridge which afforded the only means of crossing the stream, except that
the stream could be forded; that there was formerly a small dam near where
the Troy Mill stands and that water flowed over it the greater part of the
year; that when the water supply lessened the mill owners on the stream
hoisted the gates and let the water down. It was quite usual for the water
to be so low and the river so narrow at the head of the stream that it could
be easily stepped across and it was often not more than six inches deep;.

The development of the cotton industry and the invention of the
machinery used in it primarily occurred in England. It was a secret process,
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carefully guarded from others than trusted employees. For years it was
i‘mpossible for a foreigner to have access to any information with reference
to it, because the law not only 'prohibitec] exportation of new inventions
but also prevented the emigration of skilled artisans.

- Prior to 1787 whatever cotton cloth had been made in America had
been woven on hand looms and the spinning of the yarn had usually been
done on the ordinary spinning wheel (operated by foot power) which could
be found in almost every household. The Arkwright spinning frames were
invented in England during the Revolutionary War and the first attempt
to smuggle the model into America was in 1786. These models were seized
on the eve of shipment. In that same year Hon. Hugh Orr came from
Scotland to Bridgewater, Massachusetts, and from memory ingeniously
constructed several carding and spinning machines and these were the first
which were used in this country.

Samuel Slater, who had had an _apprenticeship in cotton manufactur-
ing in Derbyshire. England. knew that no models could be taken to
America, and brought some machine,drawings,'when he came to Provi-
dence in 1798. He succeeded by his own efforts in starting up several cards
and spinning machines upon the kArl(wright principle. David Anthony of
Fall River was in the employ»of Samuel Slater at that time, and was one of
several who learned the processes, and was instrumental in starting a cotton
mill in Fall River. He retained his interest in the cotton business until he
died in 1867. The power loom, however, was not put into successful opera-
tion in this country until approximately 1814 and mule spinning was not
introduced until 1830..

The first cotton mill (the Globe Manufactory) was built by Col. Joseph
Durfee, in 1811, in that part of Tiverton, which is now in Fall River, at the
northeast corner of South Main and Globe Streets. It was not a financial
success. While the owners exercised great energy, they lacked practicefl
lmowledge. It was used as a cotton mill until 1829 when it was turned into
a printworks. The printing establishment was burned in 1838.

The raw cotton was given out to farmers’ families and they picked out
the seed by hand. When the yarn had been spun it was again sent to the
farmers’ homes to be woven on hand looms into cloth, after which it was
finished in the mill and marketed from there. The machinery consisted
only of a few Ar](wright spinning frames, a few cards, and a calender. It
was a valuable experiment but a disastrous investment because of lack of
experience in the work. The l)real(ing of threads in the spinning process
was very troublesome.
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Two substantial cotton mills were erected in 1813, the Troy Cotton and
Woolen Manufactory and the Fall River Manufactory. David Anthony
was a leading promoter of these mills, and Oliver Chace and Abraham
Bowen were prominent subscribers. Deacon Anthony, as he was socially
called was a deacon in the First Congregational Church and president of
the Fall River bank. His principal associate was one Dexter Wheeler who
had worked with him in starting a small factory in Rehoboth before they
came to Fall River.

The Fall River Manufactory was established with a capital of $40,000,
increased to $150,000 in 1820. A three story mill was built on the Que-
quechan stream, the first story of stone and the upper two of wood. It was
to accommodate 1500 spindles. In 1827 the “Nankeen Mill” was added
and in 1839 the original structure was demolished, to make way for a new
building, succeeded after a disastrous fire in 1868 by another structure,
long known as the “White Mill”, eventually acquired by the Pocasset Mill.

The Troy Cotton and Woolen Manufactory beginning operations on
the stream in March 1814, was of stone construction, four stories high and
intended for 2000 spmdles Oliver Chace, the promoter was agent and
Eber Slade treasurer. Burned in 1821, the mill was rebuilt and later
enlarged. In 1860 a mill of five stories was erected.

The Poccaset Manufacturing Company was organized in 1821, The
land on the stream to the west of Main Street came under the control of
Samuel Rodman of New Bedford and his associates. They had intended
to enlarge the grist mill but finally associated with Oliver Chace and others
and erected what was known as the “Old Bridge Mill”" which stood west
of Main Street at that time and immediately north of the Fall River stream.
They tore down the grist mill but the old fulling mill still remained just south
of the stream. This was operated by Major Brayton and here nearly all of
the cloth woven in Fall River was cleansed and fulled.” All these mills were
destroyed in the great fire of 1843. Just to the west of the ell of the old
Bridge Mill was constructed a mill for tenants. It was first occupied by
Joseph Eddy, who came from New Bedford and later by Edward and
Oliver S. Hawes, who began to print calico. In 1824, Andrew Robeson
came to Fall River and established a calico printing business which occu-
pied a part of the same building. The south half was occupied by J. & J.
Eddy for manufacture of satinets.

West of the printing mill, the Quequechan Mill was built in 1826 It
was called the “New Pocasset” and was leased for a yarn mill. In the
followmg year the Pocasset constructed still another stone: bullclmg which
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was known as the Massasoit Mill and later called the Watuppa Mill. It
was larger than the needs of the industry then seemed to require but after
Holder Borden® leased the whole mill in 1831 and filled it with machinery,
it was successful from the start. He manufactured sheetings, shirtings and
other fabrics. This mill had 9,000 spindles and was three times as large as
any other mill theretofore built.

In 1821, the machinery firm of Harris, Hawes & Company occupied
two floors of a building put up for their use by the Pocasset Company.
The basement was used as a grist mill and as a convenience to the wives
and daughters of the leading men who then lived on Central Street, they
built a water-wheel to raise the water to a convenient level for their laundry
worlk.

In 1821 the Fall River Iron Works Company was formed. The industry
originated in a blacksmith shop operated by Major Bradford Durfee in
conjunction with Col. Richard Borden. Major Durfee had learned the
shipbuilders trade in New Bedford and he and Col. Borden operated a
grist mill at the foot of the Fall River stream. They also constructed small
vessels and when the day's work was done they experimented and studied
together in the nearby blacksmith shop and gradually established an iron
business by manufacturing such items as spikes, bars and rods.

It was from this exceeding]y small beginning and with indomitable
energy that the Fall River Iron Works Company was started. Thus the
original businesses from which it was dereloped were that of a miller, ship
carpenter and sloop builder.

Major Durfee had charge of the manufacturing and Col. Borden did
the selling. At first the product was chieﬂy iron hoops which were delivered
in New Bedford but later, when their nails became favorably known in the
trade, Col. Borden would get together a cargo and sail with it to New York
and along up the Hudson River until it was all sold. Major Durfee on a
trip to FEurope secured plans of a new type of furnace and boiler which
was used in the iron works plant with much saving in the cost of fuel.

Col. Borden ran the grist mill at the outlet of the Fall River stream from
the time he was seventeen years of age. He and his brother Jefferson
Borden owned a sfoop in which they would\ bring in about two hundred fifty
bushels of corn from farms on Conanicut Island. They could unload their
cargo directly into their mill from the creek and when it was ground. sail

1 The joint stock company which organized the American Print Works was formed by Holder Borden.
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with their surplus stock to Warren, Bristol and Providence and, disposing
of it, would load with more corn on the return voyage.

Richard Borden and Bradford Durfee were the pioneer promoters of"
the Fall River Iron Works Company.® Six other persons were interested
with them at the beginning and between them raised $24,000. The com-
pany was incorporated in 1825 and ultimately acquired all of the land lying
between the original outlet stream of Quequechan River to the bay on the
west, and extending southerly, so as to include Crab Pond, which was then
a salt water inlet. When in the process of development'. they needed fresh‘
water for use in the bleachin-g processes, the outlet stream of the river was
diverted into Crab Pond, at a distance just north of Ferry Street and it was
turned into a fresh water reservoir.

The Wamsutta Steam-Woolen Mill manufactured satinet made with
cotton warp and wool fi“ing. Samuel Shove and John and Jesse Eddy
operated the mill. In 1834, when Shove withdrew, the remaining partners
continued the business under the name of J. & J. Eddy, John Eddy being
the manufacturer and Jesse the buyer and seller. In 1843 they discontinued
the manufacture‘ of satinets and manufactured an all wool fabric known as
cassimere. Two years later the business was removed to the Eagle Mill
about three and one-half miles south of Fall River in Tiverton. Later the
mill was located at a place known as Mosquito Island on the Quequechan,
just above tbe Watuppa dam. Joseph Eddy soon died. Manufacturing
was not resumed until 1849, when Jesse Eddy was the proprietor and his
son Thomas F. Ecldy became associated with him and continued the
business fOratwenty-one years. They began operations with 6 cards and 36
looms. They used about 150,000 pounds of wool each year and the cassi-
meres manufacture‘d were about 150,000 yards. In 1862 they had 8 sets of
cards and employed about 106 persons. They then wove about 200,000
yards of wool each year and made about 175,000 yards of cloth (See
Fowler, p. 88). In 1839, 1138 pounds of wool were sheared from sheep in
Fall River. (See Fowler, p. 32). In 1873 when Jesse Eddy died, his two
sons Thomas F. and James C. continued the business and continued to
manufacture fine cassimeres. :

The Wyoming Mills established l)y Augustus Chace and William B.
Trafford in 1845 produced twines, batts and warps. ‘

In 1862, after the southerly boundary line of Fall River was extended
from Columbia Street to State Avenue, the cotton textile industry com-

’Gl;orégne early development of the Fall River Iron Works Company see “Centennial History of Fall River”
pps. 63-66. .
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prised the following mills with the capacity, etc. below stated. The Massa-
soit and Union Mills which were located on the river above the falls and
the American Linen below the hill used steam power only. The Troy and
Metacomet had auxiliary steam power, but their main power and the entire
power of the other mills came from the falls of the river. The Pocasset
made sheetings but the others wove only print cloths. The Robeson Mill
belonged to the Fall River Print Works Co. but it substituted the manu-
facture of cotton for printing in 1858. The Metacomet and Anawan Mills
belonged to the Fall River Iron Works Co.

Statistical Table

Incor- Yards Made Em-

porated Spindles  Looms Per Year  ployees Copital
Troy Cotton & Woolen Mfg. Co.......... 1814 38736 888 9500000 430  $300,000.00
Fall River Mlfy. 9,240 209 - 2,000,000 143 150,000.00
3Pocasset 18,048 374 3,500,000 297 } 800.000.00
Pocasset (Quequechan Mill) 16200 420 4,000,000 260 Btde
Anawan (Iron Works) ... 7,704 193 1,675,000 135 160,000.00
Metacomet (Iron Works) 23808 600  6,250,0000 312 190,000.00
M it Steam 14448 ~ 356 3,300,000 225 120,000.00
Watuppa Mig. " 11,000 300 2,000,000 180 75,000.00
SAmer. Linen Co. 31,500 700 7,400,000 350 400,000.00
Union Mill 18 15456 368 4,000,500 182 175,000.00
Robeson Mills (Print Works).......c....ouc 1859 8,480 168 1,600,000 100 80,000.00

192,620 4,576 - 45,225,500 2,614  $2,450,000.00

Maior Bradford Durfee and Colonel Richard Borden

In an effort to epitomize important sectors of the history of Fall River,
‘ by recording events which directly resulted from the activities of those of
our citizens who were inordinately prominent in accomplishing special civic
growths, I record services rendered successively by Major Bradford Durfee
and Colonel Richard Borden, which services were fundamental in our
industrial and manufacturing growth.

Major Bradford Durfee was the originator of plans which were the
inception of Fall River's industrial life. In the founding of the Fall River
Iron Works Co., the construction of our cotton mills, and the conservation
of our water power, Major Durfee had the able assistance of a few out-

: f\lso manufactured 33 inch sheetings on part of its looms. The average capttalization was 12.90 per
spindle,

4 Began cture of len goods in 1849, 6 cards and 36 looms manufactured 150,000 yards of
cagsimeres per annum and employed 100 persons.

5 Discontinued weaving linen in main building in 1858 when cotton machinery was installed there. The
linen was then woven in the finishing building. The linen of 3,500 spindles and 50 looms were moved to an ell,
producing yearly 1,500,000 yards of huckaback, toweling, crash and diaper. 200 persons employed.

£,
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standing men, and of these Col. Richard Borden® was the most prominent
and the most successful. When Major Durfee died on account of his almost
superhuman work at the time of the great fire of 1843, Col. Borden was his
outstandmg associate and was deemed l)y all to be the one who could best
carry out the work which was l)eing done. so that the continuous and suc-
cessive work of these two men l)rought about Fall River's success as a
manufactunng and a textile center.

¢ For the Itfe of 'Col. Richard Borden, see “History of Bristol County, Massachusetts” pp. 374-377.
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COTTON MILLS STATISTICS
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The year 1913 saw the cotton industry in Fall River established on a
substantial basis. The Fall River Mariufactory was established by David
Anthony (treasurer and agent), Dexter Wheeler and Abraham Bowen.
. Capital $40,000, increased to $150,000 in 1820.

The Troy Cotton and Woolen Manufactory began operations in March
1814. Oliver Chace, the chief promoter, was agent. Eber Slade, treasurer.
Original capital $50,000, su[)sequently became $300,000. In later years
over 52,500 spindles were operated. The plant was closed in 1929.

The Union Cotton Factory was started in 1813 in a wooden structure
on the site of the Laurel Lake Mills, then in Tiverton. It was burned in 1838.

The Pocasset Manufacturing Company (five mills) organized in 1821
with a capital of $100,000. Samuel Rodman was president and principal
owner. He erected several buildings and leased sections to others. Job
Eddy occupied one ell of the Bridge Mill and some calicoes were printed
in another section. In 1824 the south half of one building was leased to
J. & . Eddy who manufactured woolen goods (satinet) . The Eddys con-
tinued in this building until 1849. In 1831 Holder Borden leased the whole
mill. Another building known as the Quequechan Mill was owned by the
company and operated 56,112 spindles. Capital was $1,161,000. Stephen
Davol was superintendent and agent. Bradford D. Davol was clerk and
treasurer. All of these mills were destroyed in the fire of 1928,

The Annawan Manufncturing Company incorporated in 1825 with a
capital of $160,000 was erected under the supervision of Major Bradford
Durfee, who was agent of the mill. Contents 10,016 spindles. Operations
were discontinued in the late 1890’s. The mill was demolished in 1905
and Iron Works Mill Number Seven built on the site.

The Metacomet Manufacturing Company was built in 1847 by the
Fall River Iron Works Company with 25,760 spindles. Jefferson Borden

was president; Thomas S. Borden was treasurer. In addition to the Meta-



126 THE PHILLIPS HISTORY OF FALL RIVER

comet Manufacturing Company the Fall River Iron Works owned the
Fall River Gas Works Company, the Fall River and Providence Steamship
Company and the Fall River Machine Shop. These companies were
operated in conjunction until 1880.

The American Linen Company (two mills) orgamzed for the manu-
fact‘urmg of linen in 1852, enlarged its mill and changed to the manufacture
of print cloths in 1858. Capital was $400,000, with 82,452 spindles.
Walter Paine, 3rd was treasurer and agent to 1879, after which Philip D.
Borden served. The plant was closed in 1929,

The Union Cotton Manufacturing Company (three mills) with a
capital of $175,000 was incorporated in 1859, with S. Angier Chace presi-
dent and David Anthony treasurer. During the financial troubles of 1879
the property was sold to creditors, reorganized and another building built,
having a capital of $750,000 for 89,608 spindles. The treasurer was
Thomas E. Brayton. The plant was closed in 1929.

The Granite Mills (three mills) incorporated in 1863 had a capital of
$225,000, changed several times until it was $400,000 in 1871. Charles O.
Shove was the active manager until 1875 when his son Charles M. Shove
became treasurer and so remained until 1932, when all the mills were sold,
one passiné into the hands of the Pepperell Manufacturing Company.*

The Robeson Mill (two mills) organized in 1865 was a brick mill
located on Hartwell Street with 23,648 spindles and a capital of $260,000.
It was named after Andrew Robeson, Sr. It was absorbed by the Luther
Manufactunng Company in 1903.

The Tecumseh Mills (two mills) incorporated in 1866 had a capital of
$350,000 and after the No. 2 mill was completed in 1873 had 22,576
spindles and a capital of $500,000. Augustus Chace was president; Frank

1 The following is copied from a letter to Mr. Phillips signed by L. Kleeb, Jr., manager of Pepperell

Manufactunng Company, dated December 7, 1

“The Peppere“ Manufacturing Company purcl'\asecl the Granite Mills in 1929, The No. 1 Mill was
disposed of. No. 2 Mill was cleared of machinery and No. 3 Mill was equipped as a combed yam cotton
mill and started up in November 1929. When fully started the mill had 803 looms and 41,016 spindles and
the plant mvestment amounted to about $500,000, employing 440 hands. This plant is known as Fall River
Division Mill ‘B

In July 1933 operahons commenced in the No, 2 Granite Mill known as Fall River Division Mill ‘A", The
Mill is equlpped for the manufacture of goods enhrely of rayon and acetate yarns.,

The onglnal investment in the plant has been increased to $1,168,000 and in addition the investment tied
up in Cash, Accounts Receivable and Inventory amounts to about $1,400,000 making a total investment in the
Fall River Plants of about $2,500,000

The spindleage of the Cotton Mill is 41 ,616 and there are 820 Looms in operation at the present time,
In the Rayon Mill there are 725 Looms in operation, but no spinning, as the rayon yarns are purchased from
the rayon manufacturers,

The total number of Looms in all the Pepperell weaving is aboul 9,900, of which 1,545 are in Fall

River *@@# ’
Seven hundred eighty-five hands are now employed.
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H. Dwelley was treasurer. 1he property was sold to the Davol Mills
in 1924, '

The Durfee Mills (three mills) organized in 1866 with a capital of
$500,000 was named in honor of Major Bradford Durfee, whose son was
the original president. After the No. 3 mill was built in 1881 it had a
* capacity of 109,360 spindles with the same capital as at the beginning. The
corporation was quuiclatecl in 1935. ‘

The Merchants Manufacturing Company (three mills), org'anizecl in
1866, had a capital of $800,000; the building was enlarged in 1872 to make
up the largest mill under one roof in Fall River where it operated 90,656
spindles. The plant was closed in 1931, and was destroyed by fire in 1934.

The Davol Mills (two mills) organized in 1867 with a capital of
$270,000 was named after William C. Davol, and later with a capital of
$400,000 had 30,396 spindles divided between two mills. Frank S. Stevens
was presiclent, Charles M. Slade was treasurer. The mills were taken over
by the General Cotton in 1935.

Mount Hope Mill, Bay Street, was organized in 1867 for the manu-
facture of shirtings. Capital $200,000; spindleage 9,024.

The Mechanicsv Mill (one mill) organizecl in July 1869 with Thomas
J. Borclen'as presiclent and D. Hartwell Dyer as treasurer had a capital of
$750,000. In 1872 Thomas J. Borden succeeded Mr. Dyer as treasurer.
There were 53,712 spindles. It was merged with the Weetamoe Mills in
1926, and subsequently closed.

The Stafford Mills (three mills), organized in 1870 with a capital of
$500,000 was reorganized in 1871 with Foster H. Stafford as president and
Shubael P. Lovell as treasurer. The mill had 38,800 spinclles. Tt was
closed in 1929.

The Weetamoe Mills (one mill) were organized in 1870 with Louis L.
Barnard as president and D. Hartwell Dyer as treasurer. The mill had
34,080 spindles. The plant was closed in 1928, and was burned in 1940.

The Slade Mill (one mi_ll) was organized in 1871 with a capital of
$550,000 and operated 37,040 spinclles. William L. Slade was president:
Henry S. Fenner was treasurer. In 1903 it was taken over by the Ancona
Company.

Richard Borden Manufacturing Company (two mills) was organized
in 1871 with a capital of $800,000. Thomas J. Borden was treasurer;
Richard Borden was president and Richard B. Borden, son of Richard
Borden, became president in 1874, It had 46,048 spindles, subsequently



128 THE PHILLIPS HISTORY OF FALL RIVER

increased to more than 102,000. In 1940 Richard P. Borden was president
and Vernon L. Faulkner treasurer.

Narragansett Mills (two mills) were organized in 1871 and the capital
was $400,000. A. Dorrance Easton was president; James Waring was
treasurer. It operated 32,114 mules The plant has been closed for many
years.

The King Pl’lll!p Mills (four mills) were organized in 1871 with a capital
of $500,000; contents 42,016 spindles Capltal was later increased to
$1,000,000 and a new mill erected with 52,928 spindles more. President
was Crawford E. Lindsey, treasurer Azariah S, Tripp. Simeon B. Chase
was the manager for many years, In 1930 the plant was taken over by the
Berkshire Fine Spinning Associates.’ _

The Crescent Mills were organized in 1871 with a capital of $500,000.
With 33,280 spindles, Benjamin Covel was president; Lafayette Nichols
was treasurer. In 1873 Nichols resigned and R. B. Borden held the position
until A. S. Covel was elected. The plant was sold to the Merchants Manu-
facturing Cdmpany in 1893.

The Montaup Mills (one mill) organized in 1871 manufactured seam-
less bags, cotton batts, etc. with 7200 spindles. Capital was $150,000 with
9120 spindles. William L. Slade was ptesident; Isaac Borden treasurer.
The business becoming unprofitable, the mill was sold to the Osborn Mills ‘
in 1886, and became Mill Number Two of that plant.

Osborn Mills (iwo mills) were formed in 1871 with a capital of
$500,000, the amount bemg raised in one day Weaver Osborn was elected
president; Joseph Healy treasurer. In 1873 capacity of the mills was
increased to 39,256 spindles. The plant was closed in 1927, and Mill
Number One was burned in March 1940.

The Chace Mills (four mills) organized in 1872 with 43,480 spindles
increased the number to 50,000 spindles with a capital of $500,000.
Augustus Chace was president; Joseph A. Baker was treasurer. The plant
was taken over by the Arlcwright in 1929,

The Flint Mills (two mills) were organized in February of 1872 and
the capital became $580,000. John D. Flint was president, Stephen C.
Wrightington was freasurer but George H. Eddy soon succeeded him. The

2Mr. T. F. Tnnsey of Ihe Berkshire Fine Spinning Associates, Inc., of valdenee R. L, provlded the
Fo“owinj( information in a letter to Mr. Phillips dated December 26, 1939,

shire Fine Spinning Associates, Inc., is divided up into varlous. divisions, and our local mills known
as the King Phlhp Dlvmon are made up of Pl ants ‘A", ‘B’ and ‘E’. These p[nnts came into the possession

of this corporation in 1929, The three plants operate 215 016 spindles and have 3,660 employees.
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mill was destroyed by fire October 28, 1882. It contained 49,360 spindles.
The plant was rebuilt, and operated until 1930.

Border City Manufacturing Company (three milis) was organized in
1872 with S. Angier Chace as president and George T. Hathaway as treas-
urer. A second mill was erected in 1872; total spindieage was 72,144,
No. 1 mill was entireiy destroyed by fire in 1877. During the financial crisis
of 1879 the corporation passed into the hands of creditors, was re-organized
with John S. Brayton as president, Edward L. Anthony as treasurer. At
present Israel Brayton is president, and James S. Burke, Jr., treasurer.

Sagamore Manufacturing Company (three mills), incorporated in
1872, with Louis L. Barnard as president, Francis B. Hood as treasurer.
Two years later-James A. Hathaway became president and George T.
Hathaway, treasurer. This corporation also failed in 1879 and the property
went into the hands of its creditors but was reorganized with a capital of
half a million dollars, 84,692 spindles. Hezekiah A. Brayton then became
treasurer, and at his death was succeeded i)y his son, William L. S. Brayton.
Israel Brayton is now president and James A. Burke, Jr., treasurer.

Shove Mills (three mills) were organized in 1872 wth a capital of
$550,000 named in honor of Charles O. Shove who was its president, John
P. Slade became treasurer. The mill was not constructed until 1874 and
in 1881 it erected a yarn mill of 21,088 spindles, which was in Rhode Island
just over the state line. The plant was closed in 1932.

The Fall River Bleachery (two mills) was organized by Spencer Borden
in 1872 with $250,000 capital. eventualiy increased to $1,500,000. Jeffer- .
son Borden was president and Spencer Borden agent and treasurer. Subse-
quentiy Spencer Borden was president and Spencer Borden, Jr., treasurer.
The corporation was liquidated in 1938.

Barnard Mills (one mill), organized in 1872, had an original capital of
$400,000, subsequently $1,250,000. Capacity, 28,000 spindles: A new
weave shed in 1896 increased capacity to 660,000 spindles, and later it was
80,000. L. 1. Barnard was the first president and N. B. Borden treasurer.
J. Edward Newton was a subsequent treasurer. The mill was liquidated
in 1939.

Fall River Merino Company (one mi“) incorporated in 1875, with
$110,000 capitai. operated 2,160 spindies in a structure on Alden Street.
Frank S. Stevens was president and Charles E. Bean treasurer. Business
was unprofitable and the plant was sold.

Quequechan Mill (one mill) originally owned by the Pocasset, became
a part of the Robeson Print Wori(s_. Atfter the failure of the print works,
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Andrew Robeson, 3d, operated the plant for the creditors. In 1879 the
Quequechan Mills were organized to manufacture cotton, with Mr.
Robeson as treasurer. The property was later sold.

The Conanicut Mill (two mills) was first built as a thread mill by Oliver
Chace; was incorporated in 1880 with a capital of $80,000. It produced fine
goods. There were 11,072 spindles. Crawlord E. Lindsey was treasurer.

It was closed in 1926. ,
: Globe Yarn Mills (three mills), were incorporated in 1881 with a capi-
tal of $350,000 for the manufacture of yarns. It had 32,000 spindles.
William H. Jennings was president; Arnold B. Sanford was treasurer, fol-
lowed by Edward B. Jennings. Subsequently it became a unit of the New
Bedford Cotton Yarn Company; then of the American Cotton Fabric Com-
pany; later of the Connecticut Company, and was finally closed.

The Bourne Mills (two mills) named in honor of Jonathan Bourne,
was built in Rhode Island near the State line in 1881. It had 43,000 spindles
and a capital of $400,000. Edmund Chace was president; George A.
Chace was treasurer. Fenner A. Chace is now president and Paul E.
Gifford® treasurer.

The Laurel Lake Mills (two mills), organized in 1881 with a capital
of $400,000, 34,038 spindles. John P. Slade was president; Abbott E.
Slade was treasurer. It was closed in 1931.

The Barnaby Manufacturing Company (two mills) was incorporated
in 1882, with capital of $300,000 for the manufacture of ginghams. Simeon
B. Chase was president and Stephen B. Ashley was treasurer. The plant
was taken over in 1917 by the Shawmut Mills.

Massasoit Manufacturing Corporation (four mills) organized in 1882
to take over the business of W. H. and Wendell E. Turner of New York,
with $50,000 capital, acquired the land and buildings of the Massasoit
Steam Mills, Davol Street, which were converted into a cotton waste plant.
Frank L. Palmer was president and Wendell E. Turner treasurer, the latter
continuing until his death. Capital was eventually $500,000. The com-
pany controlled a bleachery at Montville, Connecticut, and also the
Swansea Dye Works. Frank P. Rivers is now president and treasurer.

Seaconnet Mills (two mills) were incorporated in 1884 with capital of
$400,000, ultimately increased to $1,200,000. Henry C. Lincoln was presi-
dent and Edward A. Chace treasurer. Later Leontine Lincoln was
president, with William N. McLane treasurer. Spindleage was increased

from 35,000 to more than 72,000. The property was taken over about 1930
8 Peul Gifford died October 24, 1944 and was stxcceeded by J. Whitney Bowen.
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by the Howard-Arthur Company, Elias Reiss, president, David Ginsberg,
agent, and is now operated as the Howard-Arthur Mills.

Hargraves Mills (two mills) were organizecl in 1888 with $400,000
capital, in 1892 increased to $800,000. More than 115,000 spindles were
operated. Presidents were Reuben Hargraves, James E. Osborn and
Leontine Lincoln. Benjamin B. Read was treasurer at the time of his death.
The mill was taken over by the Parker in 1922.

The Kerr Thread Company (three mills), incorporated in 1888, was
the promotion of Robert C. and John P. Kerr of Paisley, Scotland, who
started with a capital of $229,400. The first mill, of five stories, was built
in 1890. Robert C. Kerr was the first treasurer. In 1897 the company
became a unit of the American Thread Company. There are 105,732
spindles, capable of an output of 3,500,000 yards annually. Willard W.
Mcl.eod is now agent.

Cornell Mills (one mill) was organized in 1889 with John D. Flint
president and John W. Hargraves treasurer. Capital $400,000, subse-
quently $600,000; capacity 45,000 spindles. Fred E. Waterman and
Robert W. Zuill were subsequent treasurers. The plant was closed in 1930.

The Sanford Spinning Company (two mills) was promoted in 1891 by
Arnold B. Sanford (president) for the manufacture of colored and fancy
yarns. Capital $500,000; capacity 57,500 spindles. Arthur H. Mason was
treasurer. In 1899 the company was merged with the New England Cotton
Yarn Company; was subsequently owned by the American Cotton Fabric
Company of New Jersey; and later sold to the Firestone Cotton Mills.

The Stevens Manufacturing Company (three mills), incorporated in
1892, had $250,000 capital, which became $1,200,000. The output was
to be satin, marseilles and »crochet quiltings, cotton and linen crash and
cotton and linen damask. Spindleage, 20,956. Frank S. Stevens was the
first president, succeeded by Simeon B. Chase. Treasurers were George
H. Hills, M. Richard Brown and Charles B. Chase. The company is now
the Stevens Textile Manufacturing Corporation, F. Gilbert Hinsdale, presi-
dent, and Richard Foote, treasurer.

Parker Mills (two mills), incorporation 1895; capital $450,000, eventu-
ally $2,750,000; spindleage 50,000, later 111,684; production fine yarns;
presidents William H. Parker of Lowell, and Leontine Lincoln; treasurers
Seth A. Borden and Benjamin B. Read. In 1899 the company built a mill
in Warren, Rhode Island, and in 1922 took over the “Hargraves”. In 1931
the company was acquired by the Berkshire Fine Spinning Associates,
which now operates the two local plants and the one in Warren.
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The Arkwright Mills (two mills) were incorporated in 1887 to produce
fine goods. A four story mill, with more than 68,000 spindles, was erected.
Capital $450,000, was increased to $1,000,000. Joseph A. Bowen was
president and John P. Bodge treasurer; subsequently Leontine Lincoln
was president and Herbert C. Marble, treasurer. In 1929 the company was
reincorporated as the Arkwright Corporation. Charles B. Straus is
president. o

The Davis Mills (two mills) was incorporated with $500,000 capital
in 1902 for the manufacture of fine cottons. Meeting financial difficulties
in 1905, new capital was acquired and operation continued. Subsequent
capital was $2,500,000, and capacity 730,000 spindles. Treasurers have
been John B. Richards, Edward Barker, Arthur H. Mason, and Frank L.
Carpenter. The plant was acquired in 1930 by the General Cotton Supply

orporation. _

The Ancona Company (one mi“) formed in 1903, was an outgrowth
of the Slade Mill troubles. It was capitalized at $300,000 and took over the
Slade plants,, operating more than 40,000 spindles on print cloths. Philip
E. Tripp was treasurer. The plant was closed in 1927. v

The Luther Manufacturing Company (twomi“s) incorporated in 1903,
Vwith $350,000 capital, took over the former Robeson property. Leontine
Lincoln was president and Charles B. Luther the sponsor of the movement,
and the previous Robeson treasurer, was treasurer and manager. The
capacity of the plant was increased to more than 52,000 spindles. John H.
Holt succeeded Mr. Luther as treasurer at the latter’'s death. William H.
Jennings is now president and M. Richard Brown treasurer.

The Estes Mills (two mills) organized 1905, with $300,000 capital,
manufactured twines, warps, yarns, ropes, etc. Spindleage 7,000. John H.
Estes was president and J. Edmund Estes treasurer. The plant was closed
in 1933.

The Lincoln Manufacturing Company . (two mills), incorporated 1907,
was named for Leontine Lincoln, president until his death in-1923.
Benjamin B. Read was treasurer. Capital $2,250,000; spindleage 123,000;
production, fine and fancy cottons. The mill was taken over by the General
Cotton Supply Corporation in 1938,

The Pilgrim Mills (two mills), producing fine goods, was incorporated
in 1910 with $1,050,000 capital and 53,568 spindles, and continues in
operation. Robert R. Jenks is president and Ralph C. Perkins treasurer.

The Annawan Mills (one mill) was another 1910 incorporation with
$50,000 capital. Charles M. Shove was president and Edward Barker
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treasurer. Lhe company now engages in cotton waste sorting and baling.
James A. L. Dufly is president, Walter E. O’'Hara general manager, and
‘M. Richard Brown treasurer.

The Shawmut Manufacturing Company‘ (two mill_s) , yarn manu-
facturers, took over the Barnaby plant in 1916. It operates 30,000 spindles.
Capitalization, preferred $250,000, common $350,000. Leonard S. Chace
is president and Richard B. Chace, treasurer.

The Foster Spinning Company (one mi“) is an enterprise of the Brayton
interests, started in 1916, with $300,000 capital. The mill, equipped with
13,312 spincﬂes adjoins the Sagamore plant. James A. Burke, Jr. is
treasurer.

Tiverton Mills

Eagleville, at the outlet of Stafford Pond, on the road leading from
Stafford Road to Fish Road is the site of a valuable water power. In very
early times, Silas Cook was the proprietor of the great lot which included
this remote section of the Pocasset lands, and he erected a saw mill and a
grist mill there, but it fell into disuse and when George Durfee and Asa
Coggeshall bought the mill property, more than a century ago, they: demol-
ished both of the old structures and erected a cotton mill and a woolen mill,
both of which were sul)stantially successful for many years until the woolen
mill burned down. The cotton mill is now a ruin as is also a substantial stone
house on the northerly side of the highway which was used as a boarding
house for the operatives. The outlet stream divided below the mill dam,
part of the water l)ecoming a feeder to Cook Pond and part (under the
name of Sucker Brool() supplying the Estes Mill pIant and the plant of the
Fall River Bleachery and emptying into South Watuppa Pond.

Two mills of the Fall River system are located in Tiverton. They are
both in the Cook Pond section and were built “over” the Rhode Island line
to avoid the strict laws of Massachusetts.

The “Shove Mill Stock Company" incorporated in Massachusetts built
a mill in Tiverton in 1872. This was Shove Mill No. 2 and had a capacity
of five hundred looms. Plant closed in 1932.

The Bourne Mills, previously mentioned, also incorporated under
Massachusetts laws, built a mill at the head of Cook Pond in 1881-82. It
had a limited additional supply of water from the inlet stream of the pond.
The mill was built at a cost of only $150,000 and its machinery, with a then

4 Became Vemncy Shawmut on September 1, 1943,
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capacity of 180 looms and 43,000 spindles, cost only $600,000 more. It
was equipped to manufacture odd goods of almost any width and count
and is still in operation with an excellent management.

THE COTTON INDUSTRY

A List Showing the Number of Spindles in Operation in Fall River

It has been generally conceded that the capacnty of the cotton mill is
best decided by the number of spmdles which the mill is operating. For
many years the valuation of cotton mills was determined, for taxation and
other purposes, l)y multlplymg the number of spmdles l)y the average cost
per spindle, that, of course, varying with the fineness of the yarns which
were manufactured. .

"The attached table gives the number of spindles in Fall River since
1854. Where years are omitted, the increase or decrease has been gradual
between the years which are stated.

1854 ..o 117,636 1911 i 3.899.092
192620 1912 .. 3,959,040
265328 0 1915 3.795.324
1866 .... e 403,624
537.416 1921 . . 3,805,012
544,606 1922 . - 3,796,332
.. 788,138 1923 . . 3.759,186
....................................... 1,094,702 1924 . e 3,844,858
,,,,,,,,,, 1,212,694 1925 . — X X |
........... 1,258,508 e 2,078,356
........... 1,269,048 1$2) Runoou——— % § L. X |
........... 1,390,830 1932 .. 1,952,196
1885 ..o . 1,742,884
......................... 2,164,664
1895 ... 2,833,691
o 3,042,472
........... 3,254,094

1910 ... 3.931,464



WOEHONOUILA WA=

. Durfee Mill
. Estes Mills

. Fall River Bleachery..

. Globe Yarn Mills
. Granite Mills
. Hargraves Mills
. King Philip Mills ..

. Laurel Lake Mills ...
. Lincoln Mfg. Co.
X Ildlther Mig. Co.....

. Mech
. Merchants MIg. Co.
. Narragansett Mills
., Osbhorn Mills
. Parker Mills

. Pilgrim Mills .......

. Pocasset Mfg. Co....
: Richard Borden Mfg Co...

. Mig.
, Sanford Mills
. Seaconnet Mills

. Stafford Mills
. %levens Mfg Co
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Schedule Prepared by the Fall River Chamber of Comnierce

Cotton Mills in Fall River

Approximate Time of Closings and Sull Operating
1917 Liquidations ‘ 1940
. Algenquin Printing Co... Changed hands in 1939 1. Algonquin Printing Co.
. American Linen Compa Discontinue
. American Printing Co... Digcontinued Nov. 1934 and sold to
Firestone Rubber Co. Oct, 1937
. American Thread Company. 2. American Thread Co.
. Ancona Mills, The. Closed n 1927
. Annawan Mills .. 3. Annawan Mills
. Arkwright Ml“l 4. Arkwright Corporation
. Barnaby Mfg. Co Closed in 1917
, Bamarj Mig. Co Bankruptcy in April 1939
. Border City Mig 5. Border C“i' Mig. Co.
Bourne Mills 6. Bourne Mill
. Chace Mills ... To Arkwright in 1929
. Charlton Mills Sold in 1938
. Conanicut Mills Closed in 1926
. Cornell Mills .. Closed in 1930
. Davis Mills Sold in 1930 and liquidated
. Davol Mills Liquidated in May 1935

Flint Mills

..Closed 1933

Liquidated Sept. 1935
E Maplewood Spec.

Mills

it Mfg. Co

Sold 1932 to Pepperell 7.
Sold in 1922
Sold in 1930 to 8.

Pepperell Mfg. Co.

Berkshire Fine Spinning
Associates

ics Mills

9. Luther Mfg. Company

Sold in 1938 to . Massasoit Mfg. Corp,

Merged with Weetamoe in 1926

...Closed, burned Jan. 1934
nClosed

Closed 1926 and burned 1928

Closed, burned in 1940
Sold to Berkshire in 1931
11. Pilgrim Mills

12. Richard Borden Mfg. Co.

13. Sagamore Mlg. Co.

Shove Mills ....

h Mills

. Sold to Fi
to
Closed n 1932

Cotton Mills

g
o

14. Howard Arthur Mills

wClosed in 1929

15. Stevens Mig. Co.

3 Sold to Davol Mills in 1924
. Troy Cotton & Woolen Mfy........
. Union Cotton Mfg. Co....
. Wampanoag Mills

...Closed in 1929
Closed in 1929

. Shawmut Mills ...,

e 16.

Closed in 1928, burned 2/6/1940

Shawmut Mills

17. Foster Spinning Co.
(built in 1919)
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RISE AND DECLINE OF COTTON MILLS

§€eeecese

Fall River has been one of the chief industrial centers of New England
and the largest cotton manufacturing center in the United States. The
industry had a rapid successful rise to its peak in 1920 and 1921, and then
a recession to the present date. During the intervening years the progress
of the industry is best shown by the number of spindles which were in
operation in the successive periods.

But one new mill was established during the Civil War, the Granite,
incorporated in 1863, which did not go into production until January 1865.
This was followed by the Robeson, organized in 1865, and incorporated in
1866. In 1862 the total spindleage in the city was 192,620, which increased
to 265,328 in 1865, in which year there were fifteen cotton mills. A wide-
spread demand for cotton cloth developed at the close of the war, resulting
in the erection of numerous plants. The movement along this line in Fall
River began in 1866, and continued with great regularity, until in 1871 and
1872 fifteen new corporations were projected.

Fall River's expansion in the heyday of mill building was almost
marvelous. The population in 1862 after the annexation of Fall River,
Rhode Island, was around 17,000; in 1870 it was 26,766, and in 1875,
45,340, or more than three times as great as thirteen years before. There
were thirty-eight mills, establishing the city as the greatest cotton goocls
manufacturing center in the country, a position which it subsequently
maintained. The taxable wealth increased 121 per cent in the four years
preceding the panic of 1873. In 1865 the number of workers in the mills
was 2,054; in 1875, 11,514, an increase from fifteen per cent of the entire
population to more than twenty-five per cent. In 1875 the capital employed
in the industry was $20,484,000, and the value of the manufactured product
was $20,228,000. The number of spindles was 1,269,048.

Beginning with the establishment of the Union Mills in 1859 a change
was made in the method of corporation ownership whereby subscriptions
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to capital stock were invited from the public, par value of shares being
customariiy fixed at $100. Some companies would be organized with less
than fifty stockholders, and others migtit have from 300 to 400 stockholders
each. Local capitai was largely subscribed, and it came to be a recognized
procedure, a matter of loyalty, for Fall River peopie to piace their invest-
ments in home industries.

New sites in various parts of the city were sougl'lt when the older mills
were occupying all of the available space on the Quequechan stream.
Plants were placed on the South Pond to the east, on the banks of the
" Taunton river in the northern and souttiern sections, and on the shores of
Laure| Lake. The agency of steam was introduced, giving way in years to
come to the adoption by many mills of the electric drive.

The depression of 1873 caused a lull in mill building, aittiougti the
Barnard Manufacttxring Company was projected that year, and the piant
erected in 1874. From that time until 1880 no new mills were built. During
the decade of the 1880’s nine more mills were established, and in addition
the Kerr Thread Mills were built on the shore of South Watuppa Pond.
Total spindieage in 1880 was 1,390,830, which by 1889 had been increased
to 2,128,288.

Between 1890 and 1897 four cotton mills were organized, and the
Algonquin Print Works came into i)eing. In the decade spindieage showed
a gain from 2,164,664 in 1890 to 2,922,168 in 1899.

After the turn of the century, four iarge piants were constructed i)y
1910, and one in 1916, which was the end of the mill building. In 1900
the total of spindles was 3,042,472; in 1910, 3,931,464, and in 1917,
3.704,579. In 1920 and 1921 spindleage exceeded 3,800,000, and reached
its tiigl'i water mark in 1924, with a total of 3,844,858,

For thirty years after the depression of 1873 Fall River averaged a
steady annual growtti in popuiation of 3000. In 1904 the production of
print cloths was 250,000 pieces. There were torty-one incorporated com-
panies, owning ninety-two mills. The iargest enterprise was the American
Print Works and the Fall River Iron Works Company (producing print
ciotils) , both under one management, with an army of employees and a
colossal production. It was estimated that the cloth printed in one year, if
placed in a straigl'lt line, would measure 85,000 miies. Mills which had
been engaged in the output of piainer and coarser goods i)egan to cl’lange
their style to finer and fancier fabrics, necessitating the installation of new
types of machinery. By 1940 there were no print cloths produced in the
remaining mills of Fall River. ' ,
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In 1923 there were 111 mills, representing an investment of over
$50,000,000. The number of spinclles, 3,759,186, was larger than any state
in the country, except Massachusetts. Every variety of goocls was woven.
It is estimated that more than 2000 miles of cloth constituted the daily
output, utilizing 500,000 bales of cotton annually. Silk and rayon also were
used in production. There were approximately 30,000 employees.

The two years following the close of the World War in 1918 constituted
a boom period for the Fall River cotton textile mills. There were forty-eight
plants, operating around 3,800,000 spindles; huge p’rofits were earned and
v;large dividends paid. Many of the corporations declared stock dividends.
Late in 1920 conditions became adverse. A recession in business led to the
heavy wage reductions of twenty-two and one-half per cent in December.
Subsequently an advance of twelve and one-half per cent was granted but
the full cut was never restored.

Some of the causes affecting the prosperity of the industry throughout
the country were a sharp decrease in cotton goocls exports, an increase in the
cost of raw material, and a generally dull domestic market. In addition
Fall River, in common with other New England cotton textile centers, had
to face the competition of southern mills. Manufacturers found that the
difference between mill costs and the price expected of the consumer was
too great to be met by a public suffering from reduced purchasing power to
an extent that rendered the prices of cotton goocls, as well as other com-
modities, almost prohibitive. A buyers’ strike took place with startling
results.

Then came a rally fora year or two, but by 1924 a sharp clrop ensued.
The value of Fall River's manufactured cotton products was then $60,932,-
713 as against $100,875,526 the year previous and $67,860,657 in 1921,
while the average number of workers in forty-five plants was 20,585, com-
pared with 30,774 in forty-seven plants in 1923, and a peak of 31,422 in
forty-seven plants in 1922, In June 1924 a conference of manufacturers,
merchants and labor leaders was held to discuss ways and means of stimu-
lating an interest in cotton goods throughout the country. It was decided
that in order to create a demand for cotton fabrics, widespreacl publicity and
advertising were necessary. Exhibitions of the various products in the
State Armory on Bank Street were advocated as a part of the plan. which,
in a measure, justified its purpose.

For the next three years conditions were somewhat better, yet in 1926
it was said that “perplexity" described the feelings of the cotton manu-
facturers. Altbougb it was the era of expansion and speculation, the textile
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industry did not share in the prosperity which attended other enterprises
prior to the depression of 1929. In 1927 Fall River operated 3,607,375
spindles; 25,000 workers were employed, the largest number since 1923;
and value of products was $66,098,173. Thereafter production capacity
was greater than the demand. The blight of 1929 and ensuing years saw
the retirement of numerous textile corporations from the field. Some mill
plants were razed, others taken by the city, several were burned, and a
number passed to new ownership to be utilized for a wide variety of smaller
industries. (See Holbrook if wanted.)

In 1936, for the first time in sixty-five years, the total number of spindles
receded to less than 1,000,000. In 1935 the ﬁgures were 1,827,656 in
1936, 968,248; and the industry entered on the year 1940 with a total of
062,976 spindles. At that time there were sixteen producing plants,
together with the Algonquin Print Works. The great American Print
Works plant had been sold in 1937 to the Firestone Tire & Rubber Com-
pany, "and was devoted almost wl’mlly to the output of rubber and latex
products

Earnings of some of these mills had been most satisfactory to stocI(-
. holders. The King Philip for forty-five years, from 1886 to 1930, never
omitted a dividend. Its. total regular distribution during that time was
$7.,083,750, or an average of $157.416 a year. In addition, two fifty per
cent stock dividends were declared, and in 1920 there was an extra Fifty
per cent dividend in the form' of Liberty Bonds. The I’lighest rate for a
regular dividend was thirty-one per cent, in 1922 and 1923. Simeon B.
Chase was treasurer of the mill during the period under review.

"The Union Cotton Manufacturing Company, under the management
of Thomas E. Brayton for- forty elght years, 1882 to 1929 inclusive, also
made a fine record of lelclend payments Regular disbursements totalled
$7,657,500, a yearly average of $159,531. In addition there was a stock
dividend of ﬁfty per cent, and subsequently a reduction of capitalization by

payment of tl'urty three and one-third per cent in cash. In 1913 the regu[ar , 5’

dividend rate was ﬁfty-sm per cent, and in 1920 ﬁfty four per cent,

Both of these corporations also paxd for plant adclltlons from their
earnings, .




Chapter XVI

MILL FIRES LABOR UNIONS STRIKES
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While every industry must meet obstacles to its success, the cotton
manufacturing industry has had to meet many unusual and some severe
conditions which are peculiar to itself and form a part of its history. It has
valiantly met and overcome many disastrous fires, several strikes, at least
two severe financial depressions and much restrictive legislation, but in
Fall River the industry has failed to survive recent federal taxation and
many sectional problems. These have been its undoing.

Cotton is very susceptible to fire. Its volatile character causes a fire to
spread quickly and in addition to that, the oil from machinery drips upon
the floors and after a series of years the floors themselves become very com-
bustible. At the beginning there was little protection against fires, except
the use of unusual care; and until the catastrophe known as the “Granite
Mil_l Fire”, mill buildings had often only a single exit, had no sprinkler
systems and no fire doors. The roofs of some of the buildings were the barn
roof type, having windows only at the ends. Fire escapes were not in
usual use.

Granite Mill Fire

The holocaust known as the Granite Mill fire occurred in the early
morning of Saturday, September 19, 1874. It is the most appalling disaster
in the history of our cotton manufacture. The barn shaped roof was the
sixth story of the mill; the only exit was a staircase in the tower of the mill.
When the fire occurred it quickly cut off access to the tower and operatives
in the sixth floor were obliged to jump from the windows to save their lives.
In attempting this method of escape thirty operatives were killed and many
more suffered serious and life long injuries. The fire is supposed to have
been caused by a friction spark which kindled some cotton; the fire depart-
ment ladders were not long enough to reach the sixth floor and fire nets were
not available. Such improvised nets (such as blankets and sheets which



142 THE PHILLIPS HISTORY OF FALL RIVER

were spread out l)y the firemen below) were no obstacle to the force of
gravitation after afall of approximately sixty or seventy feet. The mill itself
was gutted and had to be rebuilt.

As a result of this fire, all mill [)uildings were required to have more
than one exit; outside fire escapes of metallic construction were required to
supplement the interior staircases; wooden ladders were discontinued and
almost immediately the system of automatic sprinklers was invented and
applied. The safety measures introduced after the ““Granite” fire have pre-
vented other serious holocausts. Emergency and safety devices against fire
and government inspection have been made compulsory l)y legislative acts.

The industry, however, has suffered alarmingly and frequently by the
fire menace, and at various times the following serious fires have occurred :

Ocroser 20, 1821. The original building of the Troy Cotton and
Woolen Manufactory, operating 1800 spindles, was burned to the ground.
The blaze was occasioned by friction in the picker rooms. The troubles of
the company did not come singly, as during the fire the store of the corpora-
tion was broken into and robbed of a large pocket-book containing two
drafts, to the amount of $1,662 (a goodly sum for the times), and other
valuable papers. Payment on the drafts was at once ordered stopped, and
Oliver Chace, the agent, inserted an advertisement in the press of several
cities offering a generous reward for the recovery of the stolen property and
the apprehension of the thief, “either or both”.

Novemser 12, 1867. The Niantic Thread Mill, at the corner of Divi-
sion and Mulberry Streets, was totally destroyed during a heavy gale. The
blaze was believed to have been of incendiary origin. Loss, $50,000. About
eighty employees were thrown out of work.

DEecemBER 5, 1867. An explosion of one of the boilers of the main
building of the Globe (Bay State) Print Works on Globe Street (owned
by the American Print Works) started a fire which entirely consumed the
structure. All buildings in the immediate vicinity were damaged to a greater
or lesser extent. No lives were lost, although there were some narrow
escapes, and several people were severely injured. About 200 employees
were rendered idle.

Decemser 15, 1867. About 3:30 Sunday afternoon, during a heavy
snow storm, fire was discovered in the new granite structure of the American
Print Works, which had just been completed but not yet occupied. The
building was 400 feet long and 60 feet in width, with a French roof. In the
rear were four wings each about 150 feet long. The fire originated in the
engine room, in an old stone building at the rear of the main structure. In
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less than four Kours the ruin was complete, with a loss of nearly $1,000,000
and insurance of less than $100,000, together with the destruction of the
Bay State Print Works. The corporation was so bac“y handicapped for
several years that reorganization was necessary. The burned structure
was replaced within sixteen months, five hundred operatives meanwhile
being deprived of employment.

May 14, 1868. The Fall River (White) Mill on Pocasset Street, built
in 1827 was destroyed by flames, which broke out in the picker room about
2:30in the morning. The carpenter shop in an ell at the east was the only
portion of the plant to remain intact. Loss, $120,000, including $15,000
worth of cotton and five thousand pieces of print cloth. ,

Novemser 2, 1875. Fire wiped out the Massasoit Cotton Mill on the
west side of Davol Street, at the foot of Cherry Street. Loss, $150,000;
insurance $147,500. This plant was colloquially termed “The Doctor’s
Mill”, being owned and operated by Dr. Nathan Durfee.

June 29, 1876. Mill No. 2 of the American Linen Company, at the
foot of Ferry Street, built of granite, with a pitched roof, suffered fire damag’e
in the two upper stories. Loss, $183,000. In rebuilding the company
adopte‘d‘ the flat roof.

Novemser 2, 1877. Early in the morning an explosion, thought to
have been due to a leal(age of gas during the night, took place in the Border
City Mill, No. 1, a brick structure of five stories, followed by fire. The
'frqnt of the mill burst outwards, damaging the Reindeer ladder truck.
Firemen were greatly hampered in Fighting the flames, as the first apparatus
to arrive could get no water from the hydrants. The mill was speedily
reduced to ruins. Loss, $450,000, fully insured.

Novemser 20, 1878. The Augustus Chace Thread Mill on Globe
Street was damaged by fire to the extent of $50,000, fully insured.

Ocroser 20, 1882. On Saturday afternoon, fire destroyed the Flint
Mill excepting the engine and boiler house. The loss was not estimated;
insurance $620,000. Again the firemen found the water pressure inade-
quate. Comment was made that the circumstances served to emp[iasize the
need of better water protection in the neig[iborhood of large manufactories.

ArriL 24, 1884. At6 P. M. fire started amongst cotton in the basement
of Sagamore Mill No. 1, a brick structure, which was destroyed within a
few hours. Dense smoke interfered with the efforts of the firemen. Some
five hundred operatives were concerned. The loss covered by insurance

was $500,000. ’
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JANUARY 23, 1889. Flames discovered at 3 P M. damaged the upper
story and roof of the Anawan Cotton Mill on Pocasset Street. The loss was
$11,700. A man who was taken out unconscious died soon after.

Decemser 30, 1889. A fire occurred above the engine room in the
Richard Borden Mill during the afternoon. Captain Squrre S. Davis of
ladder truck No. 2 suffered serious injury when'a hose pipe was wrenched
from the grasp of firemen, strrl(ing his right leg and causing a fracture. Two
amputations were necessary, the second above the knee.

May 4, 1892, A picker room fire in the Durfee Mill drd $15 000
damage

Arri 20, 1893. The cotton storehouse of the Cliace Mill was burned;
damage, $62,000.

. January 1, 1895. Sagamore Mill No. 1 was visited by fire to the extent
of $12,000. Two alarms were sounded and the building was saved from
threatened destruction.

June 14, 1895. Fire following a boiler explosion at 8:30 A. M. in the
loom harness factory of Henry J. Langley on County Street consumed the
entire plant. Four persons perished and many were injured. The loss was
$15,000, partly insured. ,

FeBruary 2, 1928, The disastrous conﬂagration of 1928 originated in
the Pocasset Mill. |

January 29, 1934, The huge Merchants Mill on Fourteenth Street,
extending from Pleasant to Bedford Streets was wiped out by a fire that
necessitated calling for help from other cities. Seven other buildings were
seriously menaced. One man was killed by a falling wall, and -several
firemen were m]ured For two years the structure had been unoccupred
The cause of the fire is unknown. The loss was $200,000.

FeBruary 6, 1940. Fire destroyed the old Weetamoe Mill owned by
the City The loss estimated at $450,000, included W. P. A. tools and
supplres and forty tons of Federal surplus foods stored in the burldmg

Marcn 25, 1940. The former Osborn Mill No. 1 and two dwellrngs
were the prey of flames. Seven other l:)ulldmgs were damaged and forty
families driven from their homes. The loss was $100,000.

JUNE 8 1940. Tlle old Estes Ml“ on Sucl(er Brool( was completely
destroyed

Labor Unions in Fall River

We get a picture of the c1ty s life when we learn what its most promi-
nent citizens have accomplrslied Those whose biograplues have been
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sketched are selected, one from each of several walks in life, because those
persons were especially proficient in the work in which they were engaged.
Together they present a picture of the city's accomplishments and progress.

The story of the activities of James Tansey is synonymous with the story
of the relations between the labor unions of Fall River, in the cotton indus-
try, with the manufacturers.

JAMES TANSEY

In a manufacturing city, the success or failure of its industry depends
largely upon whether undue strife exists between capital and labor, and
that in turn depends upon the manner and genuineness of the contact
between their representatives.

During the early period of cotton manufacturing in Fall River, there
was no organized labor movement, but during the latter part of the last
century many unions were formed and several bitter strikes took place.

The most prominent labor representative in recent years has been James
Tansey. He was born in Rochdale, Lancashire County, England, on
November 15, 1864, came to Fall River in June of 1893 and became a
carder in the mill which later was called the Crescent Division of the
Merchants Manufacturing Company. Mr. Tansey promptly became a
citizen of the United States, and from the first was much interested in and
became a leader in labor movements. In January of 1894 Mr. Tansey was
elected Secretary of the “Card Room Protective Association”. After the
lapse of forty-five years he still holds that position. Three years later
Mr. Tansey became the president of the Textile Council and he still holds
that position. During the labor dispute and strike of 1904 (which lasted
for approximately six months and was one of the longest through which
the industry suffered), Mr. Tansey was very active. This strike was
against a proposed reduction in the wage of all operatives. During the
strike and at the request of Governor William L. Douglas (in 1905) Mr.
Tansey visited the south and investigated working conditions and wages
in that section and his report was fundamental in bringing about a settle-
ment of the controversy. During the years which followed, Mr. Tansey
became a political factor. He was appointed a member of the Fall River
Police Commission by Governor Douglas in 1905 and served as its chair-
man for his first term of three years. He was then re-appointed and served
another full term and part of a third term until he resigned. In 1901, Mr.
Tansey became the first president of the United Textile Workers of
America. He served in that capacity until his resignation in 1903. During
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the administration of Mayor Amos J. Jackson, Mr. Tansey and the ‘writer
~were selected to submit to the Mayor recommendations for th‘e organization
and administration of a textile school. When the trustees were selected, he
was appointed one of the board of trustees, and he is now the only survivor
of that original board. He is also Vice President of the school corporation.

In 1916 Mr. Tansey was elected president of the American Federation
of Textile Operatives, a national organization, and he still remains presi-
dent of that board. Mr. Tansey was married in England in January of
1889. His wife died in Fall River in 1932 and out of a large family, he
has five sons and three daughters who now survive.

Mr. Tansey's success is largely due to his amiable disposition, his
studious approach to textile problems, his accuracy in analyzing a textile
situation and his firmness when his position has been established. He is not
vociferous, but is a mild mannered, forceful and convincing orator. He is
held in high regard by all the operatives and their officials and agents and
they all have great confidence in him and high regard for his ability and
courage. Those who represent capital also have confidence in his integrity
and in h_is sincerity. He has been an outstanding factor in bringing capital
and labor into harmonious relations. ‘His success in this regard has been
due to his candor and to the confidence which his judgment commands.
A modest demeanor, high moral attributes, a diligence and perseverance
mark the rise of James Tansey from modest beginnings to a position of
success and power. '

Strikes

At various times the cotton industry in Fall River has suffered from
inharmonious relations between capital and labor, but with two exceptions
this relationship has not resulted in serious violence. There have been
many strikes limited to a single or a few corporations, but the two more
serious were known as the “mule spinners’ strike” which took place in June
1879, a strike of seventeen weeks duration, and the “six months strike”
which was ordered by the Fall River Textile Council, a labor organization,
on July 25, 1904 and was declared off on January 18th, 1905.

The “mule spinners’ strike’” was an attempt by the operatives to secure
an advance in wage, but at that time the unions were not in financial condi-
tion to aid the stril(ing operatives, and that is the reason why it was declared
off. Shortly after the termination of the strike, wages were increased in
Fall River and the operatives in other cities secured a similar raise.



STRIKES 147

The “six months strike” was against a proposed twelve and one-half
per cent reduction of wages. Atfter the reduction had been ordered, the
strike was postponed for two weeks in a hope that the parties would agree.
This postponement was requested by the operatives in order that con-
ferences might be held whereby controversies could be adjusted to the
mutual advantage of employers and employees, and for the general welfare
of the business of the city. On July 25th the manufacturers replied to this
request, refusing a change in the effective date of the strike but expressing
a willingness for further conferences at any time, whereupon the operatives
voted that the strike would be effective on Monday, July 25th. During the
eighteen weeks which followed, séveral conferences were held but no
conclusion was reached; then the mill gates were openecl but sufficient
operatives to operate the plants were not available. Four weeks later, the
manufacturers claiming that the leaders of the unions were preventing
the operatives from returning to work, the textile council called a meeting
of all the locals to take another vote on the strike situation, with the result
that the operatives cast a larger vote in favor of continuing the strike than
was cast when the strike was declared. During the twenty-fifth week of the
strike, Governor William L. Douglas met the representatives of the em-
ployers and labor at the State House and after a two days session the parties
signed an agreement that the operatives return to work, “all to be put to
work where they were employed when the strike began, and no discrimina-
‘tion to be shown'". In consideration of this agreement the Governor agreed
to investigate the matter of margin of profit in the cotton industry and that
he would submit his conclusion as to the average margin and that the
manufacturers would pay a dividend of five per cent on the margin which
may be shown, up to April 1, 1905, and that the margin fixed by the
Governor should in no way prejudice future wage schedules.

Five years before this time a live subject of controversy between capital
and labor was the margin of profit which the mills should earn, and what
proportion of a fair profit should be allotted to labor. The various labor
unions sought to be enlightenecl upon manufacturing costs in the various
mills departments, so that wages could be co-related to the difference
between the price of cotton and the seller’s price of standard goods. When
the manufacturers were loath to disclose these figures or to open their books
to the stucly of the situation l)y labor accountants, the operatives discussed
the feasibility of establishing a mill of their own. The writer was consulted
professionally upon this project and papers were drawn for the organization
of a co-operative cotton mill to be known as the American Cotton Manu-
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facturing Company. On May 12, 1900 the executive committee of the
Fall River Textile Council subscribed to the movement, and voted to ask
their various organizations to subscribe for stock in the corporation. Sub-
scription books were opened, and option on a mill site secured, but the
amount of subscriptions was not sufficient to justify the erection of the mill.

The manufacturers of Fall River have always had available for their
plants a plentiful supply of highly skilled labor. A very successful manu-
facturer, who was then operating plants in three New England and in two
southern textile centers, expressed to me his conclusion that in spite of
adverse legislation which unreasonably restricted working conditions and
increased maintenance costs, the net operative efficiency and cost was not
more here than in other certers. The textile industry in Fall River has been
less hampered by labor disturbances than in most other textile p[aces.
When there were few union operatives, and their organization was incom-
plete and their financial reserves small, the manufacturers dictated most
working conditions, but at the time of the “six months strike” the unions
were well organized, each being a branch of the Textile Council and the
several mill managers were also associated into a “‘Manufacturers’ Asso-
ciation”, so that the Council and the Association together represented the
whole local industry. There was no outside interference so that the local
leaders were able to consult each other with conviction that if they could
Vagree, their members would confirm their conclusions. During the World
War the Manufacturers’ Association formed a convenient medium,
through which fabrics, needed for war purposes by our government or by
the allies, could be contracted for as a single unit and the manufacturing
of the same allocated by the president of the Association amdng the mills
which were best equipped to manufacture each particular item. At that
time James E. Osborn was the president of the manufacturers’ association
and he handled their difficult situation and adjusted needs and differences
which confronted both parties, with admirable skill.

During these times James Tansey was the executive officer of the Textile
Council, ~ he was always in touch with the entire local mill situation; he
could appreciate from years of experience the needs of both parties ~ he
could grasp the crux of a situation from the viewpoint of the manufacturer
as well as of the operative, and no problem was so difficult that during the
last thirty-five years its difficulties have not been alienated and a major
catastrophe averted. In case of stress his working hours have been limited
only I)y the numI_)er of hours in the da};.



Chapter XVII

- WATER RIGHTS

Watuppa Por_lds and the Quequec’um River

The North Watuppa Pond and the South Watuppa Pond are each
great ponds, situated along the east boundary of the City of Fall River.
The North Pond is about four miles Iong and from three-quarters of a mile
to a mile and a quarter wide and is fed ]:)y springs beneath it, ]:)y surface
water from surrounding land and a few insignificant streams. Itis connected
with the South Watuppa Pond ]:)y a narrow passage. |here is no per-
ceptible current in the North Watuppa Pond, but at its south end there is
a slight current toward the South Watuppa Pond. The South Watuppa
Pond is of approximately the same area as the North Watuppa Pond but
at its north end it is considerably wider. It is fed by the waters from the
Sawdy Pond and Davol Pond at its south end, by the waters from Stafford
Pond from the southwest, and the Christopher Borden Brook supplies some
water from the southeast. The Quequechan Riveris unnavigable and is the
only outlet of both ponds. It flows in a general westerly direction from the
northwest shore of the South Watuppa Pond and passes through the city,
emptying into Mount Hope Bay with an average daily flow of twenty-six
million gallons.

For a mile and a half the current of the Quequechan River is sluggish.
but in the last half mile it falls rapidly for one hundred and twenty-nine
feet, down a succession of ledges, into the Bay. Upon this portion of the
river there are valuable water privileges which have been utilized for many
years ]:)y mills which were built over the stream and which own the bed
thereof and nearly all the land on either side. The water of the river has
been controlled since 1813 when the predecessor in title of the Troy Cotton
and Woolen Manufactory, owner of the privilege nearest the ponds, built
a dam and raised the natural level of the water and of the ponds three feet.
The Watuppa Reservoir Company, incorporated under a special statute
of 1826 (Chapter 31) was authorized to make reservations of water in the
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ponds l)y erecting a dam to raise the water two feet higher than the previous
dam. It had power to own real estate not exceeding ten thousand dollars
in value and personal estate not in excess of five thousand dollars. In 1827
this company built a dam across the river below that of the Troy Manu-
factory and l)ought rights of ﬂowage along the ponds and stream. The
Supreme Judicial Court has ruled that whatever Howage rights it did not
purchase it has acquired l)y adverse possession,

In 1872 the City of Fall River was authorized to take water from the
North Watuppa Pond for domestic purposes and it first took one and one-
half million gallons daily and paid the manufacturing establishment on
the Fall River stream for the same. In 1886 the legislature doubled the
amount of water which the city might take for domestic and other purposes.
For the first tal(ing, damages were awarded and paid under decision of the
Supreme Court dated Fel)ruar‘y 28, 1883 and this included damages to the
American Print Works. It had title to one-eighth of the flow of the river by
deed from the Fall River Iron Works Company which was owner of the
Metacomet Mill, the lowest mill on the stream. It dug a canal from the
pond of the Metacomet Mill to the Crab Pond owned by the American
Print Works, and this water was at first used for power, but afterwards for
l)leaching, cleansing and other printing operations. The legislative grant
of 1886 provided that the city need not pay compensation for the additional
water it was authorized to take and that resulted in litigation in the form of
bills in equity l)rought to prevent the city from tal(ing the additional water
so authorized, but in these actions the city prevailed, the Supreme Court
deciding l)y the opinion of four judges out of seven, that the Commonwealth
had reserved for the pul)lic the right to use water for domestic purposes
from all great ponds l)y the reservation set forth in the colonial ordinance
relating to great ponds passed in 1641 and amended in 1647. This colonial
ordinance was an ordinance of the Province of Massachusetts Bay,
whereas at the time that the ordinance was passed the W atuppa Water-
shed was not within the Province of Massachusetts Bay but was within
Plymouth Colony. On this ground an amended action was l)rought l)y the
Watuppa Reservoir Company against the City of Fall River. It was heard
in March of 1891 and decided on September 2nd, 1891. The case was
heard upon agreed facts, as was the first case, but certain additional facts
were incorporated showing the different colonial jurisdictions and upon the -
amended facts the earlier decision was reversed because Plymouth Colony
and Massachusetts Bay Colony were not united until the charter of 1692
and until that time the ordinances of Massachusetts Bay could have no effect
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in Plymouth Colony. Inasmuch as Plymouth Colony had conveyed most
of the land on both sides of the Quequechan River and the lands in the
Watuppa Ponds by what is known as the Pocasset grant or purchase of
March 5, 1680 and had conveyed the balance of the pond lands by deed of
what was known as the Freemen's Purchase in 1656, including in the deeds
“all the waters, ponds, brooks”, etc. within these bounds, the title to these
waters had passed into private hands prior to the effective date of the
ordinance, and so could not be taken away from these owners without
compensation.

~ This decision made it proper for the Watuppa Reservoir Company
and the mills along the Fall River stream to receive compensation from the
City of Fall River for the use of the water which the last Act authorized
it to take, and a contract to this end was accordingly made. Itis to be noted,
however, that this decision was based upon facts "agreed up‘on", by both ‘
parties and if other undisclosed and relevant facts exist, the decision would
not be l)inding. I deem it clear that such other important and relevant facts
exist, particularly for that there was in force in Plymouth County for a long
time prior to the deed of March 5, 1680 a colonial ordinance of Plymouth
County having the same effect as the Massachusetts Colony ordinance of

1647, whereby Plymouth Colony had reserved for itself and the public

control of all ponds within its limits.

Cook Pond and lts Outlet Stream to the Bay

Charles D. Davol, Vice President of the Fall River Historical Society
gathered'the data and wrote this report on the Cook Pond water-shed.

Cook Pond (also called Laurel Lal(e) is not a great pond; both on
account of its size (170 acres) and the statute under the Massachusetts law
when Plymouth and Massachusetts colonies were united in 1692. All of
the pond was until 1862 within the State of Rhode Island and its southern
shore and a large drainage area still are. While Cook Pond is small com-
pared with the two “Watuppas’, the outlet stream and several small ponds
along its course to the bay have afforded valuable water right to a large
number of mills and manufacturing establishments.

The outlet to Cook Pond is 175 feet above high water mark. This is
46 feet above the South Watuppa Pond and as the general level of the
region is so high the water shed is small, there is little flowage and the yield
from the pond is small. Also the water shed includes portions of the city
where all the surface water runs into the city sewers. At a point south
of the southern end, in the Pocasset Cedar Swamp, the water shed of Cook
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Pond adjoins the water shed of Sucker Brook, the outlet of Stafford Pond.
At various times ditches have been dug with the idea of cliverting the
Stafford Pond water into Cook Pond. If the ditches had been l(ept open,
a legal question would have at once arisen but they were allowed to fill in
and have remained so.

The drop of the stream is much more than that of the Quequechan River
but because of the small head of water there was little use made of it for
power. There were at various times three small water wheels or turbines
in the stream. One in the Wyoming Mill (later Marshall’s Hat Factory),
one at the Conanicut Mill and the third in the old Lewis Brothers Mill, later
owned by the Algonquin Print Works. None of them furnished much
power and with the advent of electricity, the last one was given up. While
not used for power the water from the pond and stream has been of great
value to over a dozen large manufacturing plants; the Marshall Hat Factory
and the Algonquin Print Works having been two of the largest users of
water in the city.

About 1815 there was a dam and water gate built at the north end of
the pond on Dwelly Street, to control the flow from the pond. As more and
more factories were built along the stream, the need for regulation was felt
and in 1884 the Cook Pond Syndicate was formed. This association of
mills on the stream held the power to control the dam at Dwe"y Street, keep
the outlet clear and regulate the flow on the stream for the benefit of all
parties interested. There was also an association of mills on the pond which
was interested in maintaining the level of the pond within certain limits; as
too fu" a pond meant a ﬂowage on their property and too low a poncl meant
a lack of water for boilers and condensing uses. High water was deter-
mined from early ﬂowage rights in deeds and was marked by a bolt driven
in a rock in the Whitely Swamp east of the pond.

On the course of the stream there were several small ponds. On the
west edge of Globe Pond at Globe Corners was built the first cotton mill.
The stone building torn down in 1927 was on the site of this mill but was
not the original building. Globe Pond has been filled in and is now Rev.
John Kelly Park. Other ponds were on the Globe Mills property and on
Marshall's land. On the old maps there is a pond east of Bay Street, called
in the deeds Mud Hole and Old Pond. It is now dry but the depression
where it was can be traced. On this same lot was an artificial reservoir

called Clear Pond that got its water from springs located on the hillside
above.
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East of junction of Chace and Bay Streets the stream turned north-
easterly and passecl under Bay Street near Sprague. About 1839 the
owners of the land where the Conanicut Mill stood later, built a dam where
the stream turned north and diverted a part of the water across Bay Street,
where there was sufficient head to run some kind of a water wheel. Atabout
the same time Oliver Chace by building dykes south of what is now Globe
Mills Avenue formed a reservoir, later called New Pond. The water in
New Pond comes from this diversion stream and is used for storage, flowing
back into the diversion stream when it reaches a certain level. The water
then runs into a pipe to the water wheel, thence in the tail race under the
mill (Conanicut) and joins the other branch. It then crosses Shaw Street
and runs into a large storage reservoir on the Algonqum property. Alfter
its use l)y the Algonq'um it passes through a culvert on the Staples Coal
Company land to the bay






OUR MERCHANT PRINCE

Farle P. Charlton, son of James D. and Lydia (Ladd) Charlton, was
born in Chester, Conn. on June 19, 1863. His ancestors had lived in Wind-
sor, Conn. for several generations and many of them were patriots during
the colonial period. Mr. Charlton’s schooling was such as was then afforded
to New England boys in the rural districts. He attended the schools of
Windsor with supplementary education in Hartford, but these schools did
not furnish courses in the advanced sciences. He did not complete the
high school work, but in school he had close contact with other bright minds,
all of which supplemented a wonderful al)ility on his part to quicl(ly grasp
every situation which would equip him for a business career.

At the age of seventeen, he accepted employment asa travelling sales-
man with a wholesale merchant in Boston, and his duties there enabled him
to come into close contact with many active merchants, to understand their
aims and viewpoints and to accurately measure the problems which were
needed for his own advancement. Among men whom he often met were
Mr. Sumner Woolworth, Mr. Fred Kirby and Mr. Seymour H. Knox who
were owners of stores and were laying the foundation of the five and ten
cent chain store business in which Mr. Charlton subsequently engaged.
His first store was opened in Fall River in 1890, and Mr. Knox became a
partner in this business which they conducted under the name of Knox and
Charlton. During the following six years Knox and Charlton opened stores
in several other cities, but in 1895 the partnership was dissolved, and the
stores were apportioned between them, the Fall River store passing to
Mr. Charlton. Between 1895 and 1912 Mr. Charlton increased the number
of stores owned by him to fifty-three, six of which were located in New
England cities, thirty on the Pacific coast and seventeen in Canada. These
stores were operated through various corporations of which he had complete
control, though a few shares were allotted to the associates who aided him
to manage them from his Fall River office. A few stores, situated in Con-
necticut, had been originally opened by his brother-in-law, Edward A.
Bardol, and later Mr. Bardol became vice-president of his controlling
corporation with a home in Fall River. The general treasurer of the cor-
poration was Victor F. Thomas who opened most of the Canadian stores,
while one Harry P. Hermance, who from 1902 had charge of a San Fran-
cisco store, also had a general supervision over the other Pacific coast stores.
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Mr. Charlton’s nephew, Charlton E. Lyman, was manager of the New
Britain store after 1912, and his brother Howard Charlton became manager
of a Montreal store. Other associates, Chester H. Faunce, Oscar F.
Douglas, Jr. and Herbert S. Crowther, were officials in the Fall River store.
Mr. Faunce retired, Mr. Douglas became a foreign buyer with headquarters
in the New York office, and Mr. Crowther became manager of the Riverside.
Cal. store in 1907. He came to the New York office in 1922. Mr. Bardol
became manager of the New England District with offices in Boston, and
Mr. Lyman entered the New York office as a buyer. .

From the time that Mr. Charlton was a salesman at a salary of $7.00 a
week until the F. W. Woolworth Co. was organized in 1912, he lived
economically and his earnings were re-invested in his business. Upon the
organization of the F. W. Woolworth Co., preferred stock was issued to
the organizers in an amount equal to the value of the real estate, cash,
fixtures and merchandise which they turned over to the new corporation
and common stock with par value of fifty million dollars was issued to the
organizers of the corporation for the good will of the business. The preferred
stock was soon retired, and other earnings were applied to the value of the -
good will which was soon reduced to one dollar.

The historical importance of Mr. Charlton's career arises from the fact
that when he died at his elaborate summer home in nearby Acoaxet on
November 20, 1930 he left an estate larger than any theretofore possessed
by any Fall River resident. His capital was not inherited nor speculative m
it was earned. It took a period of forty years to amass this vast wealth and
he accomplished that which all others had failed to do. In his contact with
other men he never assumed any superiority, he met all graciously, and
was kind and considerate. He quickly grasped every financial problem and
had full opportunity to exercise his powers extensively. This success was
also largely due to his confidence in his associates and his quickness to grant
advancement to those whom he deemed worthy. He was liberal in his gifts
to charity. and while he did not readily respond to the suggestions and
requests of others, he was quick to study the viewpoint of all, and to follow
his own conviction in affording relief.

I deem his principal success to have been gained because he had
unusual ability to select and enthuse his associates in his business and
because he relied implicity upon those who would follow his leadership;
he never nagged them or interfered with their work and never followed up
their activities with undue surveillance. He had a rare lmowleclge of values
which extended even to the value of real estate in remote sections. If he or
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his corporation decided to acquire a new business location he quici(ly deter-
mined what sum that property was worth and rarely varied his offerings
or made concessions. The same policy was followed in the management of
the stores. There was substantial reward to managers when their stores
were successful, and often only reasonable or even small compensation if
the income was unsatisfactory. In this way he made his managers unusually
interested in the success of their stores. Many persons, inclucling the writer,
who were assigned duties in connection with the negotiation of some busi-
ness proposition or some real estate purchase, have been paid very sub-

stantial remuneration when a quest was successful and this often exceeded
what was anhcxpated

While Mr. Charlton gave liberally to charitable institutions in many
other cities, his local gifts and investments materiaHy aided in the clevelop-
ment of the industries of Fall River. When he became the chief sponsor
for the Charlton Mills in 1919, the city added to its cotton and silk manu-
facturing industry a mill built upon the most modern lines. It spun
excepﬁonally fine yarn and sold as fine a grade of cloth as the city produced.
When he financed the construction of a new wing to the Truesdale Hospital
at a cost of half a million dollars, he completed the equipment of a modern
medical center. His community gained in importance and repute, and his
friends gained in financial and political knowledge, because they counted
in their number him, who was a director of the city's largest bank, and also
of the largest bank in the State; because he was a leading manufacturer,
and our most successful merchant as well as an executive of the largest
chain-store system in the nation; because he had accurate knowledge of
national policies, close contact with political leaders, and was pleased to
impart his lmowleclge and to belp, by his influence and advice, those whom
he deemed worthy. He was a director of the New Haven Railroad and
trustee of the State-controlled street railroad. President Coolidge chose him
as chairman of the Coolidge Fund for the Clark School in Northampton,
and he served as a member of the War lnclustry Board by appointment of
President Wilson. For his services in the first World War the French
government awarded him a decoration.

The writer is indebted to Mr. Chatlton for his selection as attorney for
the F. W. Woolworth Co. in the New England district. This appointment
was announced in his customary business manner by stating that he had
been instrumental in securing the selection, but that he would not lift his
finger to influence its retention. “You will have to keep the ]oi) through
your own good work.” Such was his method.






Chapter XVHI

vvvvv Ll > €L

THE GRANITE INDUSTRY THE OLD TANYARD
SOME LONG ESTABLISHED BUSINESS FIRMS
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The Granite lndustry

Fall River is built on a hill of granite and in localities where the mineral
constituents are so arranged and crystalized to make quarrying possible.
a rock of exceptional l)eauty and durability is available. In fact, Fall River
granite is so hard, that it is difficult to cut and dress and modern methods
used with finer grained rock cannot be used profitably.

Major Bradford Durfee and his nephew Benjamin Davol, brother of
Stephen and William C. Davol, were among the first to engage in the
granite business. Major Durfee “worked” the Big Berry ledge on the shore
of Quequechan River. Later Mr. Davol bought the ledge at the north end
of Quarry Street subsequently owned by William and John Beattie, Jr.
Mr. Davol was also a contractor. He built the Groton Monument in Con-
necticut and Fort Adams in Newport of Fall River granite. He furnished
dimension stones for the original City Hall and the old Granite Block.

For years granite blocks were used for pavements and men were con:
'stantly employed shaping them by hand from larger blocks of granite.

It was formerly a common sight to see John Mingo. (who was thought
to be a descendant of local Indians but who probably came from the West
Indies) R driving a pair of oxen hitched to a contraption with two wheels,
seven or eight feet in diameter, conveying curl)ing or large blocks of granite.
The Mingos lived in their house which was near the shore of the North
Pond at the South Narrows.

The Old Tanyard (1808)

The old tanyard was situated on the south side of Bedford Street at the
foot of Rock Street prior to the time when Third Street was extended over
the Quequechan River. It occupied a space’ between the old post office

* Building mentioned is shown on picture of old Post Office.
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buildmg and the Troy Mill butldmg. and extended southerly by the stream.
I remember it as bemg operated by Edmund Chase, but it was founded by'
his father Obadiah Chase in 1808 and continued in operation for about
seventy- five years. One of the oldest land marks in Fall River was one of
the shops which remained upon this lot until the time of the Fall River fire
in 1928.

When the tannery was in operation it was a busy industry and the
dressing of hides brought in by the farmers in this locality was an important
art, which became more important when the mills were built and there was
a demand for belting. but when belt making became an important industry
elsewhere, the local manufacturers were undersold and business waned.

The old belt shed was along and close to (being a long shed) the shores
of the Quequechan River. In front of that was a building which, when
Third Street was put through to Bedford Street, was at the southwest corner
of those streets and‘ was owned by Chauncey H. Sears until it was sold for
enlarged post office purposes after the big fire of 1928. In early times the
front offices of this building were used as an office by the Seaconnet Mill
and then there were two front offices, one used by N. B. Everett & Co., the
other by Edward B. Varney, cotton brokers. After that it was used as an
office bulldmg until sold to the Federal Government.

SOME LONG-ESTABLISHED BUSINESS FIRMS
Cook Borden Co., Inc.

The lumber business conducted under this well known name was first
located on Lmdsey’s Wharf at the foot of Central Street in 1833. In 1846
it was moved to “Bowenville”, its present locatron on Davol Street, at the
foot of Turner Street.

Cook:Borden died September 20, 1880, leaving three sons who suc-
ceeded to his business. Jerome C. Borden acquired the interests of his
brothers and carried on the business until his death in 1930. The business
was reorganized and modernized in 1877. In 1910, when motor trucks took
the place of horse dellvery, the business began to deal in burldmg materials
other than lumber. Since 1930 Richard C. B. Hartley, Cook Borden's
great-grandson, has beén the treasurer of the corporation and Jerome C.
Borden's son-in-law, Everett N. Slade, its presrdent

Just to the north of Cook Borden Wharf was the favorite swimming
shore of the boys of Bowenville and the ‘Hill”, known as RocI(y Bottom.
It was from the piles and pro;ectmg rocks of the wharf that the more venture-
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some practiced diving. There too was located the Read Brothers’ Boat
House where a number of Fall River pleasure boats were built.

Adams Bookstore

For many years there were two bookstores in Fall River known to all
shoppers, ~ Earl's (later Earl and Bamforc[’s) store in the old granite block
and Adams Bookstore, now doing business under the same caption at 165
North Main Street. We venture to state that these two stores conducted
the‘first commercial lending libraries in Fall River.

Adams Bookstore started business in a builc[ing on the southeasterly
corner of North Main and Bank Streets, January 15, 1842. Robert Adams
was the first proprietor. The building was destroyed by the fire of 1843 and
temporary quarters were procured on Main Street, opposite where the First
Baptist Church now stands; then moved to South Main Street in a builcling
which occupied a part of the Borden Block site. Very soon after this it was
again moved across the street into a wooden building, one of several struc-
tures, long known as “asbestos row”. In this row of low wooden buildings,
between Pocasset and Anawan Streets, many fires kindled but recon-
structions or repairs were always possil)le.

The store remained in this location for forty-seven years. It was con-
ducted by its founder for forty years, who was succeeded by his son Edward
S. Adams. When a change of location became necessary, temporary
quarters on Market Street were occupied while a new building was in the
process of erection at 165 North Main Street. Edward S. Adams retired
from active business in 1917 and the store passed into the hands of
Laughlin W. McFarland,” who had started as an errand boy in the store
in 1886.

O. B. Wetherell & Son Company

The business of O. B. Wetherell & Son Company is now owned ]:>y
Howard B. Wetherell. This business was established ]:>y Daniel A.
Wetherell in 1842, so that for ninety-eight years the firm has been manu- _
facluring roller covers. In the spinning of yarn, the yarn is first slenderizec[
]:>y passing over rolls which are operated at different speeds and the rolls
are so covered that they will retain a grip on the cotton threads while the
threads are being stretched. Much study was given to this problem by the
fathers of the cotton industry and the solution was reached by Danicl H.

2 My, McFarland sold the business to Harry Singleton in 1944.
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Wetherell, who was at first connected with the Hopewe“ Mills in Taunton.
He was induced to come to Fall River by Lazarus Borden, who was then
the agent of the Metacomet Manufacturing Company in this city. Mr.
Wetherell thus became the first maker of roller coverings in Fall River
and laid the foundation of an industry with which the family name has
ever since been associated.

Daniel H. Wetherell deSIgned and constructed tlie major part of his
own machinery. Upon his death a nephew, also named Daniel Wetherell,
succeeded to the business and entered into a co-partnership with Orin B.
Wetherell under the name of D. and O. B. Wetherell. When Daniel
Wetherell died in 1893, Howard B. Wetherell, a son of Orin B. Wetherell,
formed with him the firm of O. B. Wetherell & Son and the business was
incorporated under the same name in 1907, The business was later con-
solidated with that of the Davis & McLane Manufacturing Company and
when Orin B. Wetherell deceased in 1918 the corporation was dissolved.

Howard B. Wetherell’ still continues the business under the corporate
name.

Huitchinson's Art Shop

Hutchinson's Art Shop, now owned by Raymond L. Hutchinson and
conducted from a store in the building at the northeasterly corner of Second
and Borden Streets, had its inception in 1846 in the cabinet-makers shop
of Abnerl.. Westgate, in a store which extended from South Main Street
to Second Street, in a building which occupied a part of the present site of
Borden Block. Westgate sold furniture from his front store and carried
on his cabinet making, including picture framing, from the Second Street
location. By 1869 picture framing had grown to be the main line and pic-
tures were added. It was owned at this time by Joseph C. Westgate and
later was carried on by J.C. Westgate and Son.

In 1874 a dwelling house on the opposite side of Second Street was
;aised and the firm occupied the store provided beneath. The son J. Oscar
Westgate died in 1880.

George B. Pierce and William J. Hutchinson bought the business in
1883. Mr. Pierce retired in 1899 and since the death of William J. Hutch-
inson in 1927, his son has been the proprietor.

8 Howard B. Wetherell died January 2, 1945, He bequeathed the business to Elbridge C. Meill, an

employee for 27 years.
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Samuel Hyde Company

- Samuel Hyde founded the business of Samuel Hyde Co. over ninety
years ago. He was born in 1822 and after his marriage lived at the present
location of the plant, 266 Ferry Street. He soon established a shop which
is attached to his residence where liquor was sold. Subsequently the
bottling business began. Its primitive equipment was enlarged and modern-
ized when the sale of liquor was prollibitecl. Samuel Hyde, Jr. and his
wife continuecl the manufacture of carbonized beverages until Mr, Hycle's
death in 1928. Then his two sons Dr. James S. Hyde and William J. Hyde
carried on the business until Dr. Hyde became the sole owner in 1936.
Thomas Haworth had been associated with this business since 1881 and
he continued as a manager until his death in 1937 when Dr. Hycle became-
- the active manager and devoted his whole time to it, when still more modern
machinery was installed. When Dr. Hyde died in the summer of 1938 his
widow, Minna B. Hyde, became and still is the manager of the business,
of which she and his two sons Hervey G. Hycle and Samuel Hyde the

3rd are owners.

Borden & Remington Company

In 1837 the drug and medicine business of Doctor Nathan Durfee
located on Central Street was purc[lasecl by Hale Remington and Com-
pany and a line of groceries added to the stock in trade.

About 1850 Robert K. Remington, a son of Hale Remington, took over
the business which was carried on in a wooden building near the foot of
Anawan Street. Upon the death of R. K. Remington, on November 25,
1886, the business passed into the hands of Edward B. Remington, a son,
and Charles F. Borden. a son-in-law. The original company building was
on the northeast corner of Anawan and Pond Streets. The local offices are
now diagona]ly across the street at 115 Anawan Street. The company
deals in mill supplies, chemicals and dye stuffs,‘to which has been added a
building material department, which branch has grown to large propor-
tions. The sales territory covers all southern New England. .

Following Mr. Borden's death in 1905, the control passed to Edward
B. Remington, the minority stock being held by Albert A. Harrison and
the Borden family. Subsequently Mr. Remington sold his interests and
after the death of Mr. Borden's two sons, Mr. Harrison purchased the con-
tro“ing shares and became president of the company in 1921.
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Mr. Harrison, who assisted in the preparation of this sketch, entered
the employ of Borden and Remington Company in 1888 as an assistant
bookkeeper.

Joseph A. Bowen Co.

This coal business was started by Joseph A. Bowen in 1856 and the
first coal consigned to him was landed on Morgan’s Wharf which he had
rented for a coal yarcl and which he later purchased. It is now a part of the
coal properties of the Atwater Coal Co. Mr. Bowen unloaded his own coal,
and solicited orders for it, loaded it on his delivery carts and delivered it
himself. His sister, Miss Sarah V. Bowen, weighed the coal and kept the
books. In 1869 M:. Bowen bought the property known as Slade’s Wharf
and Charles P. Stickney, then a wholesale dealer in coal and a man of con-
siderable prominence, became associated with Mr. Bowen under the firm
name of J. A. Bowen Co. In 1877 Mr. Bowen returning to his business
after an illness found that Mr. Stickney had negotiated firm notes in Boston
and could not account for the proceeds. By great persistence and energy
Mr. Bowen (being now financially embarrassed) arranged with the banks
for an extension of time to meet these obligations, and adjusted this
indebtedness within a short time.

The first city office was opened in the Granite Block and was main-
tained there until the block was destroyed in the fire of 1928. Mr. William
A. Dassance, who was first in the office as an office boy, soon became a
salesman and a managing assistant until 1888, when Joseph A. Bowen’s
son, Joseph H. Bowen, graduated from college, after which he took an active
interest in the firm from which time the business has been constantly pro-
gressive, As new mills were built in Fall River the soft coal industry
increased proportionately. Often, within a few consecutive years, as new
mills were built, the coal business doubled. Meanwhile the Bowens had
become interested in coastwide transportation and managed and had an
ownership interest in at least four schooners which were prominent in
the transportation of this firm’s coal. One, the Mary W. Bowen, a five
master, launched in 1900, with a capacity of 3500 tons, and then the largest
schooner afloat, was used until 1917 and when she was sold to transport
war materials, she was sunk by a submarine on her first trip. One of the
others was the Fanny C. Bowen, which was a very well known four-master,
much admired by every mariner when she came into these waters. A third,

the William O. Snow, on one of her trips to this port, was lost with all on
board and never heard from.
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Beginning with 1912, Mr. Joseph H. Bowen's sons as they completed ’
their education became interested in the business, and after Joseph A.
Bowen's death in 1913 the business was incorporated. In 1915 the plant
was modernized by installation of a modern mechanical coal hoisting plant;
by motorizing deliveries and later by undertaking to sell petroleum products
as a part of the fuel business. At this writing the oil business is more
extensive than that of selling coal. This firm and corporation have been
pioneers in the development of Pocahontas coal in this section. Since the
fire of 1928, at which time most of their records were destroyed, the place of
business has been at 100 Pleasant Street, where it is presently located.

Fall River Steam & Gas Pipe Co.

This business dates from 1857 when it was started on Pleasant Street
near Jesse Street by the William Durfee who had the nick name “Gaspipe
Bill”. Subsequently Joseph Farwell and Charles Burdick conducted the
business and George W. Fiske became manager there in 1888. The busi-
ness was incorporated under the name of the above caption in 1891, and
in 1901 the capital was increased to $22,500, at which time Justin E. Read, |
the present treasurer and manager, entered in the employ of the company
as bookkeeper. In 1906 Mr. Read became manager and in 1910 he acquired
the capital stock of the corporation. In 1920 they purchased and movedr
into the building at the corner of Sixth and Bedford Streets and since that
time, except for a period when the building was being repaired due to fire,
their extensive business has been conducted from this location.

In May 1923 the capital was increased to $35,000, and the plumbing
and heating business was discontinued. The business is now that of a
jobbing house. It is interesting to note that in 1892 when Mr. Read became
associated with the business, the capital was $7,500 and the surplus was
$2,200. The report at the end of 1939 shows a capital of $35,000 and a
surplus and reserve amounting to $67,000.

John P. Slade & Son

The business of John P. Slade & Son was established in 1858 by John
P. Slade, grandfather of Everett N. Slade, who is the present owner. Until
1892 the business was conducted on the second floor of the old Granite
Block at the southwest corner of Central and Main Streets, immediately
adjoining the law offices of Morton & Jennings where the writer was a
student. It was a typical real estate and insurance office of the old school,
through which real estate loans could be arranged. The office also engaged
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in a large real estate business. During the first year the firm name was
Slade, Macey & Company. Mr. Alexander B. Macey having an interest in
the business, and in 1879 Leonard N. Slade, John P. Slade’s son, ioined
his father's business and the firm name became John P. Slade & Son.
Mr. Leonard N. Slade was very active in his real estate and insurance
business, and the conveyancing which was done for his office was extensive.
The writer remembers that on an important occasion, prior to the days of the
typewriter, he wrote (in longhand) deeds and mortgages, sixty in all,
during twenty-six consecutive hours.

John P. Slade died in 1902 and his son Mr. Leonard N. Slade suc-
ceeded to the business. In 1906 Mr. Leonard N. Slade’s son, Everett N.

Slade, who had been associated with his father for several years, became
a member of the firm, and he has been sole owner of the business since the
death of his father in 1916. Everett N. Slade is a member of the city, state
and national real estate associations, and of the American Institute of Real
Estate Appraisers. The business has been conducted in the Fall River
National Bank Building since 1892 and has always enjoyed increasing

prosperity.
Ashworth Bros. Inc.

The firm of Ashworth Bros. was founded in Manchester, England,
about the year 1860 by George Ashworth, Elijah Ashworth, Robert Ash-
worth, and Charles Slee, for the manufacture of Card Clothing. The last
two men withdrew from the firm.

Later a machine shop was added, and Steam Pumps, Gas Engines.
and finally Card Clothing Engines were manufactured.

Robert Ashworth came to America in 1863 and for a time worked for
a Mr. Newton. Later he started in business on the east side of French's
Hill, making card clothing and paper cop tubes. In 1873, he returned to
England and worked for the original firm until 1885, when he came again
to America.

In 1886, Ashworth Bros. started to ship their Carding Engine to
America and in 1889, Robert Ashworth was appointed theirA American
agent. Acting under his advice, two plots of land were purchaéed at Fall
River from the Globe Yarn Mills and a building erected in 1891.

Soon after Robert Ashworth passed away, his eldest son Henry Ash-
worth was appointed agent. Under him the mal(ing of Card Clothing was
started and the company has become the largest card clothing company in
America.
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The present company was organized in 1905 at which time they l)ought
the American interests, and incorporated in 1910, with R. C. Ashworth as
President, _and Henry Ashworth, Treasurer and General Manager.

Henry Ashworth, and later R. C. Ashworth, Sr., passed away, and
Robert C. Ashworth, Jr., son of R. C. Ashworth, Sr., became President,
and George R. Ashworth, son of Henry Ashworth, became Treasurer.

The company operates factories in Fall River, Mass., Worcester,

Mass., and Philadelphia, Pa.

Frank Buffinton, Florist

The business of Frank Bulffinton, florist, was started in 1860 [)y Oliver
Buffinton as an activity for his daughter Mary E. Buffinton, who was then
very feeble. (She subsequently lived to be 101). After the death of Oliver
Buffinton his son Frank Buffinton conducted the business with Mary E.
Buffinton. The business is now carried on from the original greenhouses
located at 171 Hanover Street by William H. Buffinton and Annie E.
Ferguson, who were grandchildren of the original Oliver Buffinton. The
name of their uncle Frank Buffinton is still retained as the firm name, They
now have no downtown store but their greenhouses are extensive and the
business prosperous.

Andrew Borden 8’ Son

This was the first established, of the many houses engaged in the selling
and brokerage of cotton. Andrew Borden, born in 1843, went into business
in 1860 successively as an employee in Earle’s stationery store, in the‘Troy
Mill and in the American Printing Company. Subsequently he spent two
years in Memphis, Tenn. in studying the classification and marketing of
cotton. Over seventy years ago, he and Thomas E. Brayton organized the
firm as Thomas E. Brayton & Co. and when in 1879 Mr. Brayton took
charge of the Union Cotton Mfg. Company, Mr. Borden continued the
business until he was elected treasurer of the Merchants Manufacturing
Company in 1887. Until his retirement from the mill business in 1808
Andrews and Horton carried on this business, but in 1898 Mr. Borden
resumed the cotton business in partnership with his son C. D. Borden and
subsequently his son-in-law M. Hartwell Adams joined the firm. After
the death of Mr. C. D. Borden, approximately ten years ago, Mr. Adams
became the sole owner. Andrew Borden was very prominent in civil and -
political work in addition to his business and held several important public

positions. M. Hartwell Adams died October 9, 1940.
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The Maple Street Laundry

The Maple Street Laundry was established in 1870 by Alfred Smith
and was sold in 1901 to Louise Hewitt. She had then been an employee in
the laundry for nineteen years. It was moved to its present location at 680
Maple Street in 1911 when a new laundry building was constructed. Mirs.
Hewitt died in 1912 and her son Herbert H. Hewitt, present proprietor,
succeeded her.

] ames H. Wilson

David Wilson moved from Rehoboth to Fall River (Freetown) about
1762. His son Hezekiah and his grand-son Job T. were seafaring men with
their homes at Steep Brook.

In the late sixties Job T. and his son, James H., father of the present
owner, established the Fall River Oil and Guano Co. on the wharf where
the present coal business is now located. This business was later moved
to Touisset. In 1872 the present coal and wood business was started.
General teaming and heavy work, including the moving of buildings. was
also carried on. The Wilsons also operated a bus line from Steep Brook
to Globe Village. This was continued until the arrival of the horsecars.
The teaming business was discontinued when motor trucks came into use.

Mr. Wilson's whole attention is now given to the sale of coal and wood.
This was the second coal business to be started in Fall River.

The Congdon and Carpenter Company

The rapid growth of the textile industry in and around Fall River about
seventy years ago required large quantities of materials used by mills in the
ordinary course of their business. Such materials were different from the
ordinary stock in trade which were to be taken in as raw materials and
converted into manufactured goods. They consisted of all sorts of mill sup-
plies. repair parts, and the purchasing of these supply materials, the prob-
lem of warehousing them and distributing them became a specialty.

One of the companies which appreciated this situation in these early
days was The Congdon & Carpenter Company, which opened a store at
23 Bedford Street in Fall River in 1872. They did business in this location
until 1886 when tliey moved into a new building which was built for them
on Pocasset Street. From Pocasset Street they moved to 58 Fourth Street
in 1897 which was the location most favorable under the conditions that
existed at that time. In 1937 the firm built a warehouse at 583 Bedford
Street at the comer of Fourteenth Street, which has been described as one
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of the best equipped and' the best designed for this sort of business that
there is in New England. Of course there are other warehouses which do
a similar business and which are much larger, but the unique features of
design and equipment distinguished this new warehouse and attracted
much favorable attention.

When the company opened its store in 1872, it dealt mainly in hard-
ware and also carried a small stock of bar iron. As time went on the
demands of the local blacksmiths, carriage builders, and in general all
persons who used horses, for all sorts of horse goocls, had to be met, At
that time all street traffic and road transportation everywhere was done l)y
means of horses. Therefore, there was a large market for horse shoes,
harnesses, blankets, tire steel and many other specialﬁes. The company
had a large stock of this material always on hand.

The increased use of iron and steel called for increased stocks of this
material and in a relatively few years the sales of bar steel, sheet steel, and
a limited number of structural sliapes showed a marked increase. Bicycles
became popular. and in 1890 the company sold bicycles and all sorts of
bicycle equipment, and later on, when automobiles supplanted bicycles a
large amount of automobile equipment was put in stock and sold.

At the present time, the company’s new warehouse carries a wide
variety of steel bars, steel sheets, copper, lead, tin, zinc and lieavy hard-
ware such as rope, chain, hoist, bolts and nuts, conductor pipe, gutters,
picl(s, shovels and other tools.

The manager of the first store opened l)y The Congclon & Carpenter
Company in 1872 was Mr. Edward E. Barney who was succeeded in 1879
by Herbert Field. Mr. Field remained as manager until October 1906 and
he was followed by Mr. Benjamin D. Wyatt who entered the employ of
the firm in October 1880. After Mr. Wyatt’s death, on August 1, 1931,
Mr. A. L. O'Keefe became manager and remained in that position until
March 24, 1938 when he was succeeded by the present manager, Mr.
Donald H. Bump. The skillfulness and fidelity of these men have been

responsible for the success of this store over a long term of years.

Robert A. Wilcox Co. Inc.
The business was started by Robert A. Wilcox in 1874, taking orders

in his home and delivering them by wheelbarrow. Afterten years he openecl
the present store at 116 Bedford Street. The business was incorporated in
1919, at which time the office supplies. school supplies. stationery depart-
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ments made it necessary to have three storehouses, three trucks for deliveries,
sixteen persons employed in the business and six salesmen.

Upon Mr. Wilcox's death on August 2nd, 1918, Mr. James F. Duggan
became interested in the business and managed it for the famlly Mr,
Wilcox's brother Andrew D. Wllcox for many years had charge of the

salesmen

: Davld MO"'!SOH. Inc

The original plan of Mr. Morrison was the establishment of a shoe shop.
With a small stock of shoes and some dry goods he began business, in 1874,
in a small store on Pleasant Street, in Flint Village. This is now David
Morrison Inc. and is located in a bui]ding which he himself erected at
1455 Pleasant Street. Upon his death, his son David C. Morrison suc-
ceeded to the management of the business and the character of the business
was enlarged, so that the sale of dry goods in several departments is now
carried on. When David Morrison died in 1892, his three sons succeeded
to the business and it continued as a partnership until 1899 when the part-
nership was dissolved and David C. Morrison continued to carry on
business for his own account until it was mcorporated in 1920. This is
probably the only department store in Fall River which has continued in
business without change of name for sixty-six years,

I. H. Fran’glin Co.

J. H. Franklin Co. was established by John H. Franklin in 1875 in
rooms over Whitehead's Mar_l(et at the northeast corner of Main and
Market Streets. Franklin was an engraver. Associated with him for a great
many years was Robert C. B. Burrell. Burrell was a noted and expert
fisherman, returning from his trips with trout from brooks which failed
others. At the South Main Street address and afterwards when they
moved to 78 Bedford Street in the Metacomet Bank Building, they con-
tinued their engraving business and operatecl a book bindery in connection
* with their book and job printing business. About 1910 the business passed
into the hands of Joseph' W. Pratt, Mr. Franklin’s brother-in-law, and
Mr. Burrell also had an interest in the business under Mr. Franklin’s will.
A corporation was formed of which Mr. Pratt was treasurer and this
business continued until 1928 when it was completely destroyed in the
conflagration of that year. Mr. Pratt died in 1936 and Mr. Burrell died in
1938, after which the corporation was dissolved. Miss Fithel M. Pratt,
daughter of Mr. Joseph W Pratt, then became the owner of the busmess
and is still conducting the business at 145 Franklin Street.
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James H. Waring

The business of James H. Waring, funeral director, now including a
funeral home at 178 Winter Street, was established in 1877. The original
proprietors were Henry Waring and Thomas Waring doing business as
Waring Bros. In 1895 the business. was Henry Waring and Son (James
H. Waring). Since the death of James H. Waring in 1935 his son Sumner

J. Waring has been the sole owner.

Francis S. Borden

Civil Engineer and Land Surveyor

The oldest surveys, plans and maps to be found in the city are on file
in this office, beginning with the survey by Forbes Little, Jr., in 1791 and
followed by the plans of Simeon Borden, Nathaniel Smith, 1. C. Burgess,
Harvey Harnden, Philip D. Borden, A. H. Martine and Thomas Kieran.
This office has access to these most important records, which facilitates the
accuracy of its work.

In 1893 the business was established by Albert Wolstenholme and
B. Thomas Buffinton. When Mr. Wolstenholme was elected superin-
tendent of streets in 1913, B. Thomas Buffinton was the owner until he -
died in 1914. Mr. Borden continued to work for the Buffinton estate until
1915 when he purchased the business and has since carried it on in his
own name. All the old records were saved by Mr. Borden during the great
fire of February 2nd, 1928 when the building in which his office was located

was completely destroyed.

NEWSPAPERS
Fall River Herald News Publislu‘ng Company

The earliest predecessor of the Fall River Herald News Publishing
Company was the firm of Almy and Milne composed of Thomas Almy
and John C. Milne which, established in 1845, began to publish the
Weekly News.

The Sparl( was the first daily paper. It was published in 1848 and
survived only a few weeks. The first daily to survive was the Daily Evening
Star, published in 1857 by B. W. Pearce. Noel A. Tripp printed this
paper in 1838 under the name of The Daily Beacon. Louis Lapham, Fsq.
was the editor. This paper in turn was purcliased by Almy and Milne and
circulated under the name of the Fall River Daily News in 1859 and has
been continuous since that time, incorporated with the Fall River Herald
News.



172 THE PHILLIPS HISTORY OF FALL RIVER

In 1864 Franklin L. Almy (not related to Thomas) became a member
of the firm and the name was changed to Almy, Milne & Co. Thomas Almy
died in 1882.

Upon the death of Franklin L.. Almy in 1912, his son Franklin S. Almy
became a partner and upon the death of John C. Milne in 1918, his son
Joseph D. Milne took over his interests.

The folldwing excerpt, from a front page editorial in “The News” of
June 12, 1926 is self explanatory. “The Fall River Daily News prints today
its final issue. The News will be published as a part of the Fall River
Herald, the two newspapers having been combined by Mr. C. F. Kelly. '
who recently purchased the cohtrolling interest in The Herald and the

Associated Press franchise; circulation, good will and mechanical equip-
ment of The News.”

From 1885 to the date of their consolidation, The News, Herald and
Globe were rival local newspapers. The News was a Republican paper:
a strong temperance advocate, refusing liquor advertisements throughout
its existence.

“The Herald” was first published in 1872 under the name of Border
City Herald. The paper changed hands in 1876 and became the Fall River
Daily Herald. Since that time it has changed hands and policies several
times but for the most part has been independent.

The Fall River Daily Globe was a strong Democratic paper. It was
established in 1885. At first located in old Court Square, in 1906, the
owners erected and occupied quarters in their five story block on North
Main Street, now the property of The Fall River Trust Company. Mr.
Kelly, the publisher of the Fall River Herald News obtained control of
“The Globe” and in its last issue, on February 2, 1929 made the following
announcement: ‘‘After careful stucly of all the conditions, I have decided
to discontinue publication of the Fall River Globe with the final issue today.
I am actuated in this decision sole]y hy the thought that the reading public
in this city will be far better served by one superior newspaper than hy two
less complete newspapers controlled by one publisher.”

The three English language local newspapers were thus combined
under a single ownership. Cornelius L. Kelly became the owner of the
joint enterprise which was conducted hy a corporation in which he con-
trolled the shares. Upon his decease in 1938, Charles E. Sevigny became
the president and treasurer of the corporation and Edward J. Delaney
became the editor with Clarence E. Bury associate editor.

In passing, it might be well to here mention other Fall River newspapers.
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The Fall River Monitor* was the first paper to be published in Fall
River. As a viHage paper in the town of Troy, it was first issued in 1845.
With the exception of a few months in 1865, when it was issued daily,
and a short time, in 1863, when its publication was interrupted, the paper
was printed weel(ly In 1868, it came into the possession of William S.
Robertson who kept it in circulation until 1899.

* The first French language newspaper was a weekly published in 1874,
under the name of L'Echo du Canada. This paper and Le Protecteur
Canadien which followed were widely circulated throughout New
England.

L'Independant, the present well managed and edited French news-
paper was established as a weekly in 1885, and in 1893 became a daily
paper.

Portuguese weekly newspapers have appeared frequently. A Folka
Do Povo and As Novidades were the first to be published in 1908. Novi-
dades is in circulation today.

A Syrian paper, Al-Insanyeh was in print for three or four years begin-
ning in 1917,

The heyday of journalism in Fall River seems to have come in 1925;
at that time there were seven weekly and four claily newspapers printed in
English, French or Portuguese.

A number of weekly newspapers have been in circulation, which were
merely aclverhsmg or polltlcal mediums publlshec] by local printers. Samuel
E. Fiske publlshed under ten different titles, for Fall River and nexghbormg
communities,

Attempts have been made to publlsh a morning paper. A morning
edition of the Fall River Daily Herald was not a success. The Tribune,
with quarters in Puritan Hall,® beginning in 1890 published three editions
-daily for a short time but was unable to continue.

Since 1925 there have been consolidations and few new ventures in
journalism. The local interest in soccer football was reflected in the publlca-
tion weel(ly, for elght months of the year, of Soccer Field, 1927-1931. The
Evening Bulletin was published from 1929 to 1931. In 1934 only four local
newspapers could be listed: Fall River Herald News, L’Independant,

Novidades and Portuguese Daily News. These four have continued
to 1940.

“For accounts of ear]y journalism see “Fall River and its Industries” 1876 and History of Fall River by

Henrﬁ“i Fenner |
tan Hall was in the old Central Congregational Church, then facing Rock Street.
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Custom House

Soon after the Revolution the Federal Government established the first
custom house, in what was known as the Dighton District. It was near
the shore of Taunton Estuary, just south of Muddy Cove. The Fall River
District replaced the Dighton District in 1837 and the custom house was
located in the town hall on Central Street. When the new town hall was
built, it was located there for a few years and then moved to the second
floor of a building at the northeast corner of Anawan and Water Streets,
where it remained until a Federal building was erected on Bedford Street

in 1880.

Post Offwe

The first general issue of postage stamps by the United States was in
1847. Stamps were used before that time in some localities but were issued
at the expense of the postmasters. The price of letter postage was accord-
ing to the number of sheets used; consequently letters were written on large
sheets, then folded and sealed, ]eaving a space for the address. Envelopes
and blotﬁng paper did not come into genera] use until 1845.

The first mail was handled in Fall River, then Troy, in 1811, Charles
Pitman was the first postmaster; at first located in the village, he moved his
post office to Steep Brook in 1813.*

W. W. Howes, First Assistant Postmaster General reports that the
first United States Post Office was “established in Fall River, Massachu-
setts, on March 14, 1816. The first Postmaster was Abraham Bowen.

There is no record of a government Post Office in the town of Fall River,

Rhode Is]and " .

1 See Fascicle I p. 90.
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“The (government) Post Office at Steep Brook, Massachusetts was
‘established on January 13, 1873, with Abiel W. Winslow as postmaster.
The office was discontinued on July 1, 1900.”

, Through the mstrumentalrty of Congressman James Bufflngton in:

1873, an appropriation of $200,000, (later raised to $285,000) was made
for a Federal bulldmg, to house the Post Office and the Custom House
This beautiful, ornate (not rococo) bulldmg faced Bedford Street and
covered a part of the land north of the stream, now occupied by the present
Post Office Building. Two of the uprights which supported the arcade
arches of the front, now form the pedestals of the Spanish American War
Monument at the north end of Plymouth Avenue and the statue of Prince
Henry the Navigator at the junction of Eastern Avenue and Pleasant Street,
presente'd to the city by the citizens of Portuguese extraction. The four
stone medalions, illustrating the communication systems of the time are
stored in the vaults of the B. M. C. Durfee Trust Company.

The present two story structure which opened for business, July 18,
1932, with its surroundings, occupies a city block. Itfaces south with ample
setback from Pocasset Street, offering space for a lawn and shrubbery.
During the period of its construction, the E. S. Brown Bulldmg on North
Street was used as a Post Office.

There are two sub-stations in the city; one called the Flint Statron at
1200 Pleasant Street and the other the South Station at 1462 South Main
Street. :

Mrs. Grace Hartley Howe is at present the Postmaster and Gen. Harry
A. Skinner the Assistant Postmaster The receipts for 1940 amounted »
to $377, 386 85.

, . Steam Railroa‘ds
The Fall Rrver Tron Works established the first rail line out of Fall

Rrver Passenger service began June 9, 1845. It began operations under
the name of Fall River Railroad and the tracks at first extended to Myrrcl(s
where connections were made with the Taunton-New Bedford branch of
the Boston and Providence Railroad. The track was later extended to
South Braintree where more direct connections were made with Boston.

The ﬁrst local depot was just south of the Central Street ° ‘underpass”.
In 1847, when through service from Boston to New York via Fall River
and the Bay State Steamboat Company was inaugurated, the station was
moved to the Steamboat Dock.
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In 1863 the Old Colony Railroad which then controlled the Fall River
Railroad extended the tracks to Newport and in 1865, laying tracks from
Warren to the east shore of South Somerset operated a ferry from the foot
of Ferry Street, connecting with the terminus, thus opening a direct route to -
Providence. This service continued until the Slade’s Ferry Bridge was built
and the first train ran across it on December 5, 1875.

In 1874, the Bowenville Station,’ located between Turner Street and
Old Colony Avenue was built and remained in use until the present depot
was opened in the early nineties. The name Bowenville was discarded and
the new station was finally designated as the Fall River depot. At one
time there were four stops for some trains within the city limits — Somerset
Junction, Steep Brook, Fall River and Ferry Street. .

Previous to 1875, passage to and from New Bedford was made either
by stage or by rail via Myricks. A Fall River and New Bedford line was
constructed by a transportation company advertised as the Fall River Rail-
road. This short, direct line (now used only for freight. trains by the New
York, New Haven and Hartford Railroad), with Watuppa Station on
Plymouth Avenue as the Fall River terminal, was well patronized by pas-
sengers from Fall River, Westport, Dartmouth and New Bedford until a
through line by trolley cars was established. The trains made direct con-
nections with steamboats for Marthas Vineyard, Nantucket and New York
and the ferry at New Bedford to Fairhaven, connecting with trains to towns

on Cape Cod.

About 1900, the New York, New Haven and Hartford Railroad made
elaborate p[ans to make direct connections between New York and Cape
Cod, by constructing a tunnel under Fall River. Land was purchased for
the project and some owners were paid for the land underlying their prop-
erty. This part of the project was never comp[eted but the elimination of
grade crossings was begun June 28, 1902 and completed with the opening
of the viaduct connecting Central and Anawan Streets on June 16, 1905,
at the cost of $1,580,051.16. The railroad paid sixty-five per cent of the
cost, the state twenty-five per cent and the city ten per cent.

With the advent of automotive power, passenger traffic on railroads
became less and less profitable. Many lines were abolished and schedules
were reduced. The road to Newport is no longer operated for the genera[
public. The Providence and Fall River branch, which was for a time elec-
trified and ran trains every thirty minutes has been abandoned and tracks

2 A passenger station was located at the foot of Cherry Street previous to, and for a brief period after, the
erection of the Bowenville Station.
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removed. There remains only a single track from the north into Fall River,
connecting with Taunton and Boston. In 1876 there were seven passenger
trains to Boston dally and in addition, a number of direct connections with
other cities and towns. Today there are only two trains leavmg t]’le Fall
River station each weel( day

The Fall River Line

For nearly a century, the “old” Fall River Line operated a fleet of
steamships for passenger and freight service between Fall River and New
York City. Passengers from and to Boston and other New England cities
found the most convenient and restful travel to New York on the “boat
train” which after a non-stop fifty mile run to Fall River, connected with
the palatial side-wheel steamers of this line. Mostly, it operated through
inland waters and reached either destination at an ear'ly morning hour and
returned in the late afternoon or evening, thus allowing its passengers a
full day for business or shopping at the other terminal city. Trains made
quick connection with other cities and with summer resorts in New England
and Canada. To a large percentage of the traveling public, this Fall River
Line was the city's best advertising medium. It was widely known.

The raw materials used in our mills and our finished products ( largely
clottl) were delivered to Fall River or to New York warehouses before the
beginning of business hours, even ttlougtl contracted for on the previous
day. Similarly fresh fruits and flowers from nearby farms and greeneries
were available in the New York market district, within as short a time and
usuall‘y in better condition than those which were grown in territory wtlich
adjoined the metropolis. The service was prompt and regular, and reserve
steamships in Newport, the only port of call, were a safeguard in case of
accidental delays.‘ Private cabins, at graded cost, guaranteed a fine night's_s
rest to the ordinary traveller, and an excellent cuisine and a good orchestra
guaranteed satisfaction to the inner man. In warm weather there was ever
a cool breeze on the ]:)ay and sound, and a little ground-swell to be enjoyed
in almost any weather as “‘she rounded Point Jude”.

Such was the Fall River Line, a convenience — and almost a necessity
~ for over four-score (ninety-two) years, and its discontinuance was a
catastrophe, almost a dying blow, to the city, when ( after connecting rail-
roads were forbidden t)y Federal law, to own, control or operate connecting
seR llnes) the operation of the boats became unprofitable As a coincidence
the cotton mdustry in this territory began tofade. Theline was discontinued
and ttle steamers sold or ]unl(ed under Federal Court order of July 27, 1937.
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Perhaps the steamers would have continued to operate had not a sea-
man’s strike interfered with the service. The unions demanded a wage
increase, and this would have greatly increased existing operating losses.
There was no dispute, no violence. It seems as though the owners were
waiting for an excuse to abandon the service ~ they simply announced its
discontinuance. As Mr. McAdam has stated in his story of “The Old Fall
_ River Line” — “The Fall River Line not running? Impossible! I It had
always run. It was as permanent as Plymouth Rock, as depenclable as
grandfather’s clock, as hospitable as a Colonial Inn. The Fall River Line
was the cordial invitation luring one on to visit New England.”

9006

A Fall River Line began its century of operation by a propeller-steamer
named the Eudora in 1845. Two years later, on May 19, 1847, when the
Steamer Bay State, owned by the Bay State Steamboat Company, made
its first trip, continuous through service from Boston and New York began.
In addition to the Bay State that corporation also controlled the steamer
Massachusetts, and these were the most pretentious steamboats of that age.
It is believed that the “steamboat train”, connecting with these boats, was
the world’s oldest train in continuous service. We remember it as the
single “de luxe” train of our boyhoocl days and our recollection dwells with
equal pride on the little, dapper Asa R. Porter, with his impeccable uni-
form and fresh boutonniere, who in affable manner and with a cheery smile,
was the conductor on this run for over thirty years. The earliest locomotives
burned wood and the cars were “candle-lit”. As improvements in service
were made the boat-train had preferential attention, but at the beginning
the train hauled a flat car to carry the larger pieces of baggage.

The Bay State remained in the service on this line until the close of the
Civil War. She provecl her speecl to be superior to the Hag-ships of other
Sound lines. For comparison with more elegant and later steamers, I will
say that she was rated at 1500 tons, was 315 feet long, forty feet beam, and
that her hold was about fifteen feet deep; her engines developed 1500
horse-power; the cabins were not heated.

The steamer Empire State was built and added to the line in 1848, and
served for a little over twenty years. She suffered misfortunes, viz: on
January 13, 1849 her upper works were burned as she lay at her dock in
Fall River. The damage was estimated at $120,000. When rebuilt and
again put in service, in 1836 a boiler exploded while she was off Point
Judith. This caused fourteen deaths. In 1887 she was burned to the water's
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edge at her dock in Bristol, R. 1. After the Empire State came the State of
Maine, a second-hand purchase which ran here from 1850 to 1863. The
“Metropolis”’ was added to the fleet in 1854 and operated for twenty years.
It is said that the added boats were paicl for from ‘earnings, which were
sometimes in excess of ﬁfty per cent per annum. The "Metropolls" was con-
sidered everythmg that was grancl n steam]ooatmg She completecl her run
in about nine hours.

In 1863 the Fall River Line steamboats were sold to the Boston,
Newport and New York Steamboat Company, the railroad to Fall River
was extended to Newport, and for a short time the rail connection to and
from Boston was made only at Newport, but Fall River connection was
soon reestablished and thereafter was continuously maintained, a]though
there were several winters when the Bay was so solic“y frozen that it accom-
modated no water traffic. (In 1875, when there was an ice blockade in the
Sound the steamers passed to the south of Long Island.)

The new owners immediately built two new steamers, the *“Old Colony”
and the “Newport”, which were seemingly very similar. The new boats
operated in the summer only, and were refitted as the older boats took over
the winter schedules. The “Old Colony" was in the service for twenty yearé
and the Newport for thirty years. During these years the competition of
other lines became keen. There was a Neptune Line from Providence and
a Stonington, Connecticut Line, but marine disasters due to a fire and a
sunken reef made the Stonington Line unpopular and its successor known
as the Bristol Line was soon merged with the Fall River Line under the
name Narragansett Steamship Line.

In 1867 two new steamers came into the service — the “Bristol” and
the “Providence”, each with two hundred staterooms and fitted to carry
forty carloads of frelght They were 360 feet ]ong at the water line, elghty-
five feet wide and with a registered gross tonnage of nearly 3000. *Jim”
Fisk with some friends were large owners in the new company and when
he became its President, he dubbed himself Admiral of the fleet. The
“Bristol” was burned at her dock in Newport in 1888 just as she had com-
pleted her season’s run. The "Providence" discontinued her services in
1900. In 1872 the line was completely reorganized and passed into the
control of the Old Co]ony Railroad under the name of the Old Colony
Steamboat Company. June 30, 1883 the * “Pilgrim” was added to the line.
She had a dou]ole hull to insure safety, and a full e]ectnca] llghtlng equip-
ment wnth automatlc alarms A marine marvel at that time, she was the
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first really modern steamer on the line — 375 feet long at the water line
and of 3500 registered tonnage, with sleeping quarters for 1200 passengers.
She consumed daily about eight-five tons of coal; she was a fast boat and
made the trip of one hundred seventy-six miles in eight and one-half hours.

The “Puritan” served the Line from 1889 till the coming of the
“Commonwealth” in 1908, when she was docked at Newport as a spare,
with steam always up. She served “extra” over and around holiday periods
till she was removed to Stonington, whence, after a gale battered some of
her lines, she was sold on January 1915, with the “Pilgrim” for scrapping.
“Like an old soldier, she simply faded away".

By 1894 the Fall River Line had brought into service the “Priscilla”,
the largest side-wheeler afloat, and Captain A. G. Simmons, a veteran in
coast way service, was put in command. The “Priscilla” carried 1500 pas-
sengers and was often booked to capacity so that with prompt service, rich
equipment and a rare cuisine she was soon most popular. Then came the
“Providence” (the second of that name on this line), in all important par-
ticulars a sister-ship to the ‘“Priscilla”, but with telephone service in every
room, and 20 feet additional length.

Then at last (in 1908) came the “Commonwealth”, 450 feet long, the
largest passenger ship ever operated on Long Island Sound. The dining
room was on the upper deck, fifty feet above the water, so well glassed that
the diners could, while eating, observe the surrounding country and the
passing boats. This room had a triple dome with concealed lighting and
was connected with the dance floor and grill. There were oriental rugs and
the furnishings were elaborate.

A four-boat summer schedule was maintained for several years begin-
ning in 1919. Frequent trips on the Fall River Line by Presidents Grant,
Arthur, Harrison, Cleveland, the two Roosevelts, and its regular use by all
the Vanderbilts, Astors, Belmonts and Rockefellers, caused a prominent
Boston editor to write: “If you went on a trip to New York and didn’t travel
on the Fall River Line, you simply didn’t go at all”.

When in 1889 the Thames River drawbridge was completed and
through rail service began between Boston and New York over the Shore-
line, it made a big cut in the business of all the Sound lines. When in 1892
the New Haven Railroad system purchased the Stonington Line and in the
following year leased the Old Colony Railroad, there was a further cut
in revenue.

In September 1889 the J oy Line was in competition with the Fall River
Line from Providence, with the fare between the cities one dollar. In order
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to meet this competition the New Haven Railroad began a passenger
service on their frelght boats between these two cities and cut the fare to
fifty cents. In 1902 the lines entered into a traffic agreement but the com-
petition caused a great loss to the Fall River Line. Then in 1906 another
company entered into the Fall River service under the name of Enterprise
Line. It took both passenger and frelght business from the Fall River Line
and a large proportion of the Newport fishing business was trans-shipped
to Fall River to take advantage of the reduced shipping rates. This was a
large business, as many as 1400 barrels of scup having been shipped to
New York on a single steamer. At another time the Stonington Line
handled fish freight out of Newport, trans—shipping the fish from Newport
to Stonington and then to New Haven by fast freight. The Enterprise Line
went into the hands of a receiver in 1907 and the Joy Line was bought out
by the New Haven in 1914. It was turned over by them to the United States
Transportation Company.

In 1929 there was competition through the establlshment of a passenger
line to New Bedford at the price of three dollars for a single trip, which was
about half of the New England's tariff, but the death blow to the steamer
lines was when an act called the “Panama Canal Act” became effective
and probibited any common carrier ]oy water through the Panama Canal
or elsewhere where a railroad would compete. After Interstate Commerce
Commission hearings in several states, decision was rendered against the
steamers in favor of the railroads, but until 1937 the abandonment of the
steamers was gradual. They did not surrender until the Eastern Steamship
Lines had begun the operation of their all water line between Boston and
New York. These boats would receive freight from Boston consigned to
New York three hours later than the Fall River Line because it took three
hours to ship the freight from Boston and put it aboard the steamers.

When the Cape Cod canal was opened in 1916 and the Boston and
Metropolitan Line was not only able to shorten the distance of its New
York trip but also to avoid all the dangers of rounding Cape Cod, and more
than all when in 1924 the two magnificent liners “Boston” and “New York”
were placed in the service with connections in New York for southern ports,
the difficulties of the Fall River Line were gradually added to. It lessened
fares and in 1927 began an all year service, on account of which, in the year
1937 the Fall River Line lost approxnmately one-fifth of its passenger traffic.
After the two cents a mile passenger fare on the railroads was ordered ]o‘y
the Interstate Commerce Commission, the Fall River Line began to lose -
and continued to lose money, and this loss was greatly added to ]oy the loss
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of freigllt to and from Fall River, when the depression in the cotton business
~ lessened l)y more than half, the total amount of cloth sent forward for
delivery, until its final discontinuance, June 30, 1937. The fittings and
furnishings of these boats were sold at pul)llc auction and some of their
elegant fumlshmgs passecl as mementoes into the homes of those who had
often been passengers on the line.

The New York terminus of the Fall River Lme was at pier No. 14 North
River. This pier was owned l)y the Clty of New York and was leased l)y
it to the New Haven Railroad Company, which company operated the
New England Steamship Company, which in turn owned the Fall River
Line boats. After the steam boat service was discontinued the railroad
. used this pier for handling the freight which it handled for that point, but
it had to be sent around the l)attery in car floats to the East River terminus
of the railroad, which was at pier 35 in the East River. The railroad lease
expired July 1st, 1940 and no more freight is delivered at pier 14; it is all
delivered at pier 38 in the East River.

Local Bus and Car Lines

Before the advent of horse cars, James H. Wilson ran a bus line
between Steep Brook and Globe Village, making five trips each day and
Joseph Freelove who kept a livery stable on Tenth Street provided pas-
senger service from City Hall to Flint Village, making nine trips a day.

Wilson sold his line to one of his drivers, John A. Clark and the service
went under the name of Clark’s Omnibus Line. In addition to the regular
runs from Steep Brook to Globe Village, a bus connected with the Wilbur
House and the Bowenville Station and special busses, at stated times, ran
from City Hall to the Border City Mill.

For a few years there was a line of herdics which conveyed passengers
over the Winter Street route to the corner of New Boston Road and Hanover
Street and another starting from the other side of Market Square which
went as far as Oscar Durfee’s blacksmith shop on Stafford Road (near
Globe Street), with occasional runs as far as Lawton Street. These herdics
proceeded clirectly up Second Street and when traffic was heavy four horses
‘were used. Chauncey H. Sears bought from the original owners, the
~ Winter Street route and James B. Albert bought the Stafford Road line.
All these lines were abandoned when their franchises wére taken over by
the horse car company.

The Globe Street Railway promoted by George Mellen and Edward
Herbert was chartered April 16, 1880. Tracks were first laid on Main
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Street connecting the “center”’ with Bowenville Station and were gradually
extended from this beginning. Soon after the organization, William Jen-
nings became president followed shortly by Frank S. Stevens of Swansea;
F. W. Brightman was treasurer, Robert S. Goff bookkeeper and J. H.
Bowker superintendent; men prominent in the street railway business for
years after.

The horse cars were replaced by trolley cars September 3, 1892,

In 1895, the Dartmouth and Westport Railroad was organized with
tracks connecting with the Globe Street Company at the “Narrows” with
the Union Street Railway Company at Lincoln Park in Dartmouth. Frank
W. Brightman was president and Robert S. Golf was clerk of this line,
which was later consolidated with the Union Street Railway of New
Bedford.

About the same time, the Fall River Street Railway Company was
organized with Wendell E. Turner as president and John T. Robertson as
treasurer. This line ran from the corner of Bank and North Main Streets
to the “Highlands™ covering a section not covered by the Globe Street
Company and was soon taken over by them. \

About 1902 the Globe Street Company was sold to another company
known as the Old Colony Street Railway, with a handsome profit to the
original promoters. By consolidations and financial dealings in 1912 the
name became the Bay State Street Railway Company and in 1920 it
became the Fall River Branch of the Eastern Massachusetts Street Railway
Company.

A trolley line to Newport was opened in 1898 and one to Providence
in 1901. "

All trolley cars were withdrawn for motor busses in Fall River on

September 20, 1936.
Pleasure Parks

Pleasure parl(s were established on the old trolley lines to attract and
increase patronage. The first one for Fall River was the Forest Hills
Gardens, which was on the site now occupied by the St. Vincent Orphans’
Home on North Main Street. A hotel, roller skating rink, clambake
pavillion and other attractions were provided and for a time many pleasure
seekers added revenue to the Globe Street Railway' Company.

On suburban lines attractive localities were chosen and developed
between cities. Lincoln Park in Dartmouth continues to be popular. Island
Park, in Portsmouth, Rhode Island has become a summer colony. Dighton
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Rock Park, on the shore of Taunton Estuary, between Fall River and
Taunton ceased to be profitable and was divided into house lots.

Electric Freight Service

Startmg in 1903 electric frelght service was maintained between Fall
River, New Bedford, Taunton and Brocl(ton and continued until busses
replaced the trolley cars. A freight station was erected on the corner of
Bedford and Sixth Streets which is now used by a chain grocery store.

Stage Lines .

In 1861, R. B. Kingsley was running four lines of stages from his office
“at No. 17 North Main Street:

For Adamsville and New Bedford...........c..... Daily at 1 P. M.
For Providence Daily at 1 P. M.
For Newport nally at 1 P. M,
For Tiverton and Little Compton............... Daily at 12:30 P. M.
The Providence stage connected with a stage to Warren at “Swanzey”.
The Water Works System

For many years Fall River's water supply had been from wells, but with
the growth of population it was found upon analysis that the water in the
wells had shown a dangerous condition. In January, 1870, Mayor Samuel
M. Brown in his inaugural address called attention to the situation and
asked that the city council at once take steps towards the establishment of
a system that would insure the city a supply of pure water. A committee
was carefully appointed and authorized to cause surveys to be made and
analyses secured of possible sources of a new supply. A report from an
expert showed that the water in the North Watuppa Pond was the most
adaptable for the purpose desired. The city purchased forty-eight acres
of land at the head of Bedford Street and engaged an engineer to prepare
plans for the proposed system. In March, 1871, the authorizing act was
passed by the legislature. It was acceptecl by the voters in April by an
overwhelming majority. A board of water commissioners was at once
elected and immediately work began on the project. A pumping station on
the shores of North Watuppa Pond was erected in 1872; the work of laying ~
mains was pushecl forward as rapiclly as possible and by September 1876,
forty-five miles of pipe had been installed. On January 5, 1874, water was

first conducted through the pipes available for general use. The cost of
the water system to October 1, 1876 was $1,328,456.
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At once disputes arose with the Watuppa Reservoir Company as to
their rights in North Watuppa Pond. This continued for a series of years,
being taken to the Supreme Court for decision and the reservoir company
claimed large amounts in payment for the water used. June 6, 1892 an
agreement was entered into between the city and the reservoir company
whereby all claims against the city were released; yet the city was not given
full control over the pond. In 1920, another agreement was executed
between the city’s reservoir commission and the reservoir company which
terminated the 1892 agreement and vested in the city full control of the
pond. In consideration for which the city paid the reservoir company
$75.000 and agreed to construct a dam and pumping station at the “sand
bar” so called.

In 1895 this reservoir commission comprising the Watuppa Water
Board and other city officials was appointed and subsequently by con-
demnation took over all islands in the pond and the shores surrounding it,
for the development of a water shed to insure the purity Qf the water. Strict
regulations were issued against the use of the pond for I)oating, fishing or
skating.

The water department was eventua"y self-sustaining and by 1908 had
a surplus of over one hundred thousand dollars. The board of aldermen
voted to transfer this sum to general revenue in spite of many protests. The
dispute was taken to the legislature, which, in March, 1908 passed a law
restoring the water ordinance relative to revenue to its former force and
forbade any change I)y the city council until the entire water debt should
be extmguished

Sul)sequently many improvements were made in the system. There are
now four large tanks with a combined capacity of over five million gallons,
which is a]:)out one day s supply for the city.

The steam pumping station at the east end of Bedford Street in 1914
was equipped with a centrifugal pump. At the same time about five
hundred feet to the north an auxiliary station was erected also equipped
with an electric pump. In 1920, a second electric pump was placed in this
station, which is now the chief station and the original pumping station is
an auxiliary or reserve station.

The department maintains five tanks in various sections of the city, two
on Bedford Street, one near Stafford Road at its highest elevation, one on
Townsend Hill and one on Haskell Hill, to maintain the requisite pressure
on the water in the mains. Their capacity is about six million ga“ons. Two
of these tanks, the northerly one on Bedford Street and the Townsend hill
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tank, which were at the time emptied for painting and repairs were blown
down during the hurricane of September 1938. They have since been
replaced. There are approximately one hundred and sixty miles of main
pipe in the service; the average consumption of water is now about seven
million gallons a day.

With the introduction of Watuppa water in 1874, typhoid fever cases
decreased throughout the city. Illustrating the continued purity of the water
supply, in 1940 medical statistics showed that no deaths from typhoid had
been recorded in Fall River for three years.®

Fall River Gas Works Company

This company, with its executive offices and display rooms at 155 North
Main Street, with its distributive department at 30 Fifth Street and with its
manufacturing plant on Charles Street, has, since 1896, been the sole
manufacturer and distributor of gas in Fall River, and it also supplies the
needs of Somerset and Swansea and sells gas to the Tiverton Gas
Company.

The first urgent need for illuminating gas in Fall River was in its cotton
mills where the use of kerosene lamps and of candles had proved very
dangerous, so that gas was first manufactured here as a private department
of the Fall River Iron Works Company, which owned several cotton mills.
It built a gas building and tanks along the north shore on Crab Pond in
1846. Its location was east of Water Street, south of Anawan Street. In
1847 it extended its lines, and began to supply gas to other individuals and
corporations, but the business was not incorporated until March 1867 when
the Manufacturers Gas Company, with John S. Brayton as president and
Charles P. Sticl(ney as treasurer, took over this department from the Iron
Works Corporation. Due to the financial depression of 1879 and the defal-
cation of its treasurer, the corporation was declared insolvent and all its
assets were sold at public auction to the Manufacturers Gaslight Company,
which was incorporated for that purpose. Thomas F. Eddy was president
of the new corporation, and Joseph Baker was its treasurer. It continued
business until April 1897 when its assets were sold to the Fall River Gas
Works Company and the corporation was dissolved.

Meanwhile in 1870 Fall River Iron Works Company had built a plant
for its gas department at the corner of Hartwell and Fifth Streets, and there
it located two gas holders and two round houses. From these reservoirs it

8'The pasteurization of milk was also largely responsible for this record.
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supplied gas to eight nearby mill buildings and to a portion of the southern
section of the city. It owned about six miles of surface pipe and supplied
about three hundred customers.

Meanwhile the Fall River Gas Works Company, which was incorpo-
rated in 1880 and had been gradually increasing its patronage, had come
to serve over three thousand customers and its pipe lines extended for thirty
miles and entirely surrounded those of the Manufacturers Company. In
November of 1896, it voted to purchase the Manufacturers Company and
it has since that date been the sole manufacturer and distributor of gas in
Fall River.

In 1894 Fall River Gas Works Company had its offices and fitting shop
in the Anthony Building at 14 Bedford Street. It soon opened an annex at
15 Granite Street. Ten years later, needing larger quarters, it removed its
offices to the southwest corner of North Main and Bank Streets and upon
the completion of its newly constructed building at 155 North Main Street,
it moved there in 1912. In 1903 it had secured the management of the
Stone & Webster Service Corporation; in 1914 it built a coal gas plant on
Charles Street, though the manufacture of water gas was continued at the
Crab Pond location until 1922. Later, a tank with a capacity of 300,000
cubic feet was built to supplement the two million feet storage tank at the
- Charles Street location. In the same year it discontinued the use of its
storage tanks at Crab Pond and discontinued the manufacture of gas at
that point, but the 750,000 cubic feet storage tank which was erected there
in 1896 is still in service.

Fall River Electric Light Co.

In the year 1883, which was the period shortly after the invention by
Thomas A. Edison of‘ the arc incandescent light, two electric light com-
panies were formed in the city of Fall River, viz: the Fall River Electric
Light Company on March 7, 1883 and the Edison Electric Illuminating
Company of Fall River on October 1st, 1883. John D. Flint was the prime
mover in the organization of the first named company, of which Marsden
J. Perry was president and Henry T. Buffington was treasurer.

This company immediately leased land on Blossom Avenue, and con-
structed a generating station there. It did not then install any motive power
for driving the generators, but purchasec] its power from a saw mill which
was adjacent to the generating station. From the first this company supplied
the City of Fall River with street lighting, and soon it began to serve stores
with electric lights which were connected with the street circuits.
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In 1888 the corporation acquired land on the east side of Hartwell
Street, extending from the street to the shores of the Quequeclian River
and on this land it erected a brick building which housed a new electric plant
and a new boiler house. The facilities of the corporation were not adequate
to supply the demands of the outlying sections of the city, and as the mer-
chants in Flint Village threatened to install their own electric plant if tliey
could not be served by the existing plant, an alternating current machine
was installed in 1894, and in the following year, when a similar sliortage
and demand for service occurred from the southern section of the city, a
similar machine was installed to serve that area.

The Edison Electric Illuminating Company had been organized to
furnish house and store ligliting. Albert T. Dow was its president and
William A. Dwelly, Jr. (wlio subsequently became the treasurer of the
American Woolen Co.) became its treasurer. Its plant, installed under
the Thomas A. Edison patents, was located adjoining the plant of the Fall
River Electric Co. on the easterly side of Hartwell Street, and under its
contract with Thomas A. Edison it was supplied and equipped with 1600
electric liglits of ten candlepower each.

By 1896 the demand made upon both the Fall River Electric Liglit Co.
and the Fdison Electric llluminating Co. became so large and varied that
it was tliouglit wise to merge the companies, and this was done under a
legislative act passed in that year. Frank H. Stevens became president and
Albert T. Dow became treasurer of the merged companies.

By 1905 the capacity of the Hartwell plants had been reached and
before the close of 1906 a large generating plant was completed on Hath-
away Street. Its capacity was then 2500 kilowatts, but it was soon increased
to 14,250 kilowatts, and when several of the Fall River mills decided to
electrify their plants it was necessary, in 1917, to secure an added source of
supply and this was done l)y connecting with the liigli voltage line which
the New England Power Co. had installed between Providence and
Fall River.

By 1922 the demand had grown to such an extent that the capacity of
the Hatllaway Street plant was reached, and the Company installed further
capacity. After considering the possibility of enlarging the Hatliaway
Street station, it was found that the Blackstone Valley Gas & Electric Com-
pany of Pawtucket, R. 1. and the Edison Electric Illuminating Co. of
Brockton, Mass., were in similar circumstances, and tliey joined with the
local company in constructing the Montaup Electric Company’s plant,
which was built in the years 1923 and 1924 under a four-party agreement.
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At this writing, the city is provided with three sources of ‘power, the Mon-
taup Electric Company, New England Power Company line and the
Hathaway Street station. :

The first available meter record shows that in 1895 forty-five meters
had been installed on the company's system. Thus the g’rowth of the meters
is a fair indication of the growth of demand.

In 1895 it was....... 45 meters In1920..... 11481 meters
In 1900............... 1131 meters In 1930............. 34879 meters
In 1910.............. 2388 meters In1940............ 39398 meters

As a further test of efficiency, and incidental to this increase in supply
must be considered the cost of service to customers. The billing for 100
kilowatt hours was as follows: in 1892 $15.00; in 1940, $4.90. The reduc-
tion has been continuous, except cluring the war periocl when rates were
temporarily advanced, due to the increased cost of fuel, labor and supplies.
The growth of Fall River Electric Light Company is coincident with the
development of the city and its electric service has been a very definite factor
in that deveIOpment. It now supplies practically all the energy which is
used for industrial purposes in this territory. '

Plans have been apprbved for a very large increase in the service
capacity of the Montaup Electric Co. during the present summer (1940).

Telegraph and Telephone Companies
In 1853, “The New York and Union Company* took over the Rhode -

Island lines, connecting Providence with Worcester, Bristol, Taunton, Fall
River and New Bedford.” In the Fall River Directory of 1855, an adver-
tisement of this company locates the office in Sec. G, Granite Block with
W.P. Potter as operator. There was also the Newport and Fall River Line
at 17 North Main Street with George W. Dougherty as operator.

Fall River with its cotton and cloth business provided considerable
revenue for telegraph companies and by 1885 there were four companies
cloing business here: The ‘“Baltimore and Ohio”, “Mutual Union”,
“United Lines” and “Western Union”. The Western Union Telegraph
Company was given legal birth in 1857 and by degrees absorbed all com-
petitors in this region with the exception of the Postal Telegraph Company
organized in 1881, which located an office in Fall River in 1888. The
“Mutual Union" had an office here as late as 1889 but from 1890 on, only
the “Western Union” and the ‘“Postal” remained.

+0Old Wires and New Waves” ~ Alvin F. Harlow, p. 245,
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There is evidence that two telephone systems were established in Fall
River in 1879. W. K. Rice, an original “Bell” licensee received a license
to operate an exchange, in July 1879 and he established one in Durfee
Block, on the corner of North Main and Central Streets. The “Western
Union" also entered the telephone field, thus the banks were compelled to
install two telephones, in order to keep in touch with their clients:

John W. Chapman, News Supervisor of the N ew England Teleph.one
and Telegraph Company informs us that the records of that company show
that “Fall River’s telephone exchange was established in 1879 and that
“it appears that at the opening there were approximately one hundred
twelve subscribers and four employees". The Southern Massachusetts
Telephone Company was formed February 17, 1880 and very soon after
combined the two local companies, retaining W. K. Rice as the operator
who was in a short time succeeded hy Charles Sylvester.

The local exchange in the Durfee Block was moved to a building on
Bedford Street in 1890, then in 1895 to a huilding built and owned by the
company on Bank Street. The Southern Massachusetts Telephone Com-
pany became a subsidiary of the New England Telephone and Telegraph
Company in 1900 but continued to operate under its old name until Decem-
ber 31, 1912. The present central office, on the corner of North Main and
Locust Streets was put in full operation when the dial system was estab-
lished October 25, 1941.

The dial system had previously been in use by a competitor, the Fall
River Automatic Telephone Company organized in 1904, with John W.
Coughlin as President and Col. Bradford D. Davol as Treasurer. The
company introduced itself to the public as “the new secret service telephone,
in opposition to monopoly”. From 1904 to 1917 it was necessary for busi-
ness men to install two telephones. The automatic system worked smoothly
and efficiently but lacl(ed the quick connections with the constantly extend-
ing long distance lines of the American Telephone and Telegraph Company
of which the New England Company had become a suhsidiary. The
exchange of the “Automatic Company” was on the south side of Bank
Street near Rock Street. This company and its plant was purchased hy the
New England Telephone and Telegraph Company, November 10, 1916

and ceased operations.



. H_-!HI' T

;-;u-lmmwm,_ o

anur.nr-f Ir oo U] clol
e oS *@m

el |r- MMMMWMH! '

bbb eiloafl daissdlint i apenliol salve rﬁMﬁ!ﬂM ¥

| TR N WP Yo W et N P S €
B " reledd A Yol dhvemers el tord i aee Rl wm-;cﬂi!" ‘mlrhfr,lh
| . ~ , $i !“ Wlla u-\h, |Ir*L'|[ll;|“-']|u wibaw agllhjlﬁ.i N‘l‘o’:p—fq’nl A m‘riir “’T I
HI | l,'n’uu-n- ey 'P’*lk.tnirrnﬂltlb 'ﬁ.‘# l"ﬂh I‘rﬂlﬂll» ﬂl[[ {13 1|'|'F|”IIIL'.1':|If"4I 1
i . _ ) Wuaredis il oinmalfumetd r B i e e P o2 el Moy
a EEREET] Tt mecy m: beniins l:“"'-"' Rl [T (A (g M. lnu ‘mm;nm,_l svallegie L
ol g ..-.Q. &k ayide ﬂ ” e LRt bter L M II"'I h‘l n'.\l < kil JI\‘UH!"HH

'il . - ..' Sy Ul‘H"."" [ A TN | Ldﬂh,;u,,} sl TR Rl ooy wsiiodoy

= _ 3 -u":\"ﬁl‘-“‘lndl ‘l" a.l.ﬂ.nlhlllmm -,!' -’&vui DIEmS -, lr il

- calt ol bsabia hondhud gndidusdid Tl .Mlal b e £ i B

e anh |||I||‘q'nh-tr u.ﬂ:rl 'Ijr‘uulll]meamdﬂaﬂ E'J R
_lo:‘—-—l I Lﬂ"" ’1“ouvll'1‘-[ F Hnnlh.ﬂ ﬂ'-ll ‘llh ‘l) nllll |-1’ gL AR m] Yy

iy ap Wvild Ll A 41 i s -’_.1” i O '-‘Nn'*‘ﬂni "Mrl'“' i 'll'."fll

=

| 4| b alhi Y Ky i Sads ' 'f[ Lf e o ™ £ SR U IL :

0D -I.;I- Ed e 'r'.'l_ ! n’ oA DDy | 1% T g o T

- e 210 5 N -‘{"”‘\nq

i Ardesryannn 1 1yl gy fl__'I.'.':.:'lljl.'l‘v_.-r.; Liaioh geine v sl Bad d
A medvd, diiwe B0 P b dutmmgrn iyt snd i ! Sipnmita/V ke
|l.,, vl | 3 i\;?q-"_ai P PRPRR TR 5 ‘l— J IR Ee B By ) YSRR O SUPE USSR | TN
i i | a wl damwrin W jll silh s wal il vy =abd L bw Lol SRRl 2Lt
u i ml | S— bt e 00, 5 U st A0 Fanor T sltngumlsine o itatin wtp

-_i ]R.Hru- Ysaben sty A A Tae TR g [l SN L SINTRNTR | P g e
~trmdiind 'n.'lrrﬂ.lm)n ke |"|'|w LI B ] ;,l'llu;; n“_.l Lﬂ _j‘_n_\[ il 1|||_,|\|:|I]¢‘J 1)
'i"'vnw—:)dﬂf‘ﬂ“ﬁl fh_.,r,‘. et '-|n'all bernds "I;'-‘.‘Z' O mi l-:l'» % I1m!r"..1
' L .ll._Itlul-ll.lu PILT TRECR (] STV SRS T RS SR I A bty
e 1 - .'. J’“ ...'.,h Jﬁ’lﬁ Ilh mi l'!;l‘! dIIII JI"‘\I'} nl,-uul_ll‘i‘l «niI' h .u_uJ 1
1 ' -1 'bww*‘l ‘nh-"T 8 | '-INI | Pors) Prvwed. &*T demdtl Bia™ by
sl Jl ‘-d_-uulﬁwwr-l Ju. .mﬂ.-l-nl Basmsdibic T 3obe ) b 'm:J o

™ i - Pl ] e »‘;lrljuu ||




Pl s
Ve A3k
Sy SRLET
= ==
i 1 .

y

v
e il
A .

¢ T

gt

A il

L]

b

. u
Al

=
I, Mea e +

S L—1-|-r
A P,y
it

I
Y J_Jllln :I;
- "".1_'” Iy,

1l -

'_" ik [ &
. 4

Jn

i

i ray
1!

|“¢ﬂ-r'.:'

' Bl .
{

Myt tegm vl
Higm Sihpdd, g,

v il Mmool 95

Jocel, Wi,
E-‘_L““-"r-lv
Wi 15 "






ABBOTT, WILLIAM E,, 95
Academies, 35, 48-49
Acoaxet, 156

Adams Bookstore, 161
Adams, Edward S. % 41, 96
Adams, Robert, 161

Adams, Rev. w. W, 13-14
Albert, James B., 183
Alcock, Mabel, 69-70
Aldrich, Charles, 75, 78
Aldrich, Mary L., 83

Alfred S. Letourneau School,

69
Algonquin Printing Com-
pany, 135, 188, 140, 152-

Allen Arthur W,, 107

Allen, Rev. Ralph W,, 20

Allen, Rodolphus N., Y 14

Almy, Franklin L., 172

Almy, Franklin S., 172

Almy, Thomas, 171-172

Alumni Field, 87

American Cotton Fabric
Company, 130-131I

American Cotton Manufac-
turing Company, 147

American Linen Company,
108, 122, 126, 135, 143

American Print Works, 11,
26-27, 135, 138, 142-143,
150, 167

American Thread Company,
131, 135

Anawan Mills, 122, 125, 132,
135, 144

Anawan Street, 13, 15, 23,
25, 51, 53, 161, 163, 175,
177, 187

Ancona Mills, 127, 132, 135

Anthony, Byron W,, 108

Anthony, David, 106, 118-
119, 125-126

Anthony, Edward Lovell,
108-109, 129

Apollonian Hall, 52

Arkwright Mills, 128, 132,

135
Arnold, Rev. Henry, 23
“Asbestos Row”, 161
Ashley, Stephen B., 130
Ashworth Brothers, 166
Athearn, Roy C., 100
Atheneum, The, 91-92
Avery, Joseph, 4

BAILEY, JOSEPH W., g1

Baker, Joseph A., 128, 18%

Ballard, Mrs. Charles M., 60

Ballaéd Mrs. George A., 92,

[}

Banks and Bankmg, 105-116

Bank ‘“Panic”, 109

Bank Street, 10, 13, 20, 38,
89, 97, 106-107, 161, 184,

191

Barbary Hill, 57

Bardol, Edward A., 155
Barker, Edward, 132

INDEX

Barlow, John, 114

Barlow, Wilfrid A,, 71

Barnzby House, 100

Barnaby Manufacturing
Company, 130, 133, 135

Barnard, Louis L., 127, 129

Barnard’ Manufacturing
Company, 129, 135, 138

Barney, Edward E., 169

Bassett, Charles A., 111

Batchelder, JohnC 106 116

Bates, Mary J. S,

Bates William C., 65-66

Baylies, Stella, 76

“Bay State, The”, 41

Bay State Print Works, 20,
142

Bay State Steamboat Com-
pany, 176

Bean, Charles E., 129

Bears’ Den, 8%

Beattie, John, 159

Beattie, William, 159

Beckett, Anna L., 70

Bedard, Rev. Pierre, 31, 33

Bedford Street, 14, 37, 39,
62,110, 113-116, 159, 165,
168-170, 175-176, 185-

Bedfor’d Street School, 59, 61,

Behsle, Hector L., 67

Bell Rock Road, "60

Bemis, Frederick E., 106

Benson, Horace A., 76

Berean Temple, 39

Berkshire Fine Spinning As-
sociates, 128, 131

Bertenshaw, Edward W., 113

Bigelow, Guilford, 75

Blake’s Hotel, 53

Bleacherics, 129-130, 133,
135

Blessed Sacrament School, 35

Bliss, Genevieve H., 76

Bliss, George N., 82

Blossom’s Road, 60

Board of Finance, 70

Board of Health, 65, 69

Bodge, John P., 32

Bogle Hill, 60

Bogle, Peter, 60

Boomer, Caroline, 20

Boomer, Nathaniel, g, 82

Borden, Andrew, 108, 167

Borden, Andrew J., 108, 112

Borden, Ariadne J., 59, 76

Borden Block, 116, 161, 162

Borden, Charles F., 163 -

Borden, Chester D., 167

Borden, Cook, 39

Borden, Eric, 114-115

Borden, Francis S., 171

Borden, Frank H., 116

Borden, George H., 116

Borden, Holder, 120, 125

Borden, Isaac, 128

Borden, Jefferson, 116, 120,
125, 129

195
Borden, Jerome C,, xm-ug,
160 .
Borden, }ob
Borden,

oseph, 11 g
Borden, Lazarus, 162

Borden, Leander, 115
Borden, Mary A., 76
Borden, Matthew C. D,, 15
Borden, Nathaniel B,, 52, 129
Borden, Parker, 61-62
Borden, Peleg, 84
Borden, Philip D.,
126, 171
Borden and Remington Com-
pany, 163
Borden, Col. Richard, 100, .
106, 120-122, 127
Borden, Mrs. Richard, 14-15
Borden, Richard B., g5, 97,
127-128
Borden, Seth A,, 131
Borden, Simeon, 171
Borden, Spencer, 113, 129
Borden, Stephen, 117
Borden, Sydney H., 114
Borden, Thomas, 51, 117,

79, 108,

Borden School, 66, 76

Borden Street, 9, 19, 25, 39,
54, 162

Border City Manufacturing
Company, 109, 129, 135,
143, 1

Border Clty School, 61, 71

Boston, Newport and New
Yé)rk Steamboat Company,
180

Boundary Disputes, 12, 30,
58, 111

Bourne, Jonathan, 130

Bourne Mills, 130, 133, 135

Bowen, Abraham, Sr., 100,
119, 125, 175

Bowen, Joseph A., 82, 132,
164

Bowen, Joseph H.,

Bowen Street School 63, 69

Bowen, Sarah V., 164 :

Bowen, T. Whitney, 130

Bowenville Station, 177, 183-

184

Bowker, J. H., 184

Boyer, Harry, 8o

Boys’ Clubs: of Fall Rlver,
14-15, 23, 95, National As-
sociation of, 15

Brackett, William H., 115

Bradford Durfee Textile
School, 41, 67, go-91

Bradford Matthew Chaloner
Durfee Athletic Associa-
tion, 85, 87

Bradford Matthew Chaloner
Durfee High School, 41,
83-87

Bradley, Rev. Francis J., 32

Brady, John, 62

Braley, Anna W., 77, 88

Braley, Henry K., 103
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Braley, William E., 65

Brawley, Ann W, 59

Brayton Avenue School, 76

Brayton, David Anthony Jr.,
108

Brayton, Elizabeth H., 100

Brayton, Hezekiah A., 108,
129

Brayton, Israel, 88, 96, 129

Brayton, Mrs. Jessie Flint,

9

Brayton, Hon. John Summer-
field, 21, 107-109

Brayton, John Summerfield
Jr., 107-108

Brayton, John Summerfield
Third, 107-108

Brayton, Sarah S., 14, 82, go

Brayton, Thomas Edward,
108, 126, 140, 167

Brayton, W. L. S, 129

Brett, Silas, 4-5

Bric, Father William, 31

Bridge Mill, 125

Bridgewater, 14, 118

Briggs, Rev. G. W,, 25

Brightman, F. W., 184

Brightman, Lydia M., 59

Brightman Street, 37, 99, 101

Bristol County Teachers As-
sociation, 71

“Bristol, The”, 180

Broadway School, 70

Bronson, Rev. Asa, 10, 25

Bronson, George W., 59-60,
76, 82-83

Brown, E. S., 26

Brown, Rev. John, g0

Brown, John, of Rehoboth,
607

Brown, M. Richard, 114,
131-133

Brown, Samuel M., 185

Brown, Samuel W., 113

Brownell, Jonathan, g

Brownell Street, 9, 12, 62, 97

Buck, Rev. Edward A, 14-15,

108
Buffam, Arnold, 52
Buffinton, Benjamin, 82
Buffinton, Edmund P., 100
Buffinton, Frank, 167
Buffinton, Henry T., 113, 188
Buffinton, Israel, 16, 53
Buffinton, Mary E., 167
Buffinton, N. M., 58
Buffinton, Oliver, 167
Buffinton Street School, 63,

70
Buffinton, William H., 167
Bump, Donald H., 169
Bumpus, Samuel F., g5
Burchard, Leeds, 111
Burdick, Charles, 165
Burial Grounds, 4, 10, 29,
38, gg-101 .
Burgess, I. C., 171
Burke, James A., Jr., 133
Burke, James S., 129, 171

INDEX

Burrell, Robert C. B., 17

Burrows, Amos, 9

Bury, Clarence E., 172

Bury, Margaret T., 76

Bus and Car Lines in Fall
River, 168, 183-184

Butler, Rev. S. Wright, 23

CAMBRIDGE STREET
SCHOOL, 63, 66, go
Carpenter, Frank L., 132
Carr, Annie M., eg
Carroll, Charles V., g1
Carroll, Edmund V., g1
Cassidy, Rev. James E, (Bish-
op Cassidy), 32
Caswell, William, 49
Cataract Engine House, 79
Caéaract Fire Company, 6o,
2
Catholic Memorial Home, 33
Catholic Schools in Fall
River, 31-35
Cavannaugh, Lillian, 49
Central Street, 19, 52, 106,
120, 160, 163, 176-177
Chacg, Augustus, 112, 121,
12
Chace, Edmund, 130, 160
Chace, Fenner A., 130
Chace, George A., 130
Chace, Leonard S., 133
Chace, Obediah, 130
Chace, Oliver, 53, 106, 115-
119, 125, 130, 143, 153
Chace, Richard B., 133
Chace, S. Angier, 109, 116,
126, 129
Chace Thread Mills, 128,
135, 143-144
Chace School, 63, 71
Chapin, Bryant, 79
Chapin, Daniel A, 115
Chapin, David J., 112

Charlton, Earl Perry, 1 55-

157
Charlton Mills, 135, 157
Chase, Charles B., 131
Chase, Simeon Borden, 16,
95, 116, 128, 130-131, 140
Cherry Street, 27, 88, 52, 83
Chew, Thomas, 14-15
Child Labor, 52, 61, 66, 71,
77-78, 80, go
Church History of Fall River,

3-40

Chufches maintained by the
factories, 20-21, by the
Town, 3-4, 8

City Hall, 92, 111-112, 114~
115, 149 :

City Home, 98

Civic Club, 66

Civil War, 11, 14, 39, 48, 60,
95, 137, 179 ‘

Clark’s Omnibus Line, 183

Coburn, Mrs. E. J., 76

Coggeshall, Asa, 133

Cole, Edwin J., 110

Cole, Nanc{, 59
Collins, William T,, 77
Columbia Street School, 59,

v1
Columbian Hall, 31
“Commonwealth, aI‘he,” 181
Conanicut Mills, 130, 135,
152-153

Congdon and Carpenter, 168
Connecticut Campany, 130
Connell, Charles W., 83
Connell, William Jr., 58, 62,

6
Coo‘f(, Benjamin S., 76
Cook Borden Co., 160
Cook, Candace, 75-76
Cook, Charles B., 116
Cook, Everett M., 108
Cook, Henry Clay, 82
Cook Pond, alias Laurel Lake,
133, 138, 151-153
Cook, Silas, 133
Coolidge, Frank P., 113
Coombs, Leslie B., 91
Cornell Mills, 131, 135
Corry, Father John, g0
Cortereal, Miguel, 29
Cote, Edmund, 114
Cotton Mills, their rise and
decline, 137, 140
Cotton Mill Statistics, 126-

135

Coughlin School, 65

County Jail, 98

Court Square, 37, 172

Covell, A, S., 128

Covell, Benjamin, 112, 128

Covell Street School, 63, 71

Crab Pond, 121, 150, 187
188

Cradle of Liberty, 52

Crescent Mills, 21

Crystal Springs, 4

Crowther, Herbert S., 156

Cummings, John W, 103

Custom House, 63, 175

DAHILL, LAURA K, 80

Dancing School, 53

Darling, Seth, 1o

Dassance, William A., 164

Davenport School, 61, 71,
76,83

David Morrison, 170

Davis, B. H., 39

Davis and Fish Market, 106

Davis, Hannah R., 76

Davis, James, 16, 53, 57

Davis Memorial Fund, g2

Davis and McLane Manu-
facturing Company, 162

Davis Mills, 132, 135

Davis Prize Fund, 64

Davis, Mrs. Robert C., 64, 92

Davis, Dr, Robert T., 64, 92

Davis, Squire, 144

Davis Street School, 61-62,

64
Davol, Abner P., 113



Davol, Benjamin, 159
Davol, Bradford f)., 114,125
Davol, Charles D. , 151
Davol Clara F,
Davol Helen M’ B., 59
Davol John, 10
Davol’ Mills, 127, 135
Davol Pond, 49
Davol School, 65
Davol Street, 143, 160
Davol, Stephen, 125
Davol, William C., 127
Day Nurseries, 32, 35
Deady, Father Louis, 31
Dean, William W., 39
Dearden, James D., 116
Defalcations seriously affect-
ing the industries of Fall
River, 109-110
Delaney, Edward J., 172
Dennis, Alexander, 79-80
Derbysiure, Arthur R., 106
Desjardins, George T., , 80
Dexter, Hema . 27
Dillingham, C.,
Diman, Rev. John B 89
Diman Vocational School 89
District School System, 51,
55, 58-59, 73-74
D. and O. B. Wetherell 162
“Doctor s Mill”; 143
Dodge, Fred O., 113
Donovan, Rev. Charles A,
32-33
Dooley, W. H,, 85
Dougherty, George W, 190
Douglas, Oscar F., 156
Dow, Albert T., 18ﬁ
Doyle, Father Patrick, g1
Duffy, James F., 170
Dunning, Robert S., 79
Durfee, Bradford, 83,90,107,
120, 122, 125, 127, 159
Durfee, Bradford Matthew
Chaloner, 83, 107
Durfee, Charles Hazard, 113
Durfee, Everett B., 66-67, 83,
87, 91
Durfee, George, 133
Durfee, George N., 103, 113
Durfee, Col. Joseph, 117-118
Durfee, Matthew C., 106
Durfee Mills, 127, 135, 144
Durfee, Nathan, 112, 143
Durfee, Dr. Nathan, 110, 163
Durfee, Oscar, 183
Durfee, Richard, 12
Durfee, Robert, 49
Durfee, Thomas, 52, 117
Dwelly, Frank H., 126
Dwelly, William A., 189
Dyer, D. Hartwell, 127

EAGLE MILL, 121, 133

Farle’s Bookstore, 161, 167

Earle, Newton, 82

Earle, Pliny, 53

Ea.steén Avenue, 60, 66, g8,
17

INDEX -

Easton, A. Dorrance, 138

Easton, Norman

Fast of Pond Scflool gg

Eddys, George H., 106, 113,
12

‘ Eddy, James C., 121

Eddy, Jesse, 10, 82, 114, 121
Eddy, Job, 125
Eddy, John, 10

. Eddy, Joseph, 119, 121

Eddy, Thomas F., 121, 187
Edison Electric Illuminating
Company, 188-189

- Education, early, 43-50, later,

51-81, see Schools
Electric. Frelght Railroad, 185
Electric Lighting in Fall

River, 188-18g-190
Elliot, J. S., 52
Elm Street, 13, 26
Elsbree, Harriet E., 59
“Empire State, The”, 179
Engravers, 170
Enterprise Line, 183
Esperito Santo School, 35
Estes, J. Edmund, 132
Estes, John H., 113, 132
Estes Mills, 132-133, 135,

144
Etzkorn, Leo R., 92
‘“Eudora, The”, 179
Evans, William, g1

FACTORIES AND MILLS,

See under name of each
mill and factory.

Fall River: Barber’s Print of
Fall River, 24, boundary
line changed in 1861, 51,
111, Diocese of Fall River

created, 32, included in -

Bristol County, 30, incor-
porated, 13, 51, 58, in
Rhode Island, 21, 30, 58,
63-64, 75, 111, 137, 175,
name changed from Troy
to Fall River, 10, surveys
and maps of the city, 171,
a village, 9, 25, 54, 57, 106
Fall River Atheneum, 91-92
Fall River Children’s Home,

96

Fall River Gas Works Com-
pany,. 126, 187-188

Fall River Historical Society,

39, 100

Fall River Iron Works Com-
pany, 117, 120-122, 138,
150, 176, 187

Fall River Line, The, 18-
183

Fall River Lyceum, 39

Fall River Machine Shop,

12

Fall River Manufactory, 119,
122-125

Fall Rlver Merino Company,
129

197

Fall River Oil and Guano
Company, 168

Fall vaer P011Ce Commis-
sion, 1

Fall Rwer and Providence
Steamship Company, 126

Fall River Railroad, 176-17%

Fall River Steam and 'Gas
Pipe Company, 165

Fall River’é; Teachsers’ Asso-
ciation, 64, 71, 84

Falls, The, 117

“Fanny C. Bowen, The”, 4
masted schooner, 164

Farms mentioned, Bowen, 52,
100, Bradford Bennett,
100, Brightman, 52,
Jencks, 6o, Rodman, 61,

98
Farwell, Joseph, 165
Faulkner, Vernon L., 128
Faunce, Chester H., 156
Feehan, Rev, Daniel F.
(Bishop Feehan), 32
Fenner, Henry M., 93
Fenner, Henry S., 127
Ferguson, John R., 6%, 76-
77
Ferry Street, 121, 163, 177

‘Ferry Street Ferry, 177

Ferry Street Station, 177

Field, Herbert, 169

Fighting Rock, 60

Fires: in 1843, 13, 19, 39, 51,
54-55, 93, 106, 119, 122,
161, in 1886, 54, 63, 92,
in 1916, 20, in 1928, 38,
86,108, 111,112-113,114,
116, 160, 164-165, 170-

171
Fires in the Mllls, 141-144
Fireman’s Hall, 23, 54
Firestone Cotton Mills, 131
Firestone Tire and Rubber
Comgany, 140
Fish, Abby, 88
Flsh Daniel M., 75
Fish, Henry H., 106
Fish, Herbert, 79
Fiske, George R., 106
Fiske, Samuel E., 173
Fletcher, Rev. Elijah T., 20
Flint District, 33
Flint’s Exchange, 92
Flint, John D., 21, 128, 131,
188
Flint Mills, 128, 135, 143
Flmat Village, 92, 170, 183,
1
Fogwell Bertha E., 76
Fogwell, Jerome P 77
Foote, Richard, 1 31
Ford, James, 10, 106, 111
Forest Hills Garden, 184
Fosté:r Hooper School, 64, 66,

7
Foster Spinning Company,

133
Fourth Street School, 59
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Fowler’s “History of Fall
- River”, 23, 30, 39, 98
Fowler, Rev, Orin, 1 g, 30
Fowler School, 65, 76, 88
Francis, Thomas A., 59
Franklin, John H., 170
Franklin Street, 16, 26, 40,
53, 60, 79, 81, 91, 96, 115,

170

Freelove, Joseph, 183

Freemans’ Purchase, 4, 100,
151

Freetown, 3-5, 9, 49-50, 100,
168 -

French, Enoch, 10

French’s Hill, 166

French, Dr. Ralph W, 197

Fuel Shortage, 68

Fulling Mills, 117, 119

Fulton Street School, 70

GARDNER, ELIZABETH

M., 59

Gardner, Orrin A., 76

Gardner, Sarah, 5g

Gas House on Crab Pond,
187

Gee, Frederick A., 80 )

General Cotton Supply Cor-
poration, 127, 132

George B. Stone School, 65,
82

Gifford, Adam W., 112

Gifford, Ellis, 87 .

Gifford, Ferdinand H., 10

Gifford, Paul E., 130

Gilbert, Orin P., 75

Gilligan, Joseph P., go

Ginsberg, David, . 131

Gingham Mill, 130

Globe Corners, 152

Globe Manufactory, 118

Globe Pond, 152-153

Globe Print Works, 118

Globe Street, 21-22, 37, 65,
82, 118, 143

Globe Village School, 59-60

Globe Yarn Mill, 130, 135,
166 .

Goff, Charles B., 59, 82

Goff, Robert 8., 184 .

Gorden, William R., 59, 75

Goss, Daniel, 52

Grand Army of the Repub-
lic, 60, 113

Granite, 26, 30

Granite Block, 108, 159, 164~
165, 190

Granite Industry, 159-160

Granite Mills, 126, 138

Granite Street, 188

Grant, Rev. Elihu, 21, 58

Grant,; Rev. Percy 8., 26, 95

Gray, Edward, 76 .

Green School House, 53

Green Street, 97

Greene, Chester W, 39

Greene, William S., 103

INDEX

Greenleaf, Rev. ‘Patrick H.,
25
Grime, Mayor George, g8,

103
~ Grist Mills, 117, 119-120,

133, 135

Grouard, John E., 39

HADFIELD, SAMUEL, 113

Hale Remington and Coms-
pany, 163

Hall, Milton, 76

Hammett, Elizabeth S., 88

Hardy, Rev. Richard, go

Hargraves, John W,; 131

. Hargraves Mill, 131-135

Hargraves, Reuben, 131
Harrington, Philip, 57
Harris, Hawes and Company,
120
Harrison, Albert A., 163-164
Harrison, William C.,, 113
Hart, Abraham G., 112
Hart, Mrs. Abraham G., g6
Hart, James P., 112
Hart, William A., 76-77
Hartley, Richard C. B., 166
Hartwell Street, 89, 126, 187,
189
Harwood, A. B., 75
Hathaway, Edward E., 115
Hathaway, George T., 109,
129

* Hathaway, Guilford H., 106

Hathaway, James A., 129

Hathaway, Samuel,.115

Haughwout, Rev. Peter B,
11, 14

Hawes, Edward, 119

Hawes, Oliver 8., 106, 119

Hawes, William M., 182

Hawkins, Cornelius 8., 111

Hawkins and Fish, 110

Haworth, Thomas, 163

Hcg.d of the Pond School, 59-
o

Healy, Joseph, 115, 128

Hearse House, ?9

Hebsrew Home for the Aged,

. 9
Hendrickson, C. E., 108

Henry Lord Grammar
School, 69, 77

Henry Lord Junior High
School, 67, 71

Henry, Harriet E., 83

Henry, William T\, 79.

Henry Waring and Son, 171

Herbert, Edward, 183

Herdics, 183

Hermitage Home, 48

. Eerrick, Dr. E. C., 11

Hervey, Fred L., 110
Hewitt, Herbert H., 168
Hewitt, Louise, 168

Highland Avenue, 20, 33, 96,
9 .
Hig?nland School, 65, 69, 76

High School: Cadets, 83
High Street GrammarSchool,
59, 64-65, 75,81

‘Higney, Arthur B. '76;77

Higney, Elizabeth T, 77
Hill, Lucy C., 82

Hills, George H., 131
Hines, Rev. Bro, J. V., 22
Hinsdale, F. Gilbert, 131 -
Holmes, Charles. J., 112
Holmes, Charles L., 112
Holmes, Mary L., 67

Holt, John H. 1%2‘

Holy Cross Scfnoo 5 35
Home for the Aged, 33, g6
Hood, Francis B., 129
Hopewell, William, g1

. Horsecars, 168, 183

Hospitals, 97
Houghton, Richard, 26
Howard-Arthur Company,

~

131
Howard, Robert M., 70-71
Howard, William F.; 110
Howe, Grace Hartley, 176

. Hoyt, Annie L., 65
‘Hughes, Rev. Christopher,

31-32
Hugo A. Dubuque School, 66
Hulmes, Capt. and Mrs/ 37
Hurley, Margaret T., 64
Hurricane of 1938, 187
Hutghinson, Raymond L.,
102
Hutchinson, William J., 162
Hyde, Samuel, 163

INDIANS, 5, 8, 12, 159

Indiantown, 5

Indlekofer, John N., 85

Industrial Depression, 70

Industrial  Fall River, Th
rise of, 117-123 :

-Influenza Epidemic, 85

Iron Fences, 19 .
Iron Works, see Fall River
Iron Wort(s

JACKSON, AMOS J., 146
Jackson, Dr. A, M., 63, g0
Jackson, James F., 103
Jackson, Mrs. O. H., 100
James L. Aldrich School, 65
James Madison Morton Jun-
ior High School, 69, 75, 77
J. C. Westgate and Son, 162
J. and J. Eddy Satinet Fac-
tory, 119, 121, 125
Jencks, Prot, J. W. D, 49
Jencks, Robert R., 132
Jennings, Edward B., 130
Jennings, William H., 82,
130, 132, 184
Jerome Dwelly School, 69
J. H. Franklin Company, 170
John J. Doran Post Veterans
of Foreign Wars, 56
John J. Doran School, 69
Johg P. Slade and Company,
165



Joseph A. Bowen Company,
164
}oy Lme, The, 181

une Street School, 5, 76, 82, .

3
Juvenile Delinquency, 8o
KELLIHER, THOMAS C,,

8o
Kelly, Cornelius C., 172
Kelly, Father John, 31
Kelly, Roy W,, 85
Kerns, John A., 76
Kerr, John P., 131
Kerr, Robert C., 131
Kerr Thread Company, 131,

138
Keyes, Ella, 88
Kilburn and Lincoln, 42
Kimball, Miss L. A., 64-65
King Philip Mills, 128, 135,

140
King Philip’s War, 8
Kingsley, Rufus B., 185

LABOR DISPUTES, 32,
114, 145-148, 179
Labor Unions, 144-148
Ladd, Helen L., 71
Lambert William H., 82-84
Langley, Henry J., 144
Lapham, Louis, 57, 171
Lathrop, George O., 114
Laurel Lake, see Cook Pond
Laurel Lake Mills, 125, 130,

135

Laurel Lake School, 69, 71

Learned, Dr. W. T., 108

Leighton, Robert T., 84

Leontine Lincoln School, 75

Lewis Brothers Mill, 152

Liberty Hall, 20

Lincoln, Henry C., 130

Lincoln and Hood, 114

Lincoln, Leontine, 41-42, 90,
91

Lincoln Manufacturing Com-
pany, 130-132, 135

Lincoln School, 63, 66, 75,
85-86

Linden Street School, 63, 71

Lindsey, Crawford E., 128,

130
Lindsey, Joseph F., 111
Lindsey Street School, 61,

71,75
Lindsey’s Wharf, 160
Lindsey, William, 116
Liquor restrictions, 13, 32,
163
Little Compton, 185
Livermore, David P., 39
Livermore, Mary A., 39-40
Livery Stables, 183
Locke, George W., 59, 64,
75-76
Locust Street, 53, 182, 191
Longfellow, Henry Wads-
worth, 93

INDEX

Loggfellow, Rev, Samuel, a5,

Loom Harness Factory, 144

Lord, Isaiah, 80

Lothrop, Howard, 99

Lovell, Laura, 53

Lovell, Martha, 53

Lovell, Shubael P., 127

Logver New Boston School,

9, 74

Luther Manufacturmg Coms-
pany, 126, 132, 135

Lyceum, The, 39

Lyman, Rev. Payson W,, 13

Lynch, Margaret, 67

Lynde, Samuel, 100

Lynde, Slmeon, 100

Lyon, George G., 75

MQCKENZIE, JOHN M.,

3

MacQuestion, Rev. Rock-
weed, 40

Macy, Alexander B., 166

Main Road School, 59

Maloney, Leah N,, 100

Manufacturers Association,
148 )

Manufacturers Gas Com-
pany, 187

Maple Street Grammar
SChOOI) 27, 59, 64; 66: 75-
76, 82

Marble, Albion, 79

Marble, Herbert C., 132

Market Square, 114, 183

Market Street, 112, 116, 170

Marshall’s Hat Factory, 152

Martha’s Vineyard, 177

Martin, Rev. William J., 24

“Mary W. Bowen”, 5 masted
schooner, 164

Mason, Arthur H., 131-132

Mason, Rev. A. P,, 10-11

Mason, Edward, 19

Mason, Perez, 19

Mason, Samson, 11

Masonic Hall, 40

Masonic Temple, 13

“Massachusetts, The”, 179

Massachusetts Teachers Re-
tirement System, 67

Massasoit, 8

Massasoit Cotton Mill, 143

‘Massasoit Manufacturing

Corporation, 130, 135
Massasoit Steam Mill, 122,
130
McClaren, Rev. Wilbur, 24
McCreery, Charles J., 71, 76
Mcl';arland, Laughlin W.,
161
McGuire, Thomas C., 110
MclIntosh, Mr. and Mrs., 23
McLane, Walter E., 110
McLeod, Willard A., 131
Mechanics Mill, 127, 135
Mellen, Georgc, 183
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Merchants Manufacturing
Company, 127-128, 135,
144-145, 167

Mertie, W. ., 76

Metacomet Mills, 122, 125,
150, 162

“Metropolis, The”, 180

Middleborough, 48

Miller, Frank H., 79

Miller, Hannah C., 59

Miller, Henry, 69, 71, 77

Mills, see Factories

Milne, Alexander, 31

Milne, Frank A., 80

Milne, John C., 26, g5, 171~

172

Milne, Joseph D., 172

Mingo, John, 159

Monsignor Prevost High
School, 33, 35

Montaup Mxlls, 128

Moody and Sanky, 11

Morgan Street School, 61,
75-76, 90

Morgan’s Wharf, 164

Morse, Mrs. S. H., 64

Morton, James M. Sr., 108

Morton, James M. Jr., 103,
‘108

Morton and Jennings, 165

Morton, Mary E., 59

Mother's Brook, 5, 13, 100

M%unt Hope Avenue School,

Mount Hope Bay, 149,
frozen over, 180
Mount Hope Block, 110, 115
Mount Hope Mills, 127
Mount Hope Village, 63
Mount6 Hope Vlllagc School,
59,
Mowry, Hannah D., 83
Mugan, Mary A. S. 67, 70
Murphy,'Rcv. E., 30
Murphy, James D., 80
Music Hall, 26, 61, 87, o1
Myer, Rev. Mr., 53
Myles, John, 11, 46, 607
Myricks, 176-177

N. B. BORDEN SCHOOL,
61, 75,76, 90

Nankin Mill, 119

Narragansett Bay, 29-30

Narragansett Mills, 128, 135

Nargagansctt Steamship Line,
180

Narrows, The, 9, 184

National Hall Bulldmg, 61

Negroes, 13, 17, 21-22

Negus, Ruth, 68-6g

Neptune Steamship Line, 180

chg Bedford, 108, 119, 177,
165

New Bedford Cotton Yarn
Co., 131

New Boston Road, 183

New England Power Com-
pany, 189
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New England Steamship .
Company, lg'l;

New Pocasset Mill, 119,

Newport, 29-30, 49, 177-178,
180-181, 184

“Newport, The”, 180

Newspapers, 171-173

New York, New Haven and
Hartford R. R., 177, 182

Niagara Engine House, 54

Niantic Thread Mill, 142

Nichols, Henry W., g1 -

Nichols, Lafayette, 128

Nichols, Wilbur, Jr., 59 -

Nichols, William, 76

Normal Girls School, Bridge-
water, 75 . :

Normal Training School, in
Fall River, 88, in Fram-
ingham, 55, in Lexington,
55, in New Bedford, 88, in
West Newton, 55

Norse Visits and Coloniza-
tion, 29

North District School, 59

North Fall River School, 38,

70 .

North Main Street, g-10, 13,
16, 21, 24, 52, 06, 92, 95,
g9-101, 106-107%, 110, 161,
184-185, 187-188

Notre Dame School, 35

O. B. WETHERELL AND
SON COMPANY,161-162

Ocean Fire Company, 92

O’Hara, Walter, 133

O’Keefe, A. L., 169

Old8 Colony Railroad, 177,
180 .

Old Colony Steam Boat
Company, 109, 180

Opera House, 37, 113

Orr, Hon, Hugh, 118

Osborn, James E,, 131, 148

Osborn Mills, 128, 135, 144

Osborn Street School, 59, 65,
75, 76, 88

Osborn, Weaver, 115, 128

PAGE, REV. HERMAN, 26
Paine, Walter, grd, 126
Palmer, A. S., 80
Palmer, Frank L., 130
Parker Mills, 131, 135
Parker, William H., 131
Parks and Playgrounds, 98-
99, 184 )
Peacock, Rev. Luther Knox,

24 .
Pearce, B. W., 171
Pearson, James B., 82
Pease, Charles, 53
Peck, Howard B., 95 *
Peet, Josiah, 48
Peloquin, Pierre F., 114
Pentecost, the Evangelist, 11
Pepperell Manufacturing

ompany, 126

] Perkins, Ralph C., 132

Perry, Anthony, 110

Perry, Marsden J., 188

Perry, W. S,, 62

Phillips, Arthur 8., 90, 114

Pickup, Herbert W, 85 i

Pierce, George B., 162

Pierce, Maj. Levi, 48

“Pilgrim, The”, 180-181

Pilgrim Mills, 132, 135

Pine Street, 11, 88, 53, 92,
95-96

Pine Street School, 61

Pitman, Charles, 175

Playgrounds, 98-99

Pleasant Street, 15, 23, 53-
54, 60, 65, 116, 165, 170,
175 =

Pleasant Street School, 61

Plummer, Frederick W,, 85

Plymouth Colony, 3, 5-7, °
150-151 - '
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Pocasset Factory, 54, 119~
120, 122, 129, 135, 144

Pocasset Hall, 14, 25

Pocasset House, 26

Pocasset Purchase, 117, 151

Pocasset Street, 15, 110, 161,
168, 176 -

Polish National Home, 96

Poole, Williard H., 85

Poor Farm, g7

Pope, George F., 83, 86

Porter, Asa R., 179

Post Office, 159, 175-176

Potter, W, P,, 190 .

Pratt, Ethel M.; 170

Pratt, Joseph W,, 170

Prevost School, 35

“Priscilla, The”, 181

Proprietors Way, 52

Prospect Street School, 59

Prosser, William A., 110

Providence, 17, 31-32, 118,
121, 184-185

“Providence, The”, 180-181

Providence and Fall River
Railway, 177

Public Library, 41, 83, 91-92

Purchase Street, 26, 100, 113

“Pué‘itan, The”, a steamer,
181

Puritan Hall, 173

QUAKERS, SEE CHURCH
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Shove, Charles M., 126, 132

Shove, Charles O., 126 129

Shove Mills, 129, 132, 133

Shove, Samuel, 121

Silvia, Frank M., 110

Simmons, Captain A. G., 181
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Staﬂ‘%rd Road, 101, 133, 183,
18
Stage Lines, 185
Stang, Bishop William, 32
Staples Coal Company, 153

- 201

State Board of Lunacy and
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Thurston; Rev. Eli, 14
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